

LUND UNIVERSITY

Migration Governance Beyond the West

Historical Legacies, Contemporary Trends, and Future Trajectories

Eraliev, Sherzod

2025

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Eraliev, S. (Ed.) (2025). Migration Governance Beyond the West: Historical Legacies, Contemporary Trends, and Future Trajectories. (Sociology of Law Series; No. 1). Media-Tryck, Lund University, Sweden.

Total number of authors:

Creative Commons License: Unspecified

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

- or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Migration Governance Beyond the West

Historical Legacies, Contemporary Trends, and Future Trajectories

Editor: Sherzod Eraliev

Research Report in Sociology of Law 2025:1



Sherzod Eraliev

Migration Governance Beyond the West:

Historical Legacies, Contemporary Trends, and Future Trajectories

> SOCIOLOGY OF LAW LUND UNIVERSITY

Research report in Sociology of Law 2025:1. Lund University.

Copyright Sherzod Eraliev

Editors Sherzod Eraliev

Typesetting Jonas Palm

Production Media-Tryck

Print Media-Tryck, Lund University, Lund, Sweden 2025

ISBN Tryck: 978-91-7267-494-3

PDF: 978-91-7267-495-0

ISSN 1404-1030

Publishing and distribution

Media-Tryck

Lund University

Box 117

SE-221 00 Lund, Sweden

E-post bookorder@service.lu.se • bokshop.lu.se



Media-Tryck är ett svanenmärkt tryckeri. Läs mer om vårt miljöarbete på www.mediatryck.lu.se

MADE IN SWEDEN

Table of Contents

Funding Acknowledgement5
Introduction: Mapping Migration Dynamics Across Regions
Historical Evolution and Contemporary Dynamics of Migration Patterns in Japan13
Ulugbek Abdurakhmanov
China's Evolving Migration Landscape: Balancing Openness, Security, and National Identity
North Coast Javanese Fisher Migration, 1900s -2010s
Improving Labour Migration Governance in Uzbekistan: Legal, Institutional and Policy Developments
Labour Migration Processes in Uzbekistan65 Ortikkhuja Norov
Migration and Remittances in Turkmenistan
International Emigration from India: History, Drivers, and Challenges
Managing Migration in Türkiye: Patterns and Policies
Migration to and from Ghana: Historical and Contemporary Dynamics 131 Mary Boatemaa Setrana, John Narh, Owusuaa Eshia
Migration Trends in the South Caucasus: Past and Present
Migration in the Gulf Cooperation Council Countries: Dynamics, Trends and Challenges
Contributors 181

Funding Acknowledgement

This research report has been made possible with the financial support of several funding agencies and institutions. We gratefully acknowledge the European Commission's Horizon MSCA Staff Exchanges project, *Non-Western Migration Regimes in a Global Perspective* (Grant No. 101130177); the Kone Foundation for funding the project *Post-Soviet Immigration in the Wake of the Russian Invasion of Ukraine and Its Repercussions for Finnish Immigration Policies* (Grant No. 202303258); and Forte – the Swedish Research Council for Health, Working Life and Welfare for supporting the project *Informality, Migrant Precarity, and Exploitation in the Nordic Context: Uzbek Migrant Workers in Sweden and Finland* (Grant No. 2021-00023).

Introduction: Mapping Migration Dynamics Across Regions

Sherzod Eraliev¹

Migration has long been an integral part of human history, shaping societies, economies, and political landscapes worldwide. As individuals and groups move in search of better opportunities, security, and stability, migration patterns continue to evolve, influenced by globalisation, economic shifts, geopolitical tensions, and environmental changes.

Migration can be classified into multiple forms, including labour migration, forced displacement, irregular migration, and voluntary mobility. While economic incentives often serve as the primary drivers, migration is also influenced by political instability, conflict, demographic shifts, and environmental degradation. Countries with different levels of economic development and political regimes have adopted diverse approaches to migration governance, ranging from liberalised entry-exit policies to restrictive border controls.

This diversity in migration forms and governance approaches shapes global mobility patterns, with significant implications for both origin and destination countries. Despite these variations, a crucial yet often overlooked aspect of international migration is its regional dimension. Although a greater number of people migrate within the Global South accounting for approximately 37 percent of all migrants, compared to around 35 percent who move from the Global South to the Global North (Horwood, 2021), academic debates, socio-political concerns, and media coverage predominantly centre on South-North migration (Bommes & Morawska, 2017; Boucher & Gest, 2015; Crawley & Teye, 2024b; Düvell, 2020; Nawyn, 2016a).

¹ Senior Researcher, Sociology of Law Department, Lund University. Email: <u>sherzod.eraliev@soclaw.lu.se</u>

Mainstream scholarship, dominant media and political narratives often disproportionately emphasize the experiences of economic migrants, refugees, asylum seekers, and irregular migrants attempting to reach the Global North, while overlooking the significant impact and dynamics of South-South migration. Several factors contribute to this skewed portrayal (Crawley & Teye, 2024b).

Firstly, there exists a prevailing perception, particularly in Western societies, that migration towards the Global North poses greater challenges and implications for receiving countries. This perception is reinforced by sensationalized media coverage and political discourse that frame irregular migration as a threat to national security, social cohesion, and economic stability (Eberl et al., 2018; Innes, 2010; Trilling, 2019). As a result, attention is primarily directed towards migration flows targeting Western countries, overshadowing the magnitude and complexity of South-South migration.

Secondly, historical and geopolitical factors play a role in shaping media and political narratives around migration. The legacy of colonialism and patterns of global economic inequality have contributed to the concentration of wealth and opportunities in the Global North (Robinson & Acemoglu, 2017), leading to aspirational migration towards these regions (Mayblin & Turner, 2020; Ocheni & Nwankwo, 2012). Consequently, narratives about migration often centre on the journey of individuals seeking refuge or better prospects in Western countries, perpetuating a narrative of Northward migration.

Moreover, the framing of migration in terms of crisis and security threats tends to resonate more strongly with audiences and policymakers, garnering greater media attention and political response (Trilling, 2019). This focus on irregular migration towards the Global North overlooks the nuanced dynamics of South-South migration, which encompasses a wide range of movements including labour migration, displacement due to conflict or environmental factors, and mobility for economic opportunities within regions of the Global South (Teye, 2021).

Overall, the tendency to overlook South-South migration in academic, media and political narratives reflects broader biases and perceptions that prioritize the experiences of migrants seeking entry into the Global North. Addressing this imbalance requires a shift towards more inclusive and comprehensive discussions that recognise the diverse and complex realities of migration, including its significant role in shaping development, inequality, and humanitarian crises within regions of the Global South.

This imbalance has also reflected in academic publications. Of course, an increasing number of studies have emerged in recent years that address the nuances and unique

aspects of migratory processes and governance frameworks in the Global South contexts (Crawley & Teye, 2024b; Fiddian-Qasmiyeh, 2024; Gest & Boucher, 2021; Natter, 2021; Urinboyev, 2020; Urinboyev & Eraliev, 2022). These works have contributed significantly to broadening our understanding of migration beyond the conventional Global North-centric perspective. They explore the ways in which migration is managed in non-Western contexts, the role of informal networks, regional mobility trends, and the socio-political and economic drivers that shape migration dynamics within and between countries of the Global South.

Despite this growing body of research, there remains a pressing need to further enrich migration studies with academic and policy-oriented publications, research reports, and data-driven analyses that accurately reflect the diverse mobility patterns unfolding across different regions of the world. Many aspects of South-South migration—such as labour mobility between neighbouring countries, the impact of climate change on displacement, and the role of regional migration governance frameworks—continue to be underexplored. To develop a more comprehensive and globally representative field of migration studies, it is essential to produce scholarship that integrates perspectives from diverse geographic, economic, and political contexts.

This research report is one such effort to bridge this knowledge gap by including publications that systematically map migration trends, dynamics, and developments across different parts of the world. It offers in-depth analyses of migration flows, policy responses, and socio-economic impacts in a variety of non-Western settings. The report is part of a broader academic initiative aimed at fostering inclusive, globally relevant migration research.

The chapters in this edited volume showcase the contributions of researchers and practitioners participating in the research and staff exchange project 'Non-Western Migration Regimes in a Global Perspective' (MARS), funded by the European Commission.² This four-year project brings together a consortium of EU and non-EU universities, covering a diverse range of migration contexts from East Asia to the Middle East to South America. By incorporating perspectives from researchers based in these regions, the project ensures that the narratives of migration are not solely shaped by Western institutions but also by those with direct expertise and lived experiences of migration dynamics in the Global South.

This report primarily focuses on providing a comprehensive overview of migration patterns in selected countries. Chapters offer an analysis of mobility dynamics,

² More information on the project can be found at: <u>https://www.mars.lu.se/mars-project</u>

backed by historical overview, statistical data, policy reviews, and assessments of contemporary developments. The contributors examine key drivers of migration in each context, including economic opportunities, conflict, environmental changes, and demographic trends.

Unlike many migration studies that predominantly examine immigration-receiving countries, this report takes a broader approach by covering both countries of immigration and emigration. The report covers recent migration trends, statistics, dynamics, and analysis of such countries and regions as the Caucasus region, China, Ghana, the Gulf countries, Japan, India, Indonesia, Turkmenistan, Türkiye, Uzbekistan, and others. This dual perspective allows for a more holistic understanding of migration systems, shedding light on how mobility patterns are shaped not just by destination countries but also by conditions in countries of origin and transit. By doing so, the report contributes to a more balanced discourse that recognises migration as a global phenomenon rather than a challenge confined to specific regions.

By presenting a collection of case studies and analyses, this research report offers insights into migration trends across a range of selected countries. Rather than focusing solely on well-documented Global North migration experiences, it aims to highlight diverse mobility patterns and governance approaches from different regions.

The primary objective of this report—and the broader MARS project—is to provide a data-driven and contextual overview of migration dynamics. By examining migration trends in both origin and destination countries, the report seeks to contribute to a more balanced understanding of global mobility. While it does not claim to redefine the field of migration studies, it serves as a resource for policymakers, researchers, and practitioners interested in regional migration developments and their broader implications.

References

- Bommes, M., & Morawska, E. (Eds.). (2017). International Migration Research: Constructions, Omissions and the Pro. Routledge. https://www.routledge.com/International-Migration-Research-Constructions-Omissions-and-the-Promises/Bommes-Morawska/p/book/9781138259010
- Boucher, A., & Gest, J. (2015). Migration studies at a crossroads: A critique of immigration regime typologies. *Migration Studies*, 3(2), pp. 182–198. doi.org/10.1093/migration/mnu035

- Crawley, H., & Teye, J. K. (Eds.). (2024). *The Palgrave Handbook of South–South Migration and Inequality*. Springer International Publishing. doi.org:10.1007/978-3-031-39814-8
- Düvell, F. (2020). Shifts in the global migration order and migration transitions in Europe: The cases of Turkey and Russia. *Comparative Migration Studies*, 8(1), 45. dx.doi:10.1186/s40878-020-00204-2
- Eberl, J.-M., Meltzer, C. E., Heidenreich, T., Herrero, B., Theorin, N., Lind, F., Berganza, R., Boomgaarden, H. G., Schemer, C., & Strömbäck, J. (2018). The European media discourse on immigration and its effects: A literature review. *Annals of the International Communication Association*, 42(3), pp. 207–223. doi:10.1080/23808985.2018.1497452
- Fiddian-Qasmiyeh, E. (2024). Recentring the South in Studies of Migration. In H. Crawley & J. K. Teye (Eds.), *The Palgrave Handbook of South–South Migration and Inequality* (pp. 47–73). Springer International Publishing. doi:10.1007/978-3-031-39814-8_3
- Gest, J., & Boucher, A. (2021). A Segmented Theory of Immigration Regime Development. *Polity*, *53*(3), pp. 439–468.
- Horwood, W. (2021, November 30). Centre stage: Repositioning the importance of 'migrant states' in the Global South. *Mixed Migration Centre*. Available at: https://mixedmigration.org/centre-stage-repositioning-the-importance-of-migrantstates-in-the-global-south/ [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Innes, A. J. (2010). When the Threatened Become the Threat: The Construction of Asylum Seekers in British Media Narratives. *International Relations*, 24(4), 456–477. doi:10.1177/0047117810385882
- Mayblin, L., & Turner, J. (2020). *Migration Studies and Colonialism*. Polity. Available at: https://www.wiley.com/en-us/Migration+Studies+and+Colonialism-p-9781509542932 [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Natter, K. (2021). Tunisia's migration politics throughout the 2011 revolution: Revisiting the democratisation–migrant rights nexus. *Third World Quarterly*, 1–19. doi:10.1080/01436597.2021.1940126
- Nawyn, S. J. (2016). Migration in the Global South: Exploring New Theoretical Territory. *International Journal of Sociology*, 46(2), 81–84. doi:10.1080/00207659.2016.1163991
- Ocheni, S., & Nwankwo, B. C. (2012). Analysis of Colonialism and Its Impact in Africa. *Cross-Cultural Communication*, 8(3), Article 3. doi:10.3968/j.ccc.1923670020120803.1189

Robinson, J., & Acemoglu. (2017, January 30). The economic impact of colonialism. Centre for Economic Policy Research (CEPR). Available at: https://cepr.org/voxeu/columns/economic-impact-colonialism [Accessed: 18 March 2025].

- Teye, J. K. (2021, July 8). South-South migration has long been overlooked. Why? [The New Humanitarian]. Available at: https://www.thenewhumanitarian.org/interview/2021/7/8/why-south-south-migration-has-long-been-overlooked [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Trilling, D. (2019, August 1). How the media contributed to the migrant crisis. *The Guardian*. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/news/2019/aug/01/media-framed-migrant-crisis-disaster-reporting [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Urinboyev, R. (2020). *Migration and Hybrid Political Regimes: Navigating the Legal Landscape in Russia.* University of California Press.
- Urinboyev, R., & Eraliev, S. (2022). The Political Economy of Non-Western Migration Regimes: Central Asian Migrant Workers in Russia and Turkey. Palgrave. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-99256-9

Historical Evolution and Contemporary Dynamics of Migration Patterns in Japan

Ulugbek Abdurakhmanov³

Historical context of migration to Japan

The first wave of immigration documented in written Japanese sources can be traced back to the sixth century; subsequently, Buddhism and the Chinese calendar system were imported into Japan. Spanish and Portuguese missionaries, who first arrived around the middle of the sixteenth century, brought with them not only Western ideas but also new types of weapons. After an initial period of cooperation with some of the local chieftains, it was not long before the newcomers became entangled in violent civil strife and were eventually expelled from the country.

Thus began, in the seventeenth century, Japan's period of seclusion, which, under the newly established military rule of the Shoguns, virtually isolated the country from foreign influence for two and a half centuries. Almost the only exception was Dejima, an artificial island in the Bay of Nagasaki, where Dutch and British traders were permitted to land. There was also a flourishing trade with China and Southeast Asia, which, operating through the narrow straits of the Ryūkū Kingdom, reached as far as the most southerly of Japan's main islands, Kyūshū. During this period, immigration by non-Japanese – or even the mere attempt to set foot on Japanese soil – was forbidden on pain of death (BPB, 2012).

This era of isolation remained largely intact until the mid-19th century, when external pressures forced Japan to reconsider its policies. The subsequent Meiji Restoration of 1868 marked a dramatic shift, not only in Japan's governance but also

³ PhD candidate, Nagoya University. Email: <u>dr.44t.0262@s.thers.ac.jp</u>

in its approach to national identity and social structure. The Japanese government's assimilation policies towards ethnic minorities were framed within a legislative regime that can be traced back to this period. With the Meiji Restoration, Japan was able to finally break the grip of feudal society on the nation. Officially, the feudal hereditary warlord, or Shogun, relinquished his title to the emperor and quickly resigned his position. This led, ultimately, to all nominal authority resting in the hands of the Emperor, who was not affiliated with the feudal hierarchy. This was the culmination of a long period of struggle for reform led by those opposed to the rigidly structured feudal society, which offered little opportunity for economic and social advancement for the majority of the Japanese people.

Restoring Imperial rule in Japan was carried out with the intent of strengthening Japan in the face of the many colonial powers of the day. To achieve this, the establishment of a true nation-state was viewed as the most important objective. Fostering patriotism was a natural ingredient in this process, as it thrives at the nation-state level. In order to cultivate national unity, a distinct national identity was required.

This process began with the gradual dismantling of social barriers of society that had categorized people as either samurai, farmers, craftspeople, or businesspeople. It was further advanced by the official removal of designations regarding ethnic minority groups such as the Ainu and Ryukyuan, as well as discriminated social minorities such as the Burakumin. Whether this newly defined society, devoid of official social or ethnic classifications, was truly free from discrimination remains uncertain. Nevertheless, from this point onward, all individuals were regarded as *Nihonjin*, or Japanese (Zhang & Steele, 2012).

Post-World War II Era

After World War II, Japan faced significant challenges, including labour shortages due to the destruction caused by the war and subsequent economic boom. This period saw a shift in migration patterns, both into and out of Japan.

Year	Emigration	Immigration	Net immigration (+) or emigration (–)
1950	8,990	15,964	+ 6,974
1951	20,331	13,945	- 6,386
1952	25,633	26,990	+ 1,357
1953	6,124	70,169	+ 64,045
1954	9,062	39,313	+ 30,251
Total	70,140	166,381	+ 96,241

Table 1. Japanese migration movements, 1950-54.

Source: IMO (1957).

The late pattern of development continued with establishment of liberal democracy in Japan only after 1945, and the ensuing economic miracle similar to that of West Germany. The Japanese garrison state took shape during the Meiji restoration, driven by the imperative of resisting encroachments by Western imperial powers, expanding Japanese influence in Asia, and ousting foreign 'barbarians'.

The Meiji era was characterised by policy innovation, rapid economic development, and the promotion of *zaibatsu* (industrial and financial conglomerates) through nationalist and mercantilist policies —a strategy that persisted Japan's defeat in WW II. Although many Koreans and Chinese were subject to forced labour in Japan during the period of imperial expansion in the 1920s and 1930s, the country remained resistant to immigration until the 1980s (Tsuda, 1999; 2003, as cited in Hollifield & Sharpe, 2017).

In the 1951 Immigration Control Order, it is interesting that though there was a category for 'permanent residents', no one was formally 'accepted in the said category' (Kondo, 2002). There was not much enthusiasm for assimilating foreign nationals into the Japanese population.

Year	Total ¹⁾	China	Korea	Vietnam	Philippines	Brazil	Nepal	Indonesia	U.S.A.	Thailand
1950	598,696	40,481	544,903	25	367	169		257	4,962 73	73
1975	751,842	48,728	647,156	1,041	3,035	1,418	51	1,119	21,976 1,046	1,046
2000	2000 1,686,444	335,575	635,269	16,908	144,871	254,394	3,649	19,346	44,856 29,289	29,289
2010	2,134,151	687,156	565,989	41,781	210,181	230,552	17,525 24,895	24,895	50,667 41,279	41,279
2021	2,760,635	767,797	436,167	432,934	276,615	204,879	97,109	59,820	54,162 50,324	50,324

Table 2. Registered foreigners by nationality, 1950-2021.

Source: National Institute of Population and Social Security Research (2023)

Given its historical isolation, Japan was able to maintain a very small foreign population for much of its history. However, the picture began to change dramatically during the so-called bubble era of the 1980s. As the economy developed rapidly, Japan increasingly looked to foreign workers to supplement labour shortages, particularly in industries experiencing acute workforce gaps. This shift culminated in the passage of the 1990 revision to the Immigration Control and Refugee Act (Komai, 2001, as cited in Green, 2017), which slightly eased restrictions to foreign labour in the country and laid the foundation for Japan's contemporary immigration system.

A significant reform in immigration law was enacted in 1991 with the introduction of new 'Special Law on Immigration Control relating to Persons and their Descendants who Lost their Japanese Citizenship'. This law allowed the descendants of Japanese emigrants from various parts of the world, including Brazil, to enter Japan for work and provided them with the possibility of long-term residence. Despite this reform, significant barriers to permanent residence remained. Throughout the 1990s, various obstacles were placed in the path of immigrants seeking permanent residence. Over time, these requirements were gradually eased from an initial 20-year continuous stay requirement, later reduced to 10 years, and now to the current five-year threshold. Regardless, between 1945 and 2000, more than 330,000 individuals had been naturalised in Japan (Kondo, 2001).

Between 1990 and 2010, Japan's foreign population increased 98%. As of 2010, Japan's official foreign population stood at 2.1 million, or 1.67% of the total population (Green, 2017). This trend continued, and by 2018, the OECD reported that foreign residents comprised just 2% of the overall population of 127 million (Dadabaev, 2022).

Demographically, Chinese nationals (389,117) constituted the largest foreign ethnic group in the Japanese labour market, representing 26.6% of all foreign workers. They were followed by Vietnamese (316,840), who accounted for 21.7%, and Filipinos (164,006), comprising 11.2% of foreign workers (Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare 2019, as cited in Dadabaev, 2022). The fastest-growing migrant worker groups were Vietnamese (31.9%), Indonesians (21.7%), and Nepalese (18.0%) (Dadabaev, 2022).

As of the end of June 2022, the number of medium- to long-term residents in Japan had risen to 2,669,267, while the number of special permanent residents stood at 292,702, bringing the total foreign resident population to 2,961,969, an increase of 201,334 (7.3%) compared to the end of 2021 (2,760,635) (Immigration Services

Agency, 2022). Breaking this down by gender, there were 1,469,602 males (49.6%) and 1,492,367 females (50.4%), both of which had increased over the previous year.

The number of nationalities and regions represented among residence card holders and special permanent resident certificate holders was 194 (excluding stateless individuals). Notably, all of the top 10 economies contributing to Japan's foreign workforce saw an increase in numbers compared to the end of 2021.



Figure 1. Number of Foreign Residents in Japan by June 2022. Source: Immigration Services Agency (2022).

Green (2017) provided insightful analysis regarding both the economic and cultural dimensions of immigration, highlighting the perceived threats and the significance of societal change. His findings indicate that cultural factors are significantly stronger predictors of anti-immigrant sentiment than economic concerns in Japan. This observation is intuitive, considering Japan's ageing population and growing labour shortages. While Japanese citizens may understand the economic rationale for increased immigration, resistance persists, largely due to cultural differences (Green, 2017). Despite this cultural reluctance, the number of immigrants in Japan has steadily increased since 1990. This growth has been driven by the 1990 revision of the Immigration Control and Refugee Act, the introduction of the Special Law on Immigration Control (1991), and other essential reforms, which will be discussed in later sections.

Japanese immigration policies and their impact on migration trends

The process of reconfiguring migration policies in Japan evidently reflects the evolving social construction of 'skills'. While maintaining the official principle that the country admits only 'skilled workers', the definition of 'skills' has been gradually broadened in response to various social, economic and political pressures.

Although the Japanese government had long admitted skilled migrants under regular work visas, it began to develop more specific skilled migration policies in the 2000s, paying attention to different categories of migrants and skill sets. These policies did not follow a strictly linear progression but were shaped by competing imperatives. Initially, policy discussions were dominated by globalisation, particularly in the context of an increasingly competitive global labour market and talent acquisition. Recognising the rising global demand for an IT workforce, the Japanese government acknowledged the challenges of securing highly skilled migrants in this sector, particularly given the competition from other industrialised nations and emerging economies (Oishi, 2021).

In response, Japan launched 'the Points-Based Preferential Immigration Treatment for Highly Skilled Foreign Professionals' in 2012. This system aimed to attract and retain highly skilled foreign talent by offering increased incentives for migrants to live and work in Japan (Oishi, 2021). As Komine explains,

Migrants working in the areas of research, technology and investment, and business management are assessed on the basis of education, work experience, income, age, and other miscellaneous factors, such as Japanese language proficiency... Applicants who manage to score 70 points or more are qualified for the scheme (Komine, 2014, p. 214).

The East Japan Great Earthquake and the Fukushima disaster in March 2011 added an additional layer of urgency for developing new policies to promote the long-term settlement of skilled migrants and minimise their exodus. In March and April 2011, over a half million migrants left the country (Oishi, 2021). While many eventually returned, the number remained below the pre-disaster levels for some time, triggering a widespread sense of urgency among policymakers to attract more skilled migrants from overseas to contribute to the Japanese economy. This led to the launch of the points-based system in 2012 (Oishi, 2021).

The central government came under further pressure when Hiroya Masuda, the former governor of Iwate Prefecture and former Minister of Internal Affairs and

Communication, published a book titled '*Disappearance of Regional Areas*'. In it, he warned that 896 villages and towns in Japan would soon 'disappear' due to a rapid decline of women of child-bearing age (Masuda 2014, as cited in Oishi & Hamada, 2019). His book, as well as his policy paper called 'Masuda Report', sent shockwaves across the country.

At the same time, regional governments were demanding greater political and financial autonomy through major administrative system reforms to better meet more socio-economic challenges in their prefectures and municipalities. In response to these regional concerns, the central government took two major actions. First, in 2015, it announced its commitment to 'regional vitalisation' (*chihou sousei*), creating a new cabinet minister position for 'the Promotion of Overcoming Population Decline and Vitalising Local Economy in Japan'. Second, it introduced a major policy scheme for regional migration (Oishi, 2021).

A major policy shift took place in 2018, when the Japanese government announced that it would drastically open its labour market to 'new categories of migrants', including those without tertiary education. Over the next five years, the country planned to admit up to 345,150 migrants under a new visa programme: the 'Specified Skilled Workers No.1 visa' (SSW-1) and 'Specified Skilled Worker No.2' (SSW-2). These visas applied to 14 occupational sectors, including agriculture, elder care and construction—sectors previously considered 'unskilled' and 'semiskilled' under earlier migration schemes.

The government recognised that these sectors faced chronic and severe labour shortages, even after implementing measures to improve productivity, encourage greater workforce participation from women and the elderly, and enhance wages and working conditions. Furthermore, under the new scheme, migrants demonstrating advanced skill levels through industry-specific skill tests after five years would gain a path to permanent residency and family reunification. This policy shift was highly significant, as the Japanese government had long maintained a strict principle of only admitting 'skilled migrants' with a bachelor's degree on a temporary basis, while restricting their ability to settle permanently (Oishi, 2021).

Industries	Maximum number (2019–2024)
Elderly care	60,000
Food service (restaurants)	53,000
Construction	40,000
Building cleaning	37,000
Food/drink manufacturing	34,000
Hospitality (accommodation)	22,000
Primary materials industry	21,500
Shipbuilding	13,000
Fisheries	9,000
Automobile maintenance	7,000
Electric/electronic-related industries	4,700
Industrial machinery manufacturing	5,250
Airlines	2,200
Total	345,150

Table 3. Newly-defined skilled sectors and maximum number of migrants to be admitted in 2019-2024.

Source: Cabinet Office (2018e) as cited in Oishi (2021).

For FY2018–2019, the national government allocated 21.1 billion yen for comprehensive measures and programmes aimed at accepting and integrating migrants (Liu-Farrer, 2020b). The policy guideline, titled 'Comprehensive Policies for the Acceptance of and Coexistence with Foreign Talent', had four major pillars:

- 1) public hearings from practitioners as well as awareness raising for multicultural coexistence,
- 2) life support for migrants as community members (seikatsusha),
- 3) programmes to promote the appropriate and smooth acceptance of foreign talent,
- 4) creation of a new immigration control system.

The first pillar, public hearings, marked an entirely new development in Japan's approach to integration. This initiative was designed to incorporate the voices of civil society organisations into state policies and entails the component of implementing activities for raising human rights awareness under the same banner. The second pillar, life support, covered an extensive range of services, including medical interpretation, Japanese language programmes, and assistance for migrants' children. The most notable development in this area was the establishment of 'one-stop centres' in 100 cities across Japan, providing migrants with comprehensive support in 11 languages (Cabinet Office 2018f as cited in Oishi, 2021).

The most significant institutional development took place in 2019, when the Immigration Bureau, formerly an office within the Justice Ministry, was upgraded to a higher-level agency, the Immigration Services Agency. This reform signalled the

government's commitment to accepting more migrants and addressing their social integration in a more structured and comprehensive manner. With these national-level integration measures implemented for the first time, Japan entered a new era of migration and integration in 2019 (Oishi, 2021).

The Technical Intern Training Program (TITP)

The Technical Intern Training Program (TITP) was introduced in 1990 as a means for Japan to support the development needs of its neighbouring countries. In 2020 alone, the programme brought in as many as 402,356 trainees, accounting for a significant portion of the 1.7 million migrants in Japan (Onuki, 2023). While the programme initially appeared beneficial to both the participating nations and the interns, many trainees found that their expectations were not met. Some researchers have criticised the TITP as a backdoor channel for Japan to meet its demand for cheap labour (Kamibayashi, 2013; Kalapong, 2022; Onuki, 2023; Chiavacci, 2024). Rather than primarily benefiting the foreign nationals involved, the scheme appears to have served the needs of small and medium enterprises (Onuki 2023).

Although the Japanese government may have introduced the programme with noble intentions, its governance structure and reliance on numerous intermediaries—both at the point of departure and arrival—have exacerbated the challenges faced by migrants. Initially, the programme allowed interns to work in Japan for one year and acquire skills not readily available in their home countries. However, in 1997, the training period was extended from one to three years. As Onuki (2023) explains,

The overwhelming majority of trainees hail from Asia, and in 2016, Vietnam replaced China as the top source of trainees. In 2020, Vietnamese trainees accounted for 54.3% of the total, followed by Chinese at 19.1%, the Philippines at 8.6%, and Indonesians at 8.3%. The number of approved occupations for the TITP rose from 17 to 86 (pp. 40-41).

Rather than opting for direct government supervision, business leaders lobbied for establishing a supervising organisation, which would be at arm's length from the government. The Japan Business Federation played a crucial role in advocating for the expansion of the TITP to serve the interests of its members, primarily small and medium-sized enterprises. The advantages to Japanese industry are incalculable. As Onuki (2023) further explains, The TITP is designed to provide a rotating and stable supply of a 'calculable workforce', secured by both a strict restriction on trainees to change jobs because of legal ties to their first employers and the prohibition of their settlement, or family reunification, in Japan... This rotation mechanism flexibly adjusts the labour force supply (p. 43).

A case study involving Thai TITP participants provides valuable insight into how trainees have experienced the programme. It might be instructive in understanding how other nationals navigate the system. From the moment they arrive in Japan, trainees are made aware that their stay in the country is temporary, which discourages them from making long-term plans, such as seeking citizenship or permanent residence. Beyond this restriction, the trainees are denied the freedom to choose their own housing. Instead, they are required to lodge in facilities provided by their Japanese employers, often in locations isolated from the local communities (Kalapong, 2022).

Criticism from participants, scholars, and social welfare groups led to government reforms of the TITP in 2010. Among the key changes was the introduction of two residence status categories:

Technical Intern Training (i): refers to first-year technical intern trainees, who must complete language and skills training in classroom setting.

Technical Intern Training (ii): refers to second-year technical intern trainees, who must pass a competence examination before proceeding to practical work (Kalapong, 2022).

In 2016, further reforms were introduced through the Act on Proper Technical Intern Training and Protection of Technical Intern Trainees, which sought to hold accountable the organisations responsible for overseeing the programme. Penalties were stipulated for those failing to comply with the Act (Kalapong, 2022). Another reform in 2017 broadened opportunities for more migrants to participate in the programme while aiming to reduce some of the burdens trainees previously faced. To further improve the system, 'in 2019, the government of Japan introduced a new scheme for receiving workers—the so-called specified skilled workers. TITP workers can transfer to this status, which will extend their stay in Japan even longer' (Kalapong, 2022, p. 82).

The Perennial Pursuit of Highly-Skilled Migrants

While Japan has long been perceived as a nation reluctant to embrace immigration, its approach to high-skilled migrants presents a more nuanced reality. When it comes to attracting top-tier professionals, Japan is as competitive as other advanced countries, actively seeking to attract individuals who can contribute to its economic and technological advancement. Some researchers even argue that Japan should now be classified as a migration country, at least in terms of its policies toward skilled labour (Wakisaka & Cardwell, 2021). The Japanese government has established clear criteria for individuals qualifying as highly skilled migrants. These typically include:

- 1) A graduate degree or its equivalent, demonstrating advanced expertise in a specified field.
- 2) At least ten years of professional experience, ensuring a high level of competence and practical knowledge.

As Wakisaka and Cardwell (2021) note, 'No language test is required, although some jobs, including medical doctors, demand a prerequisite qualification in Japanese' (p. 5). This flexibility in language requirement is particularly notable, as it differs from immigration policies in some other countries where language proficiency is a prerequisite for entry or permanent residence.

Although Japan's active recruitment of highly skilled migrants may appear to be a recent phenomenon, the government's efforts to attract this category of workers date back to 1988. Over the decades, Japan has gradually expanded its eligibility criteria in response to shifting economic needs, demographic changes, and global competition for talent. The government has introduced various incentives and policy adjustments aimed at making Japan a more attractive destination for skilled professionals. However, the country still faces challenges in retaining such migrants, as social and cultural barriers often deter long-term settlement.

Conclusion

The evolution of migration patterns in Japan reveals a complex history shaped by periods of historical isolationism, rapid modernization, and fluctuating immigration policies. While Japan has traditionally maintained a cautious stance on immigration, recent decades have witnessed significant policy shifts, particularly in response to labour shortages and demographic challenges. The introduction of the Technical Intern Training Program (TITP) and the Specified Skilled Workers visa categories marks a notable departure from past restrictive policies, signalling a greater willingness to accommodate foreign labour.

Despite these advancements, sustainable challenges remain. The integration of immigrants into Japanese society continues to be a complex issue, as does the need to address concerns over workplace conditions, exploitation and cultural differences (Liu-Farrer, 2020a). Nevertheless, the government's efforts to attract and retain highly skilled migrants highlight its recognition of the need for a more inclusive and sustainable immigration strategy.

As Japan continues to navigate the complexities of migration, it must carefully balance economic needs with social cohesion, ensuring that both the nation and its immigrant workforce can thrive together. The future of migration in Japan will be shaped by its ability to adapt its policies and practices to an ever-changing global landscape while upholding a commitment to human rights, social integration, and long-term economic stability.

References

- BPB (2012). Japan country profile. Bundeszentrale für politische Bildung. Available at: https://www.bpb.de/themen/migration-integration/regionalprofile/english-versioncountry-profiles/150349/historical-development-of-migration/ [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Dadabaev, T. (ed.) (2022). *The grass is always greener: Unpacking Uzbek migration to Japan.* Springer. doi:10.1007/978-981-16-2570-1.
- Green, D. (2017).'Immigrant perception in Japan', *Asian Survey*, 57(2), pp. 368–394. doi:10.2307/26367754.
- Hollifield, J. F. and Sharpe, M. O. (2017). 'Japan as an "emerging migration state", *International Relations of the Asia-Pacific*, 17(3), pp. 371–400. doi:10.1093/irap/lcx013.
- ILO (1957). Post-war migration problems in Japan. *International Labour Review*, 75(1), pp.53–67.
- Immigration Services Agency (2022). Number of foreign residents as of the end of June 4, Reiwa. Available at: <u>https://www.moj.go.jp/isa/publications/press/13_00028.html</u> [Accessed: 14 March 2025].
- Kalapong, J. (2022). 'Constraints on migrant workers' lives due to structural mediation in labour migration: A case study of Thai technical intern trainees in Japan', *Asian and African Area Studies*, 22(1), pp. 73–100.

- Kamibayashi, C. (2013). Rethinking temporary foreign workers' rights: Living conditions of technical interns in the Japanese Technical Internship Program. Hosei University Working Paper series, 169. Available at: <u>https://hosei.ecatslibrarv.ip/da/repositorv/00008775/169kamibayashi.pdf</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Komine, A. (2014). 'When migrants became denizens: Understanding Japan as a reactive immigration country', *Contemporary Japan*, 26(2), pp. 197–222. doi:10.1515/cj-2014-0010.
- Kondo, A. (2002). 'Development of immigration policy in Japan'. Asian and Pacific Migration Journal, 11(4), pp. 415–436.
- Liu-Farrer, G. (2020a). *Immigrant Japan: Mobility and belonging in an ethno-nationalist society*. Cornell University Press.
- Liu-Farrer, G. (2020b). 'Japan and immigration: Looking beyond the Tokyo Olympics', *The Asia-Pacific Journal*, 18(4). <u>https://apjjf.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/10/article-385.pdf</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- National Institute of Population and Social Security Research (2023). *Population statistics*. Available at: <u>https://www.ipss.go.jp/p-info/e/psj2023/PSJ2023.asp</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Oishi, N. (2021). 'Skilled or unskilled? The reconfiguration of migration policies in Japan', *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 47(10), pp. 2252–2269. doi:10.1080/1369183X.2020.1731984
- Oishi, N. and Hamada, I. (2019). 'Silent exits: Risk and post-3.11 skilled migration from Japan to Australia', *Social Science Japan Journal*, 22(1), pp. 109–125. Oxford University Press. doi:10.1093/ssjj/jyy025.
- Onuki, H. (2023). 'Informalization and temporary labour migration: Rethinking Japan's Technical Intern Training Program from a denationalized view', *Critical Sociology*, pp. 35–53. doi:10.1177/08969205231209535
- Wakisaka, D. and Cardwell, P. J. (2021). 'Exploring the trajectories of highly skilled migration law and policy in Japan and the UK', *Comparative Migration Studies*, 9(43), pp. 1–18. doi:10.1186/s40878-021-00251-3
- Zhang, R. and Steele, D. (2012).'Improving intercultural awareness: A challenging task for Japan', *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 47, pp. 52–63. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.06.613.

China's Evolving Migration Landscape: Balancing Openness, Security, and National Identity

Yize Huang^₄

The People's Republic of China (PRC) remains one of the major emigration countries worldwide, with Chinese diasporas located in different parts of the world. The formation of overseas Chinese communities can be traced back to the long history of mobility with neighbouring states. After the PRC was established in 1949, its migration policies gradually moved towards extreme control due to political reasons. After the economic opening and reforms in the late 1970s, economic development led China to become the second-largest economic power. Subsequently, its migration dynamics also experienced rapid change in the past decades. China underwent a migration transition with its process of integration into the world market. Alongside Chinese emigrants and returning migrants, a new trend has emerged with temporary migrants and foreign immigrants moving to China. To support economic growth, more measures have been introduced to ease travel and residency for foreign citizens. On a macro level, the Chinese government has worked to liberalize entry and exit policies to attract more travellers, reduce barriers for foreigners, and attract international talent. Meanwhile, as China becomes a middleincome nation with wealthier and better-educated citizens, the image of Chinese migrants is shifting from low-wage workers to potential investors and professionals. This new generation of migrants is more mobile and less inclined to change their citizenship, driven by both economic factors and a variety of other motivations to live in different countries and regions.

⁴ PhD candidate, School of Sciences and Humanities, Nazarbayev University, Nazarbaev University. Email: <u>yize.huang@nu.edu.kz</u>

However, the further opening of immigration policies in China faces several significant drawbacks. China is an authoritarian country with a long-existing mobility control system. Its immigration policies remain among the strictest in the world regarding foreigners who wish to obtain permanent residence and become naturalized. The legislation on immigration affairs is fragmented and discontinuous. Most importantly, the current nation-building narratives in China present a paradox that cannot be easily reconciled with non-Chinese immigrants. Narratives of nationalism contradict the integration of new members into the political community.

Furthermore, the primary management entity for immigration affairs remains under the control of the public security sector. In China, there is an increasing emphasis on national security issues related to foreign citizens. Amid tensions between China and Western countries, along with pandemic lockdowns, attitudes toward foreigners have become ambivalent. While there is a sentiment of welcoming foreigners into China, xenophobia also exists, resulting in a complex interplay between these opposing feelings.

China is also confronting the same challenges that many of the world's major powers face in balancing development and security concerns in relation to immigration issues. This chapter focuses on the immigration dynamics in mainland China from 2012 to 2024. Many socio-political aspects in China have profoundly changed during this period, since the current president came to power. These changes also have an impact on immigration dynamics. Including Belt and Road initiatives, a series of ambitious programs were implemented and aimed at bringing its citizens to 'go global' and attracting global talents and investors to 'bring in' (Ministry of Commerce of People's Republic of China, 2017).

At the same time, many reforms unprecedented in the past decades were introduced, including the liberalization of the visa regime, the facilitation of the residency application procedure, and the naturalization of elite athletes. However, these efforts were often interrupted by unprecedented security issues. The outbreak of the pandemic at the end of 2019 suddenly blocked all such initiatives, and the Zero-COVID policy shut off opportunities for further opening. After reopening its borders in 2022, another wave of entry policy liberalization resumed. In terms of emigration, a new model of mobility has been observed since the beginning of the 2020s due to control measures imposed during the nationwide lockdown combined with post-pandemic economic stagnation in China. This situation stimulated an emerging emigration wave among middle-class relocating to other countries.

China has a long migration history. Even before the modern nation-state concept was introduced in China, inter-regional mobility between southern China and Southeast Asian countries had already existed. However, the concept of national borders and the immigration control system did not exist in China at that time. As a traditional agricultural civilization, emigration was considered disloyal to the empire, and the flow of people was also considered a threat to society. This led to the isolation of the Chinese empire from the rest of the world until European colonizers forced a change in this status in the mid-19th century.

With the fall of the Qing dynasty, Chinese migrants moved to broader destinations, including the Europe, the Americas, Japan, and Australia. From 1911 to 1949 the first wave of out-migration took place, as China became more integrated with the rest of the world and adopted a modern border control system. However, due to China being involved in continuous wars, including both civil unrest and foreign invasions, the number of incoming migrants was very small.

In 1949, with the establishment of the People's Republic of China, China duplicated the Soviet institutions of social control, including a residential registration established in the Soviet Union in the 1930s. The entry and exit policies also reproduced the Soviet ones, with an emphasis on restricting the mobility of people, especially those with foreign backgrounds (van Dongen, 2022). As China aligned itself with the Socialist bloc and became isolated from the West, there were only limited people-to-people exchanges between China and other socialist countries, primarily involving trainees, students, and labourers participating in foreign aid projects.

Later, with the Sino-Soviet split and ongoing political movements, such as the Anti-Rightist campaign in the late 1950s and the Cultural Revolution, political instability and hostility toward both the United States and the Soviet Union led to a sharp decline in the presence of incoming foreigners and emigrants, nearly erasing them from the records.

Starting in 1978, economic development became the top priority, and the market system was introduced in China. To promote its opening up, integrate into the global market economy, and attract foreign investment, new policies needed to be implemented. Measures such as establishing special economic zones required further easing of restrictions on cross-border mobility. To accommodate such legislative needs, the Chinese nationality law came into force in 1980, and five years later, the Exit and Entry Administration Law of the People's Republic of China introduced new regulations for foreign citizens and their immigration processes within Chinese territory. In the early era of economic opening and reform, overseas Chinese in the rising Asian economies, as well as in other developed regions of the world, were encouraged to return to invest and contribute to bringing prosperity to their ancestors' hometowns. The returning migrants from overseas Chinese communities were, indeed, a major source of foreign direct investment.

In 1992, another wave of opening initiated after Deng's trip to the southern China, accompanied by a new emigration trend and a further effort to bring multinational enterprises. In 2001, China joined the WTO, and Chinese migration patterns have been much more diverse since then. Along with labour migrants, new types of migrants, such as educational and professional migrants appeared. China started to participate in global competitions for talent acquisition. Becoming the centre of world manufacturing has led to an increasing number of foreign citizens coming to China for various reasons, but the legislation on immigration affairs remained the same as it was in the 1980s, which lagged behind modern developments and faced many emerging issues that challenged immigration regulations and laws.

In the past decade, facing both internal and external challenges, China has gradually started to implement reforms in immigration policies. Internally, the demographic situation is undergoing transition, the ageing population is increasing, and China is no longer the country with the largest population in the world. The total fertility rate has dropped, and the annual number of newborns is historically low. Externally, China actively participates in the competition for global talent, and its economic transition and industrial upgrading require international professionals and skilled workers to migrate to the country and stay long-term. However, there have been fewer policy adjustments in comparison with major immigration destination countries. The overall immigration policy changes in China can be summarised in two directions. First, attracting foreign professionals, talented individuals, and high-skill workers. Second, liberalising visa regimes: expanding bilateral visa-free agreements and implementing unilateral visa-free travel with certain foreign countries.

Talented migrants comprise a small proportion of the immigrant inflow in China. Nevertheless, the government's top-down initiative to encourage foreign citizens to come and reside in China can be seen as an early effort to reform future immigration policies. Such an ambitious project aims to build a major world centre of talent. Given the current situation, top officials have recognized that China will face challenges in obtaining advanced technologies from the West in the next phase of development. Consequently, the primary focus of immigration policies is to enhance fundamental science, strengthen basic research, and foster self-reliance in advanced technologies. A recently introduced concept by party elites is the notion of 'new quality productive forces'. The previous labour-intensive and investment-oriented economic development models cannot be sustainable. The only way out is to upgrade the economy, by driving innovation and technology. Highly skilled professionals stand at the core of achieving this goal. The Chinese Communist Party reports have pointed out the overall developmental direction and goals in the Chinese context, which should also become the foundation for policymaking. Talent is a strategic resource for achieving national rejuvenation and maintaining competitiveness in the international community. Such claims have been mentioned in the most recent two Party National Congress reports (International Department, Central Committee of CPC, 2023).

The Central Conference on Talent-Related Work, first convened by top-level officials in 2021, underscores the highest-level commitment to competing for foreign talent migration, highlighting it as a national priority (the State Council of the People's Republic of China, 2021). So far, returning students have constituted a significant part of the foreign talent attraction project; the overall estimated number stands at 481,000 from 1978 to 2017. Other state-sponsored 'Thousand Talent' programmes brought more than 7,000 experts to China who worked in various fields (Zhang & Geiger, 2020). The main criticism on the above projects concerns the very high standards for applicants. Only a small number of potential migrants can meet the criteria to get long-term residency in China. Compared with major talent-destination countries, China's policies only focus on those at the very top of their field but ignore emerging talents, younger generations, and new graduates from Chinase higher educational institutes, who are also seeking to work and live in China.

The other new dynamic is the facilitation of travel restrictions to China as a response to the promise from the decision-making level that China will open further. Since 2014, the number of countries signing bilateral visa-free agreements with China has increased. Most of these countries are participants in the Belt and Road Initiative (BRI) or countries that share close relations with China. China and Belarus liberalised visa restrictions in 2018; citizens from both countries can enjoy a visa-free regime for 30 days within each 180-day period. On 18 January 2020, a bilateral visafree regime agreement was signed between China and Armenia, allowing visa-free stays of up to 90 days without requiring a pre-applied visa.

Starting in 2017, several Balkan countries, including Serbia (2017) and Bosnia and Herzegovina (2018), also lifted visa restrictions. Meanwhile, Central Asian countries, which previously had strict visa regulations for Chinese visitors, also opened their borders to them. Kazakhstan signed a bilateral visa-free agreement with China, allowing citizens of both countries to travel visa-free for up to 30 days. Kazakhstan

became the first neighbouring country of China to offer a visa-free regime for Chinese visitors. Uzbekistan, another Central Asian country rich in tourism resources, also implemented a visa-free regime in September 2019. In February 2021, the visa-free stay was extended to 10 days. In December 2024, China and Uzbekistan signed an agreement allowing citizens of both countries a visa-free travel for up to 30 days. Tajikistan and Kyrgyzstan are also considering adopting similar policies for visitors from China, aiming to attract more tourists and investment from China.

China gradually reopened its borders and lifted the pandemic-induced restriction measures from 2022. However, due to the closure of the border and the cancellation of transportation, the decline in foreign visitors impacted not only the inbound tourist industry but also China's connection with the world. Concerns are rising that China is becoming isolated, which could hinder its further economic growth. Thus, in November 2023, China introduced unilateral visa-free travel for citizens from five EU countries, later extending the list to 12 countries (Symons, 2024). In 2024, Malaysia, Thailand, and Singapore signed a bilateral visa-free agreement with China. The 144-hour transit visa-free regime also resumed in 2024, expanding to include many new provinces and cities that were never covered in the previous policy. According to the National Immigration Administration (NIA), 14.64 million foreigners entered China in the first half of 2024, an increase of 152.7 percent compared to 2023 (Xinhua, 2024). Of these, 8.54 million foreign visitors travelled under the visa-free regime, recording an annual growth of 190.1 percent (Global Times, 2024). The statistics show that China is returning to its pre-pandemic track and maintaining strong connections with the global community.

However, as an emerging international migration destination country, the top-down promotion of further border openness and long-term residency rights for foreign citizens is hindered by the securitisation of migration issues. Immigration management remains under the public security (internal affairs) department, which is characterized by contradictory policies, a lack of transparency in decision-making, inconsistent law enforcement, and a reluctance to openly release migration-related data and reports. This opacity makes it difficult for international observers to accurately analyse China's current immigration dynamics.

Like many countries dealing with immigration, China is now encountering the paradox of balancing immigration and security. On the one hand, its rise to the world's second-largest economy over the past four decades has been fuelled by opening up and embracing globalisation. This openness requires more liberalised policies for entry, exit, and residence for both foreign nationals and citizens, supporting the nation's ongoing commitment to further openness. However, the

fluid nature of immigration presents challenges to maintaining stability within China. To address this, the country has increasingly relied on advanced surveillance technologies, such as biometric data collection, to monitor and manage the activities of foreigners. In addition, the external environment in China has profoundly changed compared to the early 2000s. The political relations between China and the United States and its allies have deteriorated due to the trade war, the pandemic, and recent conflicts. The hostile attitude towards citizens from Western countries and the arrest of alleged foreign agents accused of spying also raise concerns among citizens from these countries (Reuters, 2024). The balance between security and development is a key theme the party elites frequently emphasise when facing the 'major changes unseen in a century' (ul Khaliq, 2023). The ambivalence towards immigration policy also reflects China's struggles in both controlling and promoting immigration.

Domestically, China is also facing the problem of how to integrate foreign citizens into its nation-building narratives. China needs to update its nationalist narratives inherited from the previous generation to be more inclusive in order to reconcile the arrival of new immigrants, including returning migrants, children of transnational marriages, and naturalized foreigners who have no connection with China. This involves updating the definition of China, Chinese identity, and Chineseness. For instance, the PRC officially recognises 56 ethnic groups - a common belief deeply rooted in Chinese society. However, such ethnic categorisation, based on Marxist-Leninist principles, is facing challenges in adapting to the new situation and determining how to fit foreign migrants into such categories. This has become an urgent issue, as domestic identification documents usually require a compulsory column for stating ethnicity. Additionally, ethnic minorities have certain affirmative rights, while it is a controversial topic whether foreign immigrants should also enjoy such rights. Furthermore, due to the Hukou system, Chinese citizens experience unequal rights in education, medical care, and other social welfare benefits based on their household registration. Determining what kind of social benefits newly naturalised citizens should have is another point that the decision-makers must consider.

China officially does not recognise dual citizenship, but in practice, the issue sometimes falls into a grey area, involving a degree of informality. For example, to improve the performance of Chinese teams in international sports events, China has adopted international practices by naturalising elite foreign athletes, particularly to strengthen underperforming sports such as football, basketball, and winter sports. The appearances of naturalised athletes has sparked a huge debate in China about whether these 'new Chinese'-in terms of having Chinese citizenship-can represent
China globally. This emerging phenomenon also raises questions regarding the process of obtaining and renouncing citizenship. Additionally, concerns over some Chinese citizens holding dual or multiple citizenship pose challenges to citizenship education in China, complicating efforts to promote a clear and consistent understanding of national identity (Brownell, 2022).

Middle-class emigration is another new dynamic that has attracted scholarly attention since the pandemic. It originated from an internet meme: 'run', or 'runology', which translates literally as 'the study of escape' or 'the philosophy of feeling'. Due to the strict lockdown measures during the pandemic, big cities like Shanghai, with a mature middle class, became tired of such social control methods. Combined with the pressure of living and a highly competitive environment, the growing middle class became eager to 'escape' this environment and seek a more relaxed lifestyle abroad. The growing concerns about China's future and the possibility of slowing economic growth, along with fears that a stable and decent life will no longer be guaranteed, have given rise to a new public sentiment. This has pushed the middle class to consider and evaluate potential opportunities to move abroad.

In 2022, after another round of lockdown in major cities, the search for the keyword 'immigration' increased by 440 percent on WeChat (Huang, 2022). Immigration consultation services had more inquiries than usual. The new generation that grew up during China's era of rapid economic growth is unprepared to face a society where development is slowing down. Using immigration as a way to seek further opportunities is one of their few available options; in other words, they are voting with their feet in response to their lack of ability to influence the political direction of China. These new dynamics show that the reasons and motivations for emigration are diverse in a country transitioning into a middle-income status. Economic factors may not be the only motivation, the domestic social and political environment also plays a significant role in shaping potential migrants' decision-making process.

In general, China and its migration dynamics are now undergoing a dramatic transition. Rapid economic growth has created a new, wealthier middle class with the aspiration and capability to move to another country and participate in skilled and professional jobs, unlike the previous generation of migrants, when Chinese workers were primarily employed in heavy labour occupations. Meanwhile, irregular border-crossing activities persist for those potential emigrants who cannot obtain a proper legal status in their destination countries.

China is also transitioning into a rising immigration destination, with the authorities implementing policies and reforms to attract foreign talent for long-term residence

in China. However, there are many challenges that China faces in becoming a country with a substantial international immigrant population. As an ethnically homogeneous country, integrating new immigrants into the nation-building narratives presents a new challenge for Party officials. The overall number of naturalized foreigners remains very small. Major institutional barriers still hinder foreign citizens from receiving equal national treatment. There is no comprehensive immigration law in China. The National Immigration Administration was only established in 2018. Regulations and policies on immigration issues are fragmented and sometimes contradict each other. As a result, China is simultaneously tightening control over the inflow of foreigners while promoting more visitors and immigrants, creating a complex and paradoxical dynamic in its immigration landscape.

Reference list:

- Brownell, S. (2022). 'Citizenship swapping at the Beijing 2022 Winter Olympics', Georgetown Journal of International Affairs. Available at: <u>https://gjia.georgetown.edu/2022/03/25/citizenship-swapping-at-the-beijing-2022-winter-olympics%EF%BF%BC/</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Global Times (2024). 'China's expanding visa-free "circle of friends" draws more global travelers', *Global Times*. Available at: <u>https://www.globaltimes.cn/page/202408/1318136.shtml</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Huang, K. (2022). '"Runology:" how to "Run away" from China', Council on Foreign Relations. Available at: <u>https://www.cfr.org/blog/runology-how-run-away-china</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- International Department, Central Committee of CPC (2023). Full text of the report to the 20th National Congress of the Communist Party of China. International Department, Central Committee of CPC. Available at: <u>https://www.idcpc.org.cn/english2023/tjzl/cpcjj/20thPartyCongrssReport/</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Ministry of Commerce (2017). 'The 19th Party Congress report highlights "Bring-in" and "Go-global" in China's opening up', *Ministry of Commerce, People's Republic of China.* Available at: <u>https://english.mofcom.gov.cn/</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Reuters (2023). 'Foreign nationals detained in China', *Reuters*. Available at: <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/foreign-nationals-detained-china-2023-10-11/</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].

- The State Council of the People's Republic of China (2021). 'Xi calls for accelerating building of world center for talent, innovation', *The State Council of the People's Republic of China*. Available at: https://english.www.gov.cn/news/topnews/202109/29/content_WS6153c339c6d0df 57f98e108d.html [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Symons, A. (2024). 'China extends visa-free entry to Bulgaria, Romania, Malta, and Japan', *Euronews*. Available at: <u>https://www.euronews.com/travel/2024/06/25/china-aims-to-boost-tourism-by-giving-visa-free-entry-to-these-five-european-countries</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- van Dongen, E. (2022). 'Across the conceptual divide? Chinese migration policies seen through historical and comparative lenses', *Third World Quarterly*, 43(7), pp. 1627–1644. doi:10.1080/01436597.2021.2020635.
- ul Khaliq, R. (2023). 'China's Xi calls for balance between development and security', *Anadolu Ajansı*. Available at: <u>https://www.aa.com.tr/en/asia-pacific/china-s-xi-calls-for-balance-between-development-security/2844434</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Xinhua (2024). 'China sees surge of foreign travelers following favorable measures', Xinhua News, 5 July. Available at: <u>https://english.www.gov.cn/news/202407/05/content_WS6687b8a3c6d0868f4e8e8e</u> <u>90.html</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Zhang, Y. and Geiger, M. (2020). 'The IOM in building and supporting migration management in China', *International Political Economy Series*, pp. 145–171. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-32976-1_7

North Coast Javanese Fisher Migration, 1900s -2010s

Pujo Semedi⁵

Introduction

In this chapter, I will discuss the migration of fishermen along the North Coast of Java (Indonesia) from the early 20th century to the present. This chronological overview outlines the push-pull factors and migration patterns, the social networks that facilitate these movements, and the implications of this migration for fisher welfare and fisheries sustainability. Generally, the primary driving force behind fisher migration is the depletion of marine resource stocks in specific fishing areas, which occurs quickly due to the nature of resource ownership as common property and the increasing population of fishermen. More specifically, three aspects must be considered regarding fisher migration.

First, fishing labour migration is typically temporary. Traditionally, this movement has been seasonal, aligned with the fishing season. Nowadays, labour migration in Java occurs under a two-year work contract (Semedi and Schneider, 2021). This means that the migration of fishermen rarely raises social issues for migrants or settlers in an area. On one hand, this type of migration does not lead to colonization problems. However, this does not imply that fisher migration does not create issues, as they are not tied to a region and have no concern for resource maintenance. They will arrive at a body of water and leave once the resources there are exhausted. This situation is connected to the nature of maritime resources, which are largely considered common property.

Secondly, fisher migration often expands fishing grounds, which sooner than later leads to overfishing (Butcher, 2004). Overfishing in international waters is

⁵ Professor, Department of Anthropology, Gadjah Mada University. Email: <u>pujosemedi@ugm.ac.id</u>

accelerating due to the lack of property rights and jurisdictional bodies governing these areas (Paniagua and Rayamajhee, 2024). Fishing on the international high seas increases costs and can only be conducted by large capitalist companies. These factors increase economic pressure on fish stocks and the crew's welfare.

Furthermore, migration places individuals in a vulnerable position, dependent on the goodwill of agents or employers who offer jobs but lack the social protections of their home village or country. This vulnerability is currently exacerbated, as migrants frequently work in international waters or developing nations, far from the protections provided by either their home government or their employer's host country (Strating, Rao, and Yea, 2024, p. 2).

Method

The data in this study come from fieldwork on the north coast of Java that I have been conducting since the 1980s, government archives, library studies, and video recordings made by fishermen and shared on YouTube and other digital platforms. Thanks to these videos, I can gather information similar to participant observation without being among the fishermen. By analysing this material, I can also trace a picture of fishermen's career trajectories, observing how they move from fishing boats on the north coast of Java to fishing boats abroad, and how they move from one country to another in search of better income and working conditions.

In addition to these sources, I have also conducted interviews with fishermen, community members, and local authorities to gain insights into their lived experiences. These interviews help contextualise the visual data and provide a more comprehensive understanding of migration patterns, economic pressures, and social networks shaping fisher mobility. Moreover, government reports and legal documents have been examined to track regulatory changes affecting fisheries and fisher migration.

Overview

The earliest written data on sea fisheries in Java can be traced back to the 10th century, in inscriptions that mention various types of side dishes from sea fish—tuna, pomfret, and squid (Jones, 1984, pp. 34-58). Records from the 14th century reveal the existence of royal officers mandated to regulate coastal fishing, and records

from the 16th century mention the export trade of dried sea fish from Java to other islands. All of this information indicates that since the beginning of the second millennium, some Javanese people have made marine fishing one of their main sources of livelihood.

Government records show that in the 1810s, there were around 35,000 fishermen in Java, which was only a small fraction of the total population estimated at 7.5 million (Boomgaard, 1987, p. 117; van Zanden, 2012, p. 3). This number increased rapidly over seven decades to 250,000 in the 1870s (Masyhuri, 1995, p. 111). This quantitative change was also accompanied by a qualitative change, in that sea fishing changed from secondary or seasonal work to a permanent occupation for a number of Javanese residents.

At least three factors contributed to the changes in the number of fishermen and the economic status of fishing labour in the 19th century. First, there was an increase in purchasing power among the people as a result of the intensification of agricultural production under the colonial policy of the Cultivation System (Fasseur, 1992). Most of the wealth generated by this policy was transported and enjoyed in the Netherlands. However, some prosperity was left in Java that was able to increase people's purchasing power and pave the way for the marketing of fishermen's catches. Secondly, capital was made available to buy boats and fishing gear for the fishermen through the hands of tax farmers, many of whom also held a monopoly on the salt and fish trade (Masyhuri, 1995). Third, the labour force was pushed out of the agricultural sector due to the social pressures of the Cultivation System, and new employment opportunities were needed (Semedi, 2003, p. 45). The availability of labour, markets, and capital encouraged fishing in Java to grow into a strong economic sector, with a total catch of 258,502 tons worth 60 million guilders in 1865—equivalent to the cost of building a 500-kilometer railway in Java (Mulyana, 2018, p. 3). The lives of fishermen at that time was reported as relatively prosperous (van Zanden, 2012, p. 9).

In the 19th century, fishermen on the North Coast of Java used completely nonmechanized boats that relied on sails and oars for movement. They only used salt as a preservative for their catch. These technological limitations confined their fishing grounds to no more than 30 kilometers from the coastline, ensuring they could bring their catch to market within hours—otherwise, the fish would spoil (van Pel, 1938). During that time, fishermen worked daily in their respective villages, leaving in the morning to take advantage of the land breeze and returning in the afternoon with the sea wind. Even with these simple fishing technologies, the 19th-century North Coast of Java fishermen managed to exert heavy pressure on the fish stock. By the 1870s, fish stock in the north Java coastal fishing ground was overfished. Since 1870, fishermen's catches have consistently declined, falling to 77,000 tons in 1904 and further down to 20,000 tons by the end of the Japanese occupation in 1945. Following the Independence War, the catch increased to 31,000 tons in 1950 and rose to 150,000 tons in 1968. The colonial era record was surpassed in 1978, with the catch rising to 410,000 tons in 1986, ultimately reaching 645,000 tons in 1998 (Semedi, 2005, p. 2). The dynamics of catches in the 20th century were achieved through two social mechanisms: migration and modernisation of fishing technology.

Fisher Migration

The decline in catches in the late 19th century prompted fishermen to look for solutions. Fishing in waters farther from the coastline where stocks were still abundant was not feasible because it would extend the voyage time, and without fish storage technology, the catch would spoil. The solution adopted by fishermen was to migrate daily and seasonally, following the fish seasonal pattern, to the waters of other villages or cities.

The Java Sea, which is the fishermen's fishing ground, is influenced by monsoon: the west wind in November-February, and the east wind in May-August. The moonson, both west and east, also coincides with the pelagic fish season —notably *layang* and tuna—which move with the ocean currents back and forth from the Pacific to the Indian Ocean and across the fishing grounds north of fishing villages. This migration helps fishers extend the peak fishing season by intercepting the migrating fish schools further north in other districts (van Moll and sJacob, 1913, p. 60). Thus, fishers migrated to Cirebon and Rembang during the west monsoon, and during the east monsoon, they migrated to Jepara and the Gulf of Jakarta. They sailed from their villages in groups and fished in the migrating places for a few months.

The main factor in choosing a migration destination was the relationship with a big trader in the destination area who would provide an advance purchase of fish to cover the living expenses of the family left behind in the hometown. In the 1900s, at the Jakarta Fish Market, two infamous Chinese fish traders, Beng Lo and Yeng Seng, actively sponsored migrant fishermen. Both traders were known to provide an advance of up to 20 guilders for a skipper, 17 guilders for a seine master, 17 guilders for a sail master, and 15 guilders for a deckhand. In return, during their migration in Jakarta Bay, the fishermen were obliged to sell their catch to Beng Lo or Yeng

Seng (Commissie, 1905, p. 14). Debt installments were paid when the fishermen sell their catch—at a low price set by the trader. For the migrant fishermen, the traders' actions were exploitative. However, they had no choice but to accept these conditions because they needed money to support their families back home.

These big traders, who engaged in economic practices that harmed fishermen, were present in all fish markets, thus prompting government intervention to establish fishing associations in 14 fishing centres along the north coast of Java in the 1910s (Besseling, 1913). Under the management of these fishing associations, fish trade was required to be conducted through open auctions to provide the best buying price to fishers. However, the fishing associations did not succeed in eliminating the big traders or the mechanism of advances to migrant fishers. These practices continued long into the future.

Migration on the North Coast of Java did little to solve the problem of low catches among fishermen. Migration only reduced the number of days without fishing activities but did not increase their income. This was because, until the 1930s, fishing technology of the North Coast of Java fishermen did not change, and they continued to fish in nearshore waters. In fact, since the 1920s, diesel-engine boats had been widely adopted in Asia. However, due to their high price, large fishing companies were the only ones able to purchase them. Some Dutch entrepreneurs in Batavia and Surabaya seized the opportunity to establish fishing companies that operated outside the fishing grounds of sailboat fishermen. However, they were outpaced by Japanese fishermen who had adopted mechanised boats and ventured far from their country to catch fish in many parts of Indonesian waters—including the Java Sea—which lay beyond three miles from the coastline and fell into the category of international waters.

The government provided mechanised boats on credit to Javanese fishermen in the mid-1930s. However, the boats were few, so they did not significantly improve the socio-economic conditions of the fishermen. The Pacific War (1941-1945 and the Independence War (1945-1949), which lasted for almost a full decade, reduced fishing intensity due to market and transportation constraints. Normal conditions resumed in the early 1950s. Fishermen could once again go back to sea and sell their catches without much hindrance.

In the middle of the decade, the government obtained a number of small-sized motorised fishing boats to be manned by six crew members—these boats were part of a war repatriation from the Japanese Government, and a similar grant from the United States Government (Anonym, 1951). The presence of these small-engine boats encouraged innovation among boatbuilders in Java who began installing truck

diesel engines as boat propulsion. In the 1960s, fishing boat mechanisation had become widespread on Java's North Coast. From then on, fishermen could venture beyond coastal waters that had been overfished since the 1870s. With engine-powered boats, they could fish beyond the 30-kilometre limit from the shoreline and return with good catches in one-day fishing trips.

Modernisation of Fishing Technology

Technological innovation among fishermen in the late 1960s was given a greater chance to develop through the government's marine fisheries modernisation policy. With a World Bank loan in the 1970s, the Indonesian government built a large fishing port in Pekalongan, which became the largest fishing base and fish market on the North Coast of Java. Capital owners from the city seized this development as a business opportunity. They purchased fishing boats and moored them in Pekalongan.

Within ten years, the number of engine-powered boats in Pekalongan harbor increased from just a few dozen in 1970 to 450 in 1980, and the catch rose from 2,095 tonnes to 31,869 tonnes. The rapid growth of modern fisheries in Pekalongan, as well as in numerous other coastal cities, absorbed a significant labour force from the surrounding fishing villages. These fishing labourers, who had been working in the villages with outdated small boats, flocked to the fishing vessels in the port cities, which offered the potential for better income with less physical work. Most of these workers remained in their respective villages, commuting to the port, working at sea, and then returning home.

In the late 1960s, the daily commute of fishing labourers from the village to the city was common. During that time, fishing grounds 30 to 60 kilometers from the coastline still had abundant fish stocks, and one-day fishing trips yielded good catches. However, this situation did not last long. By the early 1970s, Pekalongan fishing boats had to extend their fishing trips to three days in order to secure adequate catches. Their fishing grounds also moved farther away, reaching up to 100 kilometers from the coastline.

By the middle of the decade, the fishing grounds of Pekalongan fishermen had shifted even further into the waters surrounding the Karimun Jawa Islands, about 200 kilometers northeast of the fishing harbour. Within four to five years, after the fish stocks in the Karimun Jawa fishing grounds were depleted, the boats moved further to the Bawean and Kangean Islands (Sujastani, 1981). Their fishing trips

lasted two to three weeks (Suherman and Sadhotomo, 1985). Five years later, most of the Pekalongan purse-seiners fished in the Straits of Makassar to the east and around the waters of the Karimata Straits and the southern part of the Natuna Sea in the northwest (Nurhakim, 1995). At that time, a fishing trip lasted four to five weeks, and the crew members spent more time aboard the fishing boat than at home.

Expansion of the Fishing Ground, 2000s-2010s

Expanding fishing grounds to areas farther from ports requires larger boats and improved storage technology. This necessitates more capital, resulting in increased exploitation pressure on the resources and reduced labour wages due to higher fishing costs. As the waters in the Natuna Sea and Makassar Strait become increasingly overfished, Javanese purse-seine vessels in the Natuna Sea have begun heading further north, approaching the borders of Vietnam, Thailand, and the Philippines in the South China Sea (Butcher, 2004, p. 264). On the eastern side, fishermen have also begun entering the Arafura Sea. In addition to the Natuna and Arafura Seas, some fishermen from the North Coast of Java have moved to the Indian Ocean south of Java and west of Sumatra. Their boats are based in Jakarta, and the crew members travel from their respective villages by bus to the port. They fish for up to six months, only returning home after they land their catch. To reach the fishing grounds, the fishermen spend up to two weeks at sea. The boats have been enlarged to ensure a productive fishing trip, and the fish storage areas are now equipped with cooling machines. The price of one fishing boat ranges from IDR 3 to 4 billion (approximately US\$ 180,000 to 240,000). Fishing entrepreneurs with substantial capital even equip boats to transport fish and fishing supplies, allowing the fishing boats to operate for 10 to 12 months at sea (NZ, 2021).

The expansion of fishing grounds into distant waters has compelled fishermen on the north coast of Java to leave their homes for extended periods. They are akin to migrant workers in the agricultural or industrial sectors who are away from home for months at a time. The key distinction, however, is that while the fishermen are at sea, their agricultural and industrial counterparts work in fields, factories, and dormitories.

Fishing in these new areas has led to high catches. However, due to elevated production costs, the wages earned by each fisherman have not increased significantly (Semedi and Schneider, 2021). After fishing for up to 10 months, a crew member can earn up to IDR 15 million (US\$ 1,000). While this may appear substantial, it translates to around IDR 1.5 million (US\$ 100) per month. This

amount is quite low for covering household expenses and supporting a family. The high fishing costs and low selling price of fish in Indonesia give leave crew members with little chance of escaping their low incomes. This problem is compounded by the fact that, within a decade, fishing grounds in the Natuna Sea and the Arafura Sea began showing signs of being fully exploited and, by the end of the 2010s, had entered overfishing status (Pusat Data, 2022, pp. 72-73).

Overseas Fishing Labour Migration in the 2000s -2020s

The depletion of fish stocks in Indonesian waters, the low income of labour fishermen, and the waning interest among Europeans in becoming fishermen are the driving forces behind the migration of fishermen from the North Coast of Java to Europe and East Asia, including Taiwan, Korea, and Japan. (Christy, de Jong, and Knippenberg, 2021; Christy, de Jong, and Knippenberg, 2024; Kartikasari, Stringer, and Henderson, 2022).

Through a labour recruitment agency in Jakarta, they secured a two-year work contract with a monthly salary of US\$600, along with bonuses for experienced crew members. Armed with a secondary education in fisheries—established by the government in nearly every fishing port in Java—and fishing skills developed at home, these young fishermen set out to work on domestic, national, and transnational fishing vessels abroad. Foreign language skills were not a hurdle, as their work on the boat required more practical abilities than communication. While working, they gradually learned the foreign language spoken by the captain and other officers.

I first learned about the North Coast of Java fishermen working on overseas fishing fleets in the 1990s. However, their number was quite small. The migration of fishing labour abroad only became significant in the 2000s. Whenever I flew from Jakarta to Amsterdam, I encountered a group of young men with dark skin due to prolonged sun exposure and muscular arms who spoke in the dialect of the North Coast of Java. This group of fishermen departed from Amsterdam to Portugal, Scandinavia, Canada, and Peru to work in international fishing fleets in the Atlantic Ocean. A similar encounter occurred on the Amsterdam-Jakarta flight when these fishermen returned home at the end of their contract.

Determining the exact number of Indonesian fishermen working abroad poses a challenge. Official data from the Government of Indonesia has only been collected since 2017 and accounts solely for workers sent based on reports from authorized

employment agencies. The governments of the destination countries also struggle to track the number of migrant fishermen, as many do not apply for residence visas. Numerous fishing companies hire workers using a Letter of Guarantee or Letter of Contract without registering them with the local immigration office for residence and work permits.

This situation arises because the vessels operate in international waters or the waters of another country, and during work, as well as when the vessels are docked in port, the crew members remain on board (Lalu, 2024a). Based on data presented by Yen and Liuhuang (2021), I estimate that between 40,000 to 50,000 Indonesian fishing labourers work in European, Scandinavian, East Asian, South Pacific, and South American fishing fleets.

Year	Departure Global	Present in Taiwan
2015		9,066
2016		9,785
2017	2.819	10,524
2018	2.620	13,003
2019	2.872	11,300
2020	998	13,170
2021	184	11,790
2022	2.616	
2023	2.829	
2024	1.967	

Table 1. Number of Indonesian Fishers Overseas 2015-2024

Source: Departure Global (PPID, n.d.); Present in Taiwan: Yen and Liuhuang, 2021.

Of course, migrant fishermen experience ups and downs. Crews of European fleets enjoyed excellent accommodation onboard and good working conditions. Crews of Taiwanese fishing vessels working in local waters experience working conditions and facilities that are no different from those on Indonesian fishing vessels. Some fishermen had the misfortune of not being paid after months of work at sea (Simmons and Stringer, 2014). Some fishermen chose not to continue their contracts and escaped to take up less demanding work on land.

However, working abroad generally provides a much better income than working in Indonesia. The group of fishermen I met on the return from Amsterdam to Jakarta generally stated that they would continue their contracts. For them, working in Indonesia or abroad is the same, being away from home for months at a time, with the difference being that working abroad pays four times as much. These fishermen also do not see working in overseas fleets as either permanent or seasonal migration but rather as expanding their fishing grounds, "The Presence of Indonesian Fishers in the Atlantic and Pacific" (Lalu, 2024b).

Closing remark

Given the condition of Indonesia's capture fisheries, which are increasingly affected by overfishing, fishermen's wages are under increasing pressure. As a result, the trend of fishermen migrating to foreign countries is likely to continue rising. For a while, migration may alleviate the problem of low wages. However, this migration represents an expansion of fishing operations from Indonesian waters to international waters, where fisheries resources are devoid of government protection and are increasingly targeted by large fishing companies. Considering this, it can be anticipated that, similar to national waters, fishery resources in international waters will soon reach overfishing. After that, it remains uncertain where fishermen will find employment.

Meanwhile, working on transnational fishing fleets in international waters leaves fishers' labor vulnerable due to a lack of protection. They operate outside the jurisdiction of governmental legal safeguards. Many face exploitative working conditions, long periods at sea with little contact with their families, and the constant uncertainty of fair wages and contract enforcement. As the global demand for seafood rises, the pressure on international fisheries will continue to intensify, further exacerbating the challenges faced by migrant fishermen.

To address these pressing issues, cooperation among governments and international organisations is crucial. A stronger regulatory framework is needed to ensure that migrant fishermen receive fair wages, safe working conditions, and legal protections. Moreover, sustainable fisheries management must be prioritised to prevent further depletion of fish stocks and ensure the long-term viability of the fishing industry.

Reference list:

- Anonym. (1951) '30 Kapal Motor Majang Dari Djepang Telah Tiba', Berita Perikanan, 3.
- Besseling, O. P. (1913) *De Visschersvereeniging te Tegal.* Batavia: Javasche Boekhandeld and Drukkerij.
- Boomgaard, P. (1987) Children of the Colonial State: Population growth and economic development in Java, 1795–1880. Amsterdam: Free University.
- Butcher, J. G. (2004) The closing of the frontier: A history of the marine fisheries of Southeast Asia, c.1850-2000. Singapore: ISEAS.
- Christy, D., de Jong, E. B. P. and Knippenberg, L. (2021) 'Fishing against the odds: Fishers' motivations to carry on fishing in the wake of the hindering EU Common Fishery Policy—a case study in North Shields, UK', *Maritime Studies*, 20, pp. 175– 187.
- Christy, D., de Jong, E. B. P. and Knippenberg, L. (2024) 'The Conundrum of Sustainable Fishery: Fishers' Experiences of the Exclusionary Processes of the EU Common Fisheries Policy', *Marine Policy*, 164, pp. 1–10. <u>doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2024.106167</u>.
- Commissie, M. W. (1905) Overzicht van de uitkomsten der gewestelijke onderzoekingen naar de vischteeltvischteelt en visscherij en daaruit gemaakte gevolgtrekkingen. Batavia: Landsdrukkerij.
- Fasseur, C. (1992) *The Politics of Colonial Exploitation: Java, the Dutch, and the Cultivation System.* Ithaca: Southeast Asia Program, Cornell University.
- Jones, A. M. B. (1984) Early Tenth Century Java from the Inscriptions: A Study of Economic, Social and Administrative Conditions in the First Quarter of the Century. Dordrecht: Foris Publication.
- Kartikasari, A., Stringer, C. and Henderson, G. (2022) 'Co-creating changes to achieve decent work conditions in the New Zealand fishing industry', *Global Social Policy*, 22(2), pp. 281–302. doi/10.1177/14680181211026182
- Lalu, A. (2024a) 'Kerja di Kapal Ikan Taiwan?? Ini Syaratnya'. 15 July. Available at: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=lo5VHGo9Y1c</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Lalu, A. (2024b) 'Senyum dan Air Mata! Jejak Nelayan di Dua Samudra Raksasa Atlantik dan Pasifik'. 11 September. Available at: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=L1GjrI0KvyEandt=2s</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Masyhuri. (1995) Menyisir Pantai Utara: Usaha dan Perekonomian Nelayan di Jawa dan Madura, 1850-1940. Yogyakarta: Yayasan Pustaka Nusatama.
- Mulyana, A. (2018) 'Paper presented at the IOP Conf. Series: Earth and Environmental Science'. Available at: <u>https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1755-1315/145/1/012096/pdf</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].

- Nurhakim. (1995) 'The state of exploitation of small pelagic fishes by large and medium purse seiners in the Java Sea', *Paper presented at the Socio-economics, Innovation and Management of the Java Sea Pelagic Fisheries*, Jakarta.
- NZ, D. (2021) 'Berlayar Pulang dari Laut Aru Papua. Kapal Nelayan Kursin Juwana'. Available at: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=JzgvY-5smp0</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Paniagua, P. and Rayamajhee, V. (2024) 'Governing the global fisheries commons', *Marine Policy*, 165, pp. 1–10.
- PPID (n.d.). Departure Global. The Indonesian Migrant Workers Protection Agency. Available at: <u>https://bp2mi.go.id/</u> [Accessed: 17 March 2025].
- Pusat Data, S. d. I. (2022) *Kelautan dan Perikanan Dalam Angka 2022 (Marine and Fisheries in Figures 2022).* Vol. 1. Jakarta: Pusat Data, Statistik dan Informasi Kementrian Kelautan dan Perikanan.
- Semedi, P. (2003) Close to the Stone, Far from the Throne: The Story of a Javanese Fishing Community, 1820s–1990s. Yogyakarta: Benang Merah.
- Semedi, P. (2005) 'Depletion of Java Sea's Fish Stock, 1850–2000', Humaniora, 17(1).
- Semedi, P. and Schneider, K. (2021) 'Fishers' responses to the Danish seiner ban and the history of fisheries governance on the Java north coast', *Maritime Studies*, 20, pp. 43– 62. doi.org/10.1007/s40152-020-00202-1
- Simmons, G. and Stringer, C. (2014) 'New Zealand's fisheries management system: Forced labour—an ignored or overlooked dimension?', *Marine Policy*, 50, pp. 74–80.
- Strating, R., Rao, S. and Yea, S. (2024) 'Human rights at sea: The limits of inter-state cooperation in addressing forced labour on fishing vessels', *Marine Policy*, 159, pp. 1– 8.
- Suherman, B. A. and Sadhotomo, B. (1985) 'Aspek Operasional Pukat Cincin di Laut Jawa'. in *Laporan Penelitian Perikanan Laut. No. 32*. Jakarta: Pusat Penelitian dan Pengembangan Perikanan, Departemen Pertanian.
- Sujastani, T. (1981) 'The State of Indonesian Marine Fishery Resource Exploitation', *Indonesian Research and Development Journal*, 3(1).
- van Moll, J. F. A. C. and s'Jacob, H. (1913) *De Desa Volkhuishouding in Cijfers*. The Hague: Algemeen Syndicaat van Suikerfabrikanten in Nederlandsch-Indie.
- van Pel, H. (1938) 'Dee Beoefening der Mayang Zeevisscherij Langs de Noordkust van Java', *Mededeelingen van het Instituut voor de Zeevisscherij*, 2.
- van Zanden, J. L. (2012) Economic Growth in Java 1815-1939: The Reconstruction of the Historical National Accounts of a Colonial Economy. Maddison-Project Working Paper.
- Yen, K.-W. and Liuhuang, L.-C. (2021) 'A review of migrant labour rights protection in distant water fishing in Taiwan: From laissez-faire to regulation and challenges behind', *Marine Policy*, 134. doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2021.104805

Improving Labour Migration Governance in Uzbekistan: Legal, Institutional and Policy Developments

Muattara Rakhimova⁶

Migration Challenges and Dynamics in the CIS

Following the collapse of the Soviet Union and the subsequent independence of the republics, the newly established Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS)⁷ faced numerous challenges. Among these, two key priorities emerged:

- 1) Establishing International Recognition as Sovereign State. The new states needed to assert their sovereignty and gain recognition as legitimate and independent actors on the global stage.
- 2) **Reformatting Bilateral Relations.** It was essential to move beyond the preexisting bilateral frameworks inherited from the Soviet period and develop a comprehensive system of multilateral cooperation among CIS countries.

While the CIS countries shared several commonalities—such as similar approaches to economic and social development—they also encountered a range of diverging factors that led to tensions and conflicts. These included unresolved issues related to border demarcation, water resource distribution, and regional security concerns.

⁶ Professor, Tashkent State University of Law. Email: muattara161@tsul.uz

⁷ In 1991, the former republics of the USSR created the CIS (Commonwealth of Independent States)

Migration as a Priority Issue

One of the most pressing issues for the newly independent states was migration. In the early 1990s, migration dynamics were characterised by substantial flows towards Russia and Ukraine, while the Central Asian region, including Uzbekistan, became a significant source of emigration.

Year	Immigrants	Emigrants	Net Migration
1990	75.7	255.3	-179.6
1991	71.5	167.4	-95.9
1992	97.8	186.5	-88.7

Table 1: Migration Flows in Uzbekista	n in 1990-1992 (in thousands of people)
---------------------------------------	---

Source: Maksakova (1994).

During these years, the Russian Federation and Ukraine emerged as primary destinations for immigrants, while countries like Uzbekistan saw a significant outflow of people (see, for example, Table 1).

Uzbekistan-Russia Migration Partnership

The collapse of the USSR had a profound negative impact on Uzbekistan's economy, prompting large-scale migration to Russia. Initially, this migration consisted predominantly of non-ethnic populations, followed by ethnic Uzbeks. Uzbekistan has traditionally been one of the main contributors to labour migration to Russia. During 1993-1994, the number of migrants from Uzbekistan reached a peak, fluctuating in subsequent years.

For example, according to the Federal State Statistics Service of the Russian Federation, 560.4 thousand people arrived in Russia from abroad in 2023, a 23% decrease from the previous year. Of this total, only 4% were from Uzbekistan. In contrast, Tajikistan accounted for 31% of migrants, followed by Kyrgyzstan (10%), and Ukraine, Armenia, and Kazakhstan collectively (9%) (Tochno, 2023).

The existing literature indicate that the primary motivation for immigrants from Uzbekistan is employment (Laruelle 2013, Turaeva 2016, Urinboyev 2020, Eraliev and Heusala 2021). This aligns with the broader trend of labor migration in the region.

When comparing this with data for 2024, we observe an increase in migration to certain countries. From January to November 2024, the net migration increase in Russia amounted to 420,000 people, the highest figure for the 21st century (Popkova, 2024). For example, the number of migrants from Uzbekistan rose by 83,000, from Tajikistan by 107,000, and from Kyrgyzstan by 79,000. Most of them arrived in Russia in the second half of the year (ibid.).

Demographic Characteristics of Migrants

Analysis of the demographic characteristics of migrants to Russia reveals the following:

- Gender Distribution: 55% of international migrants are male, and 45% are female.
- Age Distribution: A significant majority (76%) are of working age, ranging from 16 years to retirement age (58 years for women and 63 years for men in Russia, as of 2023).
- Elderly Population: 11% are elderly, including 11 individuals over 100 years of age. The most common age group is 20-24 years (Shukurov, 2024).

These trends reinforce the fact that labour migration continues to be a critical issue within multilateral and bilateral cooperation frameworks among CIS countries. Addressing the challenges it poses requires comprehensive policies and effective in migration governance.

Legal Aspects of Migration Governance in Uzbekistan

Over the years of independence, Uzbekistan has established a solid legal foundation that ensures the practical implementation of the universally recognised rights to work, free choice of employment, and fair working conditions for all.

Significant progress has been made in Uzbekistan in eliminating child and forced labour, safeguarding migrant workers' rights, and promoting self-employment through support for family businesses. The Ministry of Employment and Labour

Relations of the Republic of Uzbekistan⁸ has actively collaborated with the International Labour Organisation (ILO). Uzbekistan has ratified 16 ILO conventions, including all eight core conventions. In cooperation with the ILO, the Country Programme on Decent Work for 2021-2025 is currently being implemented in Uzbekistan.⁹

In 2019, the UN country team in Uzbekistan conducted a Common Country Analysis (CCA), which highlights key elements of the ILO Decent Work Agenda. These included references to labour rights, the elimination of child and forced labour, the role of labour inspection and law enforcement, decent working conditions, and equal opportunities and treatment for men and women in the labour market (ILO, 2016).

However, one of the most pressing issues in this field remains labour migration, which continues to grow in all regions of the world. Developing inter-state cooperation at both global and regional levels is a critical challenge. Speaking at the international conference '*Central Asia: Shared Past and Common Future, Cooperation for Sustainable Development and Mutual Prosperity*', the President of Uzbekistan Shavkat Mirziyoyev (2017), emphasised: 'A peaceful, economically prosperous Central Asia is our main goal and key task'. This statement reflects Uzbekistan's strategic orientation towards active integration into regional and global processes, aimed at fostering inclusive global economic growth—including through more effective governance of labour migration.

The Republic of Uzbekistan has significant economic and demographic potential¹⁰ in the Central Asian region. In recent years, Uzbekistan has been a leader in developing regional cooperation, with various aspects playing an important role: rapid industrial and infrastructure development, promotion of export production, attraction of foreign investment, development of international cooperation on

⁸ The Ministry of Employment and Labour Relations of the Republic of Uzbekistan is a state administration body implementing a common policy in the field of employment, labour migration and labour relations and in its activities under the supervision of the Cabinet of Ministers of the Republic of Uzbekistan - Resolution of the Cabinet of Ministers of the Republic of Uzbekistan RCM-1066 dated 31.12.2018. 'On measures to improve the activities of the Ministry of Employment and Labour Relations of the Republic of Uzbekistan'. Available at: lex.uz/ru/docs/41430

⁹ The Decent Work Country Programme 2021-2025. Available at: https://kasaba.uz/wpcontent/uploads/2022/01/RUS_UZB_DWCP-Uzbekistan-2021-2025_FF_21Sep-002.pdf

¹⁰ The population of Uzbekistan as of January 2025 is approximately 37,5 million people. The total annual growth of the permanent population in 2024 was 774.9 thousand, which is an increase of 2.2% compared to the previous year. State Committee of Statistics, 'Demographic situation in the Republic of Uzbekistan'. Available at: <u>https://stat.uz/uz/rasmiy-statistika/demography-2</u>

regional security issues in the economy and demographic growth (Abdullaeva, 2016; Abdullaeva, 2018; Abdurahmanov et al., 2017; Zokirova 2013). All these factors are characteristic of both the region and the globalised world economy.

As practice shows, the strategic course of Uzbekistan in strengthening regional cooperation, including on labour migration issues, has been reflected in several key documents, such as the *Action Strategy for Five Priority Areas of Development of the Republic of Uzbekistan for 2017-2021*,¹¹ *the Development Strategy of New Uzbekistan for 2022-2026*¹², and the *Uzbekistan-2030 Strategy*.¹³

The 2017-2021 Action Strategy of Uzbekistan, which for the first time in the country's history identified five priority areas of socio-economic development, was adopted. To implement this Strategy, about 300 laws and over 4,000 decrees and decisions were adopted, aimed at fundamental reforms in all sectors of public life.

The Strategy for 2017-2021 focused on five priority areas:

- Improvement of state and public administration;
- Ensuring the rule of law and reforming the judicial and legal system;
- Economic development and liberalisation;
- Social development;
- Ensuring security, inter-ethnic harmony, and religious tolerance, along with a balanced, mutually beneficial, and constructive foreign policy.¹⁴

Building on these achievements, the New Uzbekistan Development Strategy for 2022-2026 was adopted in January 2022.¹⁵ This Strategy outlines various activities aimed at raising the state to a qualitatively new level of development, covering seven

¹¹ Decree of the President of the Republic of Uzbekistan PD-4947 dated 7 February 2017 'On the Strategy for the further development of the Republic of Uzbekistan in 2017-2021'. Available at: https://lex.uz/ru/docs/3107042?ONDATE=17.03.2021

¹² Decree of the President of the Republic of Uzbekistan PD-60 dated 28 January 2022 'On the development strategy of New Uzbekistan for 2022-2026'. Available at: https://lex.uz/ru/docs/5841077

¹³ Decree of the President of the Republic of Uzbekistan PD-158 dated 11 September 2023 'On the Strategy "Uzbekistan-2030". Available at: <u>https://lex.uz/ru/docs/6600404</u>

¹⁴ Decree of the President of the Republic of Uzbekistan PD-4947 dated 7 February 2017 'On the Strategy for the further development of the Republic of Uzbekistan in 2017-2021'. Available at: https://lex.uz/ru/docs/3107042?ONDATE=17.03.2021

¹⁵ Decree of the President of the Republic of Uzbekistan PD-60 dated 28 January 2022 'On the development strategy of the New Uzbekistan for 2022-2026' Available at: https://lex.uz/ru/docs/5841077

areas and including 100 strategic goals for the next five years. The strategy aims to strengthen, to develop and ensure the prosperity of the people, reflecting major trends in modern state development, such as digitalisation, the increasing role of civil society, and special attention to vulnerable populations. Its implementation will be accompanied by the adoption of legal and regulatory acts, the creation of new mechanisms and institutions or the transformation of existing ones, the introduction of new technologies and innovations, as well as continuous public awareness of the ongoing changes and best practices.

One of the seven directions of the Strategy 'Addressing global issues from a national perspective' includes Goals 79-88, which sets out measures to address global issues such as environmental problems, terrorism, corruption, migration, poverty eradication, and fighting the pandemic.¹⁶

The central focus of this Strategy is the principle of 'State for the People'. In Goal 86 'Ensuring safe, organised, and legal labour migration and an effective migration policy,'¹⁷ Uzbekistan has identified the further development of international cooperation in combating illegal external labor migration and human trafficking as one of the main directions in this area.

In addition, the St3rategy sets out the following key tasks:

- To train citizens for work abroad in professions and foreign languages, with a systematic and accelerated implementation of measures for issuing them international certificates confirming professional qualifications;
- To expand financial and social support, life and health insurance for migrant workers;
- To reintegrate returnees from labor migration, including employment, skills development, and entrepreneurship;
- To train at least 300,000 citizens wishing to work abroad in professions and foreign languages;

¹⁶ Decree of the President of the Republic of Uzbekistan PD-60 dated 28 January 2022 'On the development strategy of the New Uzbekistan for 2022 - 2026 years' Available at: https://lex.uz/ru/docs/5841077

¹⁷ ibid.

• To organize the safe and organized departure of more than 400,000 citizens for foreign labor migration, providing targeted assistance in ensuring the rights of citizens working abroad.¹⁸

As a logical extension of the Presidential Decree on the 'Uzbekistan-2030' Strategy and the Decree 'On measures for the qualitative and timely implementation of the Strategy "Uzbekistan-2030" in 2023', the Development Strategy of New Uzbekistan was approved.¹⁹ It is presented in a simple and accessible form for everyone, with 100 goals clearly defined across five priority areas. Forty-four of these goals are aimed at creating decent conditions for every person to realize their potential.

The 'Uzbekistan-2030' Strategy is an important program for every citizen, aiming to ensure the progress of the nation and the well-being of all its citizens.²⁰

For instance, the sub-section '5.1. Reforms aimed at pursuing an open, pragmatic, and active foreign policy' in Goal 95 of the 'Strategy for Addressing Global Issues from a National Perspective' provides for:

- Increasing the number of agreements with foreign countries for employment;
- Organising a system of vocational training and employment for citizens in cooperation with 2,000 foreign companies as part of vocational education and foreign language training, based on public-private partnerships;
- Reintegration of returnees from labor migration, including employment, upgrading of professional skills, and encouragement of entrepreneurial initiatives;
- Further development of international cooperation in combating illegal external labor migration and human trafficking.²¹

Improving employment opportunities in Uzbekistan helps reduce the pressure on individuals to migrate abroad. Special state projects and programmes are developed annually to improve job-search mechanisms for vacant and quota-based jobs, and to promote effective forms of self-employment.

¹⁸ ibid.

¹⁹ Decree of the President of the Republic of Uzbekistan PD-158 dated 11 January 2023 'On the Strategy "Uzbekistan - 2030»- https://lex.uz/ru/docs/6600404

²⁰ ibid.

²¹ ibid.

In other words, the large-scale work is being undertaken to create decent living conditions for the population, improve the business environment, ensure employment through socio-economic development, support active entrepreneurship, and promote innovative ideas and creative potential. For example, the 'Every Family – Entrepreneur' programme²² was adopted.

As noted in the Programme 'Every Family – Entrepreneur,'²³ an analysis of previous efforts to engage the population in entrepreneurship, create jobs, and provide practical assistance to citizens seeking income and managing labour resources had not been sufficient. Therefore, with the support of partner organisations, commercial banks, local authorities and the Ministry of Employment and Labour Relations, large-scale assistance for family entrepreneurship is now being provided under the 'Every Family – Entrepreneur' programme.

The programme aims to improve the living standards of the population. Today, the programme is implemented in all cities and districts of the republic. In this regard, based with another government decision,²⁴ Centres to Support Family Business were established across the country, aimed at attracting more citizens into family-based enterprises.

In summary, the government is making significant efforts to improve the material conditions of citizens and bring about positive changes in the standard and quality of life, ensuring that each family enjoys a stable source of income. These efforts reflect recent and ongoing measures in Uzbekistan to improve the legal and regulatory framework and demonstrate a consistent commitment to expanding cooperation in implementation of international labour standards.

²² Decree of the President of the Republic of Uzbekistan PD-3777 dated 07 June 2018 'On the implementation of the programme «Every family – entrepreneur' Available at: <u>https://lex.uz/docs/3772866</u>

²³ ibid.

²⁴ Decree of the President of the Republic of Uzbekistan PD-55 dated 20 December 2021 'On additional measures for the development of family business and expansion of income sources of population.' Available at: https://lex.uz/ru/docs/5785328

Strengthening Labour Migration Management in Uzbekistan

Acknowledging the growing significance of labour migration and Uzbekistan's commitment to upholding international labour standards, the country became a member of the International Organization for Migration (IOM) in November 2018. This cooperation aims to address practical migration challenges and deliver humanitarian assistance to those in need.

To protect the rights of Uzbek citizens working abroad and support victims of human trafficking, the Ministry of Employment and Labour Relations established the *Fund for Support and Protection of Citizens' Rights and Interests for Performing Work Activities Abroad.*²⁵ The Fund's responsibilities include:

- Legal and Social Protection: Offering assistance to citizens, who have faced violence, forced labour, discrimination, or violation of labour rights abroad, or who find themselves financial hardship or lack identity documents.
- **Medical Assistance:** Covering the medical expenses of citizens injured during labour migration, in cases where they are unable to afford these costs themselves, with subsequent reimbursement by the migrant worker.
- **Repatriation and Transport:** Facilitating the return of deceased citizens' bodies and the repatriation of citizens who have been severely injured during labour activities abroad, as confirmed by relevant state authorities.
- Support for Deported Workers: Arranging the return of citizens deported due to violations of the host country's laws, with subsequent reimbursement of costs, and providing support for those who did not receive the promised employment conditions from foreign employers.
- **Pre-departure Training Centres:** Setting up centres in the regions for predeparture adaptation, vocational training, foreign language education, and professional competency certification for citizens going abroad for work.
- Awareness and Education: Running public information campaigns to promote the organised employment system and reduce irregular labour migration.

²⁵ Decree of the President of the Republic of Uzbekistan PD-3839 dated 05 July 2018 'On additional measures for further improvement of the system of external labour migration of the Republic of Uzbekistan.' Available at: lex.uz/ru/docs/3811333

- Microloans: Offering microloans through commercial banks to cover job placement expenses abroad.
- Insurance Subsidies: Offering one-time subsidies to insurance companies to cover premiums for life and health insurance and other risks during temporary employment outside Uzbekistan.²⁶

As an example, in 2022, more than 308,000 Uzbek labour migrants abroad received various forms of assistance. A total of 1,397 citizens in vulnerable situations were repatriated to Uzbekistan, while \$1.2 million in unpaid wages, compensation, and insurance payments were recovered from foreign employers on behalf of migrant workers (Kun.uz, 2023)

To further support labour migrants, the Agency for External Labour Migration, under the Ministry of Employment and Labour Relations, opened offices in Moscow, Russia, and Gwangju, South Korea, in 2018. These offices serve as hubs for assisting and protecting the rights and interests of Uzbek migrant workers.

An important step in enhancing the protection of Uzbek citizens' rights abroad was the transformation of the National Commission for Combating Trafficking in Persons and Forced Labor. Established in July 30, 2019,²⁷ coordinates the activities of state and territorial bodies, self-governing bodies, and non-governmental organizations in combating human trafficking and forced labour. It is responsible for organising and implementing state programs in these areas, improving national legislation, enforcement practices, and monitoring their implementation.

These efforts reflect significant progress in strengthening institutional frameworks and administrative mechanisms to prevent child labour and forced labour in Uzbekistan.

In addition, on 23 September 2024, a video conference chaired by the country's president addressed measures for further development of the construction industry and building materials production. A new programme 'From Poverty to Prosperity' was launched, which aims to lift 500,000 people out of poverty in 2024 and one million the next year. For the successful implementation of this program, the Ministry of Employment and Labor Relations must be fundamentally restructured and elevated to a new level.

²⁶ ibid.

²⁷ Decree of the President of the Republic of Uzbekistan PD -5775 dated 30 July 2019 «On additional measures for further improvement of the system of combating human trafficking and forced labour» of 30 July 2019. Available at: lex.uz/ru/docs/4616390

As a continuation of these efforts, the Agency for External Labour Migration under the Ministry was transferred under the authority of the Cabinet of Ministers of Uzbekistan in order to maximize the opportunities emerging in the field of external labour migration (President.uz, 2024; Kun.uz, 2024).

Further Steps in Advancing Labour Migration Policy in Uzbekistan

Article 23 of the Constitution of the Republic of Uzbekistan guarantees the protection, legal support, and defence of all its citizens both domestically and abroad.²⁸ To effectively protect the rights of citizens engaged in labour migration, Uzbekistan is committed to further enhancing its national legislation in line with international treaties, which will, in turn, strengthen national institutions in the field of labour migration.

Uzbekistan is currently a member of several international organizations that manage various aspects of labour migration. It is crucial for the country to deepen its cooperation with international organizations such as the International Labour Organisation (ILO) and the International Organisation for Migration (IOM). Uzbekistan should also consider acceding to the ILO Migration Conventions to ensure equal opportunities and treatment for migrant workers.

A major step forward in this area is the Presidential Decree of April 4, 2024, titled «On Additional Measures to Improve Labour Migration Processes and Support for Persons Engaged in Temporary Work Abroad²⁹.²⁹ This decree outlines several transformative measures, including:

- Transformation of the Agency for External Labour Migration: The Agency has now become a government entity. Its director will serve as both the Deputy Minister of Employment and the Head of the Fund for the Support of Migrant Workers.
- Labour Migration Attachés: New positions of 'Attaché for Labour Migration' have been established in Uzbek embassies and consulates in the

²⁸ The Constitution of the Republic of Uzbekistan adopted in 2023. Available at: https://lex.uz/docs/6451070

²⁹ Decree of the President of the Republic of Uzbekistan PD N-59 dated 04 April2024, 'On additional measures to improve labor migration processes and support persons carrying out temporary labor activities abroad' Available at: lex.uz/docs/6868873

UK, Germany, Poland, Hungary, and Japan, and a representative of the agency was also appointed in Saudi Arabia.

- 24-hour Call Centers: These will be set up in embassies and relevant ministries to ensure the prompt resolution of problems faced by citizens abroad.
- Implementation of the 'Working Abroad Starts with *Mahalla*' Principle: Workers and youth leaders in *mahallas* (local community councils) will identify individuals interested in working abroad. Their data will be uploaded to the 'Online-*Mahalla*' platform, and candidates will be invited to recruitment competitions held by foreign employers.
- Vocational and Language Training: For citizens lacking professional skills and language proficiency, vocational training and targeted language education will be provided in vocational institutions. The Agency for External Labour Migration will open a center dedicated to foreign language learning and job preparation.
- State Compensation for Employment Costs: The state will partially cover the costs of work visas, travel, foreign language assessments, and professional qualification evaluations. Citizens obtaining an international language certificate or its equivalent will be reimbursed for 50% of their language learning costs.
- Support for Returning Migrants: Financial assistance and other employment services will be offered to returning migrants, following the example of the Sayhunabad district of Syr-Darya region. Preferential loans will be provided under the 'Continuous Support of Small Business' program.
- Free Medical Examinations: Returning migrants and their families will be eligible for free medical examinations at designated medical facilities.
- Support for Children of Migrant Workers: Special 'Inson' centres will provide social assistance to children whose parents work abroad.
- Employment Subsidies for Migrant Workers: Enterprises employing workers returning from labor migration will receive a monthly subsidy of 500,000 Uzbek sums (approximately US\$ 40) from the Employment Support Fund for each employee for up to one year.

The government of Uzbekistan is actively working to integrate international legal norms into national legislation. For instance, the 1996 'Agreement on Partnership

and Cooperation Establishing a Partnership between the Republic of Uzbekistan and the European Communities and Their Member States^{'30} includes provisions aimed at preventing illegal immigration. Article 72 of the Agreement mandates the repatriation of citizens residing illegally in the territories of the signatory states:

The Member States and the Republic of Uzbekistan agree to cooperate in order to prevent and control illegal immigration. To this end:

the Republic of Uzbekistan agrees to readmit any of its nationals illegally present on the territory of a Member State, upon request by the latter and without further formalities; and

each Member State agrees to readmit any of its nationals, as defined for community purposes, illegally present on the territory of the Republic of Uzbekistan, upon request by the latter and without further formalities.

The Member States and the Republic of Uzbekistan will also provide their nationals with appropriate identity documents for such purposes.³¹

Another example of international cooperation in the field of migration is the agreement signed during the official visit of German Chancellor Olaf Scholz to Uzbekistan on 15-16 September 15-16 2024. This agreement aims to establish a transparent and systematic collaboration between the two countries in the field of readmission and labour migration.

These steps are expected to foster constructive dialogue between Uzbekistan's national institutions and international organisations, further improving the country's labour migration processes and safeguarding the rights of its citizens working abroad.

Conclusion

Uzbekistan continues to play a central role as a key labour-sending country in Central Asia. With over 37.5 million people, the country's growing population—particularly its youthful demographic—places increasing pressure on the domestic

³⁰ Agreement on Partnership and Cooperation establishing a partnership between the Republic of Uzbekistan and the European Communities, and their member states dated June,12, 1996. Available at: https://lex.uz/docs/4557385

³¹ ibid.

labour market and employment infrastructure. This demographic momentum, combined with ongoing socio-economic reforms and structural shifts in the economy, reinforces Uzbekistan's significance in regional migration dynamics. As such, labour migration remains both a necessary outlet for surplus labour and a strategic policy domain linked to economic development, poverty reduction, and international cooperation.

In recent years, the government of Uzbekistan has demonstrated a strong commitment to improving labour migration governance. This has included the adoption of over 40 legislative acts and the implementation of specialised programmes aimed at protecting migrant workers, supporting their families, and strengthening institutional capacity. Efforts have also focused on improving predeparture preparation, expanding vocational and language training, and supporting the reintegration of returnees through financial assistance and employment services.

International cooperation remains a core pillar of Uzbekistan's migration strategy. The country has strengthened bilateral agreements—such as those with Germany and expanded engagement with global institutions, including the International Labour Organization (ILO) and the International Organization for Migration (IOM). These partnerships are vital in promoting decent work, combating irregular migration, and ensuring the rights and safety of Uzbek migrant workers abroad.

Ongoing dialogue between countries of origin, transit, and destination is essential to ensure more equitable, safe, and sustainable migration governance. Uzbekistan's efforts to harmonise national legislation with international standards, develop institutional mechanisms, and promote coordinated regional action illustrate its strategic approach to migration as a driver of development.

In the long term, strengthening labour migration governance will contribute not only to the protection and empowerment of migrants but also to broader social and economic development goals, both nationally and within the wider Central Asian region.

References

- Abdullaeva, S. (2016) Improving efficiency of centralized investments in basic sectors of the economy. Vectors of the development of modern science: materials of the III-d International Scientific and Practical Conference. Ufa, 29-30 January 2016. Ufa: RIO ICZMT, pp.118-122
- Abdullaeva, S. (2018) New guidelines for the development of the banking system of Uzbekistan. *Inov: electronic scientific journal*, 2018. 5 (38). Available at: http://www.innov.ru/science/economy/novye-orientiry-razvitiya-bankovsko
- Abdurahmanov, K., Zokirova, N., Khojayeva, M. (2017) Development of international quality systems. *International economy*. N. 1, pp.35-43.
- Eraliev S. and Heusala A-L. (2021) 'Central Asian female migrants' transnational social spaces: Straddling illegality and tradition', In *Labour, Mobility and Informal Practices in Russia, Central Asia and Eastern Europe* by Turaeva R. and Urinboyev R. (eds.). Routledge, pp. 114-132.
- International Labor Organization (2016) *ILO implementation plan 2030 agenda for sustainable development.* International Labour Organization. Available at: https://www.ilo.org/publications/ilo-implementation-plan-2030-agenda-sustainabledevelopment [Accessed: 25 March 2025]
- Kun.uz (2023) 'In 2022, \$1.2 million in labor migrants' money was recovered' Foreign Labour Migration Agency [*in Uzbek*]. Available at: <u>https://kun.uz/news/2023/01/05/2022-yilda-mehnat-migrantlarining-12-mln-dollarmiqdoridagi-pullari-undirib-berildi-tashqi-mehnat-migratsiyasi-agentligi</u> [Accessed: 25 March 2025]
- Laruelle, M. (ed.) (2013) *Migration and Social Upheaval as the Face of Globalization in Central Asia.* Brill, Social Sciences in Asia series.
- Mirziyoyev, S. (2017) Central Asia: one past and a common future, cooperation for sustainable development and mutual prosperity. 11 November, Samarkand. Available at: https://president.uz/ru/lists/view/1227
- Popkova, M. (2024) Migration statistics in Russia. [*in Russian*] Available at: <u>https://migrantvisa.ru/russia/migraciya/statistika/</u> [Accessed: 25 March 2025]
- President.uz (2024). *Current issues in the construction sector discussed*. Press-Service of the President of Uzbekistan. Available at: https://president.uz/en/lists/view/7564 [Accessed: 27 September 2025]
- Tochno (2023) In 2023, the influx of migrants to Russia fell to its minimum values [*in Russian*]. Available at: <u>https://tochno.st/materials/v-2023-godu-pritok-migrantov-v-rossiiu-upal-do-minimalnyx-znacenii-eto-mozet-stat-uze-cetvertoi-volnoi-spada-migracii-s-konca-2000-x-no-poka-ona-mense-cem-ozidalos</u> [Accessed: 25 March 2025]

Turaeva R. (2016) Migration and identity in Central Asia: the Uzbek experience. Routledge

- Urinboyev R. (2020) Migration and hybrid political regimes: Navigating the legal landscape in *Russia*. University of California Press.
- Zokirova, N. (2013). Intellectual capital in the innovative economy of Uzbekistan. *Science and practice*. N. 3 (11), pp.35-38
- Shukurov, A. (2023) In 2023 the inflow of migrants to Russia dropped till minimum. [*In Russian*] Available at: https://tochno.st/materials/v-2023-godu-pritok-migrantov-v-rossiiu-upal-do-minimalnyx-znacenii-eto-mozet-stat-uze-cetvertoi-volnoi-spada-migracii-s-konca-2000-x-no-poka-ona-mense-cem-ozidalos [Accessed: 25 March 2025]

Labour Migration Processes in Uzbekistan

Ortikkhuja Norov³²

Introduction

Labour migration in independent Uzbekistan has evolved significantly since 1991, following the country's separation from the former USSR. In the early years of independence, the transition to a market economy widespread unemployment, and declining living standards prompted a significant portion of the working-age population to seek employment abroad. The Russian Federation and Kazakhstan naturally emerged as the most accessible and significant labour markets for Uzbek migrants, as they required no visas, language proficiency, or specialised skills. In subsequent years, Turkey and South Korea were added to this list as increasingly attractive destinations.

Over the past 30 years, the flow of labour migration from Uzbekistan to foreign countries has not only continued but intensified. The geography of migration has gradually expanded to include the Gulf countries, parts of Europe, North America, and East Asia. However, even today, the Russian Federation remains the primary labour market for Uzbek migrants.

This chapter examines the main trends, demographic drivers, labour market mismatches, and policy responses shaping Uzbekistan's labour migration. It draws on recent statistics and government documents to provide an overview of migration dynamics, focusing on employment opportunities abroad, state regulation, and the impact of migration on Uzbekistan's development strategy.

³² PhD candidate at Journalism & Mass Communications University of Uzbekistan and former presssecretary of the External Labour Migration Agency of Uzbekistan. Email: <u>oin.uzb@gmail.com</u>

Several factors contribute to the emigration of Uzbek citizens for work abroad. First, demographic growth remains a key driver. The population of Uzbekistan has grown from 20.6 million in 1991to 37.1 million in 2024 (UzAnalytics, 2019; UzStat, 2024a). Approximately 60% of the population is of working age (CBU, 2024a).

In 2024, over 414,600 young people graduated from secondary school in Uzbekistan (UzStat, 2024b). Additionally, there were almost one million births recorded in 2023 (UzStat, 2025). This means that for the last several years, approximately 500,000 individuals enter the domestic labour market annually. It is projected that this figure could reach one million in 10 years. In other words, the mismatch between demographic growth and the creation of new jobs has compelled many citizens to seek employment opportunities abroad.

Second, environmental factors are exacerbating economic hardship in certain regions. and degradation, water scarcity, desertification, and the shrinking of arable land—particularly in the northern (Karakalpakstan and Khorezm regions) and southern provinces (Kashkadarya and Surkhandarya regions)—have reduced agricultural productivity and income. As a result, residents of these areas are increasingly turning to international labour migration as a survival and livelihood strategy (Blondin, 2018, Andreeva et al., 2022).

Together, these demographic and environmental trends are placing sustained pressure on Uzbekistan's labour market, reinforcing labour migration as a structural feature of the country's socio-economic landscape.

Main destinations for Uzbek labour migrants

With the increasing number of working-age population in Uzbekistan, the number of citizens seeking employment abroad also grows. Interestingly, the proportion of these numbers remains relatively constant at around 10-11% of the total population. In other words, approximately one in every ten individuals active in the labour market in Uzbekistan leaves the country each year in search of work opportunities.

Accurately determining the total number of Uzbek labour migrants is challenging. One reason is the prevalence of short-term and circular migration, particularly among residents of border regions who travel to neighbouring countries for work periods ranging from one day to a few months. These short-term engagements are typically not captured in national migration statistics, which tend to record only those who remain abroad for more than three months. Additionally, the volume and direction of labour migration are highly variable, influenced by shifts in economic conditions, migration policies in destination countries, and seasonal demand for labour. At present, there is no unified system in place for comprehensively tracking all Uzbek citizens engaged in temporary employment abroad, further complicating the picture.

Despite these limitations, existing data and remittance flows provide a relatively clear picture of the most popular destination countries. Uzbek labour migrants most frequently travel to Russia, Kazakhstan, South Korea, Turkey, the United States, the United Arab Emirates, and Israel. Notably, nearly 95% of total remittances sent to Uzbekistan originate from these countries, underscoring their importance not only as host states for migrant workers but also as vital contributors to the national economy through remittance inflows.

Russia as the main labour market for Uzbek migrants

Historically, Russia has been the most significant destination for Uzbek labour migrants due to cultural familiarity, visa-free access, and a long-standing reliance on foreign workers, particularly in construction, retail, and service sectors. However, while the demographic pressure within Uzbekistan continues to increase, the flow of Uzbek labour migrants to Russia has shown signs of decline in recent years. This shift can be analysed across **four key phases**:

First phase: In 2014, an estimated 3 to 4 million Uzbek citizens were residing and working in Russia. That year alone, approximately one million Uzbek citizens arrived in Russia for work. However, this number decreased to 850,000 in 2015. This decline can be explained by the depreciation of the Russian ruble following the economic sanctions imposed on Russia after its annexation of Crimea in March 2014 (Eraliev and Urinboyev, 2020). The resulting economic downturn affected multiple sectors, especially services and manufacturing, leading to reduced employment opportunities for migrants. (*March 2014: US\$ 1 = 36 rubles, December 2024: US\$ 1 = 68 rubles.*)

Second phase: In 2015, Russia introduced the *patent system* in 2015, which requires citizens of visa-free countries (including Uzbekistan) to obtain a work permit (patent) to be employed legally. While the system aimed to streamline labour migration, it placed additional bureaucratic burdens on workers—especially those with limited Russian language skills or access to official information—thus making migration more difficult for many.

Third phase: Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, the number of Uzbek citizens temporarily employed in Russia had reached 1.6 million. However, pandemic-related restrictions and lockdowns led to significant economic disruption and mass return migration. At the same time, the Uzbek government increased investment in domestic employment, particularly in the construction sector, creating new job opportunities and encouraging some workers to stay or return home. As of January 2021, the number of Uzbek labour migrants in Russia had declined to around 1.3 million (Kun.uz, 2021).

According to the estimates of the External Labour Migration Agency of Uzbekistan, by the end of 2020, the number of Uzbek labour migrants in all foreign countries decreased by approximately 800,000 compared to the previous year. The decline was primarily due to the pandemic (Kun.uz 2021).

Fourth phase: Russia's full-scale invasion of Ukraine in February 2022 led to another sharp decline in labour migration during the initial months of the war. The uncertainty, economic sanctions, and mobilisation campaigns in Russia created significant risks and instability for foreign workers. While some migration flows resumed later in 2023 and 2024, the overall trend has been a steady decline (Heusala and Eraliev, 2024; Oshchepkov et al., 2024).

The decline in Uzbek labour migration to Russia has also been influenced by worsening anti-migrant sentiments, bureaucratic hurdles in obtaining or renewing work permits, and more frequent inspections and enforcement actions targeting migrant workers. Moreover, changes in Russian migration legislation and public attitudes have further complicated the experience for Central Asian migrants.

In conclusion, while Uzbekistan's demographic growth remains high and the domestic labour market struggles to absorb all new entrants, the flow of labour migration to Russia is decreasing (Table 1). At the same time, Uzbek labour migrants are increasingly diversifying their destinations, with growing numbers seeking employment in a wider range of countries beyond the post-Soviet space.

Year	Number of labour migrants*
Up to 2016	3-6 million
2019	1.6 million
2020	1.5 million
2021	1.3 million
2022	1.2 million
2023	1.1 million

Table 1. The number of Uzbek labour migrants in Russia³³

³³ Based on the data from the External Labour Migration Agency, developed by the author

2024		1 million
1011	1 12.2	

*Subject to seasonal, political, economic, and legal changes

Diversification of labour migration destinations

In recent years, the destinations for Uzbek labour migrants have become increasingly diverse. While a large share of Uzbek citizens still migrate for work to neighbouring and traditional partner countries, recent shifts indicate gradual diversification in both destination and sector. Currently, many Uzbeks work, study, and reside in various countries across the world, both temporarily and on a long-term basis. A comparison of labour migration data over recent years reveals significant changes in destination patterns.

By the end of 2019, more than 1.9 million Uzbek citizens were engaged in temporary labour activities in foreign abroad. Among them:

- 77.1% were in the Russian Federation,
- 10.9% in the Republic of Kazakhstan,
- 3.3% in the Republic of Korea,
- 2.3% in the Republic of Turkey,
- 0.3% in the United Arab Emirates,
- and the remaining share in other countries.

By the end of 2023, while the overall number of labour migrants remained similar at over 1.9 million, their distribution had shifted:

- 59.7% were in the Russian Federation,
- 9.7% in Kazakhstan,
- 5.7% in Turkey,
- 3.4% in South Korea,
- 1.4% in the United Arab Emirates,
- and the rest spread across countries such as Poland, the United States, Israel, and several EU member states.³⁴

³⁴ Based on the data from the External Labour Migration Agency, developed by the authors
These figures reflect a gradual decrease in dependence on Russia as the dominant destination, paralleled by an increasing share of migration to Turkey, South Korea, and Gulf and Western countries.

It is worth noting that the number of Uzbek labour migrants is highly dynamic and can fluctuate due to seasonal labour demand, changes in visa regimes, and the economic, legal, and political situation in the host destination countries.

Government's role in labour migration

The Government of Uzbekistan has taken a proactive approach to addressing labour migration by prioritising its diversification and formalisation. In recent years, a series of strategic decisions at both presidential and government levels have focused on expanding and streamlining official channels for overseas employment. These efforts aim not only to increase the number of citizens working abroad through legal means, but also to enhance the skills and preparedness of migrant workers to better align with international labour market demands.³⁵

To support these goals, the government has established an extensive infrastructure for training and pre-departure preparation. This includes:

- Nearly 30 'Ishga Marhamat' (Welcome to Work) monocentres,
- 59 vocational training centres under the Ministry of Poverty Reduction and Employment,
- 55 short-term vocational training courses overseen by the Ministry of Higher Education, Science and Innovation,
- 13 specialised centres for training skilled professionals in the construction sector,
- As well as numerous programmes delivered through ministries, agencies, and non-governmental educational institutions.

These facilities offer practical training in professional skills and foreign languages based on the needs of destination countries. Citizens planning to work abroad can choose programmes tailored to specific sectors and learn the language of their

³⁵ Note that legal aspects of these government-supported labour migration in Uzbekistan are analysed in the previous chapter.

intended destination. For low-income individuals, the training is provided free of charge, and participants receive stipends during their studies.

Language and cultural training programmes have been significantly expanded through international partnerships. Notably:

- German language courses are offered in collaboration with Swiss and German organisations such as *GLOBOGATE* (Switzerland), *Nova Agency, Techno Consult,* and *CBZ Munich* (Germany).
- Japanese language, culture, and hospitality service training is conducted in cooperation with *Nippon Educational Academy, AOIKAI Japan,* and *Yume* centres.
- Korean language and culture programmes are delivered through partnerships with the King Sejong Institute in South Korea.

Importantly, citizens who successfully complete these programmes—organised in close collaboration with foreign employers—are guaranteed job placements abroad. These targeted efforts reflect the state's commitment to both protecting its citizens and ensuring their economic empowerment through safe and structured migration pathways.

Support system for Uzbek labour migrants abroad

Given the mismatch between Uzbekistan's rapid demographic growth and the pace of job creation, a segment of the working-age population is compelled to seek employment abroad. In recognition of this reality, and acknowledging that it cannot yet fully absorb all jobseekers domestically, the government of Uzbekistan has taken active steps to support those who pursue work opportunities overseas.

A comprehensive support system has been established to provide legal, financial, and social assistance to Uzbek labour migrants abroad. The forms of support currently available include:

- Up to US\$ 3,000 is allocated to cover the services of attorneys, legal service providers, or law enforcement bodies engaged in defending the rights of Uzbek labour migrants in host countries.
- Labour migrants left without shelter or financial means abroad may receive up to US\$ 300 to cover hostel or hotel expenses.

- The cost of economy-class airline tickets or train tickets (third-class sleeper) for repatriation to Uzbekistan is covered at rates determined by the relevant transport companies.
- Migrants facing hardship abroad may receive emergency financial aid equivalent to twice the minimum wage (approximately US\$ 30 as of October 2024).
- Partial or full reimbursement of medical costs, including urgent care, is available for labour migrants abroad—up to US\$ 1,500.
- Transportation expenses for citizens returning to Uzbekistan due to serious illness or injury, including their minor children, are covered in coordination with transport companies. If needed, mobile emergency medical teams are provided.
- The cost of a medical worker accompanying the repatriated citizen including transportation, accommodation, and daily subsistence—is reimbursed according to official norms.
- Up to US\$ 1,000 is allocated for preparing the body of a deceased migrant for return to Uzbekistan, including customs-related services.
- The full cost of transporting a deceased citizen's body back to Uzbekistan is covered, based on the rates of the transport companies.
- In cases involving the seriously ill or injured, the full travel costs for returning to Uzbekistan are also paid.

In addition to the above, all associated costs for returning injured or seriously ill citizens and their minor children to Uzbekistan—including the cost of any accompanying medical staff—are fully borne by the state. These measures reflect Uzbekistan's broader commitment to the safety, dignity, and well-being of its citizens abroad, and to improving labour migration governance in line with international standards.

Further government plans in labour migration

In parallel, the government has developed plans to train citizens wishing to work abroad in the languages and professions that are in high demand in destination countries, before facilitating their employment abroad. For example, according to Presidential Decree of the Republic of Uzbekistan in April 2024, it is planned to organise the employment of 150,000 citizens abroad in 2024, 200,000 in 2025, and 250,000 in 2026.³⁶

Responsibility for implementing these tasks lies with the External Labour Migration Agency—the sole state organisation in the country operating in the field of labour migration.

For reference, the External Labour Migration Agency has branches in all regions of the republic and representative offices in Russia, South Korea, Kazakhstan, and Turkey. Additionally, new representative offices were planned to open in Japan, the United Kingdom, Germany, and Saudi Arabia during 2024-2025.

Furthermore, 16 key documents concerning labour migration have been adopted including two laws of the Republic of Uzbekistan, one presidential decree, nine presidential resolutions, and four resolutions of the Cabinet of Ministers. Together, these form a regulatory and legal framework introducing both long-term and shortterm reforms and new policy instruments.

Pensions for labour migrants

In Uzbekistan, government-organised employment abroad has been equated with types of activities permitted for self-employed individuals. As a result, the same procedures for tax payments and pension calculations that apply to the self-employed are now applied to those working abroad. To ensure that labour migrants' activities are recorded in their official employment history, the required payment has been set at four and a half times the minimum wage (equivalent to approximately US\$ 30 as of October 2024).

This arrangement enables citizens who have worked abroad to qualify for state pensions upon reaching retirement age.

Organised labour migration

It is worth noting that, for many years, opportunities for officially going abroad for work through official channels were limited in Uzbekistan. Until 2018, only the External Labour Migration Agency held the exclusive authority to send citizens to

³⁶ Decree of the President of the Republic of Uzbekistan PD N-59 dated 04 April2024, 'On additional measures to improve labour migration processes and support persons carrying out temporary labour activities abroad' Available at: lex.uz/docs/6868873

work overseas. However, with the adoption of the Law 'On private employment agencies' in 2018, this authority was extended to the private sector as well.

In 2018, the External Labour Migration Agency facilitated the employment of **3**,541 citizens abroad. From 2019 onwards, private employment agencies also began sending citizens to work abroad, operating alongside the Agency. Thus, in 2019, **4**,392 citizens were sent, in 2020 *(the year of the COVID pandemic)*, **10**,272 citizens, in 2021, **109**,155 citizens, in 2022, **35**,817 citizens, in 2023 and in 2024, 162,000 citizens were officially sent abroad for work.³⁷ As illustrated in Table 2, there has been a significant change in the geographical distribution of destination countries for Uzbek labour migrants.

Years	Number of citizens sent abroad	Sent counties
2018	3,541	Russia, South Korea, Turkey, Bulgaria, and Poland
2019	4,392	Russia, South Korea, Kazakhstan, Japan, Turkey, Latvia, Lithuania, Bulgaria, Poland, Germany, United Kingdom, Croatia, UAE, Belorussia, Estonia, Qatar, Israel, Ukraine, Greece, Oman, Portugal, Czech Republic, and USA
2020	10,272	Russia, South Korea, Kazakhstan, Japan, Turkey, Lithuania, Bulgaria, Poland, Saudi Arabia, Croatia, UAE, Qatar, Ukraine, and Tajikistan
2021	109,155	Russia, South Korea, Kazakhstan, Turkey, Latvia, Lithuania, Bulgaria, Poland, Saudi Arabia, Germany, UAE, Qatar, Israel, Oman, Slovakia, and Azerbaijan
2022	35,817	Russia, South Korea, Kazakhstan, Japan, Turkey, Latvia, Bulgaria, Poland, Saudi Arabia, Germany, United Kingdom, Croatia, UAE, Qatar, Israel, and Serbia
2023	38,401	Russia, South Korea, United Kingdom, Kazakhstan, Germany, Turkey, Lithuania, Japan, UAE, Poland, Saudi Arabia, Hungary, Romania, Bulgaria, and Latvia
2024	162,000	Russia, South Korea, United Kingdom, Kazakhstan, Germany, Turkey, Lithuania, Japan, UAE, Poland, Belarus, Latvia, Bulgaria, Romania, Slovenia, Serbia, and Croatia

Table 2. Citizens sent abroad for work organized from Uzbekistan³⁸

To illustrate how organised labour migration is implemented in practice, we now turn to the example of the Republic of Korea—one of the key destination countries where the Uzbek government operates through official channels.

³⁷ Based on the data from the External Labour Migration Agency, developed by the author.

³⁸ Based on the data from the External Labour Migration Agency, developed by the author.

In accordance with the bilateral agreement between Uzbekistan and the Republic of Korea, the Agency for External Labour Migration is the sole organisation authorised to send citizens to South Korea for employment under the E-9 non-professional work visa through an organised process.

In cooperation with the Human Resources Development Service of the Republic of Korea, the Agency conducts selection processes—including Korean language and skills assessments—for healthy citizens aged between 18-39. Candidates who successfully pass these evaluations, and who fall within the annual quotas allocated by South Korea, are sent to work on a contractual basis for a period of 4 years and 10 months.

Years	Number of citizens officially sent to work abroad	
2014	2660	
2015	2718	
2016	2446	
2017	2632	
2018	2251	
2019	1717	
2020	242	
2021	1532	
2022	4901	
2023	4882	
2024	3080	

Table 3. Citizens sent to work in the Republic of Korea in an organized manner³⁹

The data reflect a steady increase in the number of labour migrants sent to South Korea in recent years, following the disruptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020.

It is important to note, however, that the actual number of Uzbek citizens working in South Korea is significantly higher than the figures sent through official channels. According to estimates, there are approximately 90,000 Uzbeks currently residing in South Korea (IOM, 2024). This discrepancy can be explained by the longstanding bilateral labour agreements between the two countries dating back to the 1990s, as well as the presence of a sizeable ethnic Korean diaspora in Uzbekistan, which has historically facilitated mobility and community ties.

³⁹ Based on the data from the External Labour Migration Agency, developed by the author.

The economic impact of labour migration on Uzbekistan

The contribution of Uzbek labour migrants to the national economy is substantial and remains a vital component of the country's economic stability. Remittances sent by migrants working abroad play a key role in supporting household income, reducing poverty, and contributing to macroeconomic resilience (Seitz, 2019).

According to data from the Central Bank of the Republic of Uzbekistan, crossborder money transfers from foreign countries to Uzbekistan have consistently accounted for a significant share of the country's income from abroad (Table 4). These remittances provide not only direct support to families but also stimulate local consumption, small business development, and investment in education and housing.

Years	Volume of Remittances (in US\$)	Growth/Decline Dynamics
2020	6 billion ⁴⁰	-
2021	8,1 billion ⁴¹	34% (growth)
2022	16,9 billion ⁴²	108% (growth)
2023	11,4 billion ⁴³	67% (decline)
2024	14,8 billion ⁴⁴	30% (growth)

Table 4. Remittances from labour migrants to Uzbekistan, 2020-2024

The expansion in the geography of labour migration has contributed to the relative decline in the share of remittances from Russian labour migrants to Uzbekistan within the total remittances from foreign countries. At the end of 2022, Russia accounted for nearly 87% of total remittances, but this figure fell to 78% in 2023.

It is also worth noting that remittances from labour migrants constitute approximately 10% of Uzbekistan's gross domestic product (GDP) on average

⁴⁰ Central Bank of Uzbekistan: <u>https://cbu.uz/ru/press_center/reviews/584766/</u>

⁴¹ Central Bank of Uzbekistan: <u>https://cbu.uz/ru/press_center/reviews/584766/</u>

⁴² Central Bank of Uzbekistan: <u>https://cbu.uz/oz/press_center/reports/847193/</u>

⁴³ Central Bank of Uzbekistan: <u>https://cbu.uz/upload/iblock/8c0/865m871aqmzogyjg74e5k5rl7mglwpw9/Uz_MPR_2023Q4_0</u> <u>5.02.24-kiril.pdf</u>

⁴⁴ Central Bank of Uzbekistan: <u>https://cbu.uz/upload/iblock/fa2/bosg9g712b0257ovp9z2t937n063neyh/ZHismoniy-sharkh-2024.pdf</u>

annually over the past fifteen years, underscoring their macroeconomic significance (World Bank, 2025).

In practice, some Uzbek labour migrants transfer money home through informal channels—such as handing over cash to entrepreneurs engaged in importing goods into Uzbekistan. When these informal flows are taken into account, the actual volume of remittances is likely to be even higher than reported figures suggest.

Conclusion

The information presented in this chapter highlights several key dynamics in Uzbekistan's evolving labour migration landscape. While demographic pressures continue to mount due to steady population growth, the number of citizens migrating abroad for work has declined in recent years. This trend suggests a potential shift influenced by state policies, socio-economic factors, and changing labour market demands, both domestically and internationally.

At the same time, the geographical scope of labour migration from Uzbekistan has broadened. Although Russia remains the primary destination for most Uzbek labour migrants, an increasing number are seeking employment opportunities in a more diverse range of countries. This reflects both the growing mobility of Uzbek workers and the government's concerted efforts to establish bilateral agreements and representative offices in new destination countries.

The structural imbalance between the expanding working-age population and the limited capacity of the domestic labour market continues to drive international labour migration. Many individuals, particularly youth, find themselves unable to secure employment at home, leading them to pursue work abroad as a necessary livelihood strategy.

In response to these challenges, the Uzbek government has taken active steps to enhance and formalise labour migration processes. These include policy reforms, institutional strengthening, and the expansion of training programmes and support mechanisms for prospective migrants. Special emphasis has been placed on promoting organised labour migration through both state and licensed private channels to ensure safer, more transparent, and legally protected pathways for employment abroad.

Efforts have also been directed at diversifying migration destinations beyond traditional corridors. While this diversification strategy is still in its early stages, it

represents an important policy direction aimed at reducing dependency on any single country, improving the resilience of labour migration flows, and aligning with broader geopolitical and economic goals.

Finally, the chapter underscores the vital role that labour migrants play in sustaining Uzbekistan's economy. Their financial contributions, primarily through remittances, not only support the livelihoods of individual households but also stimulate broader economic activity. These transfers bolster domestic consumption, facilitate investments in education, healthcare, and housing, and contribute significantly to national economic stability. In sum, labour migration remains a central feature of Uzbekistan's socio-economic development and continues to shape the country's integration into the global labour market.

References

- Andreeva O., Sebentsov A., Kust G., Kolosov V. (2022) The nexus between land degradation, climate change and migration in Central Asia. The United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification (UNCCD) Report. Available at: <u>https://www.unccd.int/sites/default/files/2023-</u>08/Study%20migration%20Central%20Asia%20full%20ENG.pdf [Accessed: 26 March 2025].
- Blondin, S. (2018) 'Environmental migrations in Central Asia: a multifaceted approach to the issue', *Central Asian Survey*, 38(2), pp. 275–292. doi: 10.1080/02634937.2018.1519778
- Central Bank of Uzbekistan (2024a) Overview of the Labour Market in Uzbekistan for 2023 [in Russian]. Available at: <u>https://cbu.uz/ru/monetary-policy/analysis/1570575/</u> [Accessed: 26 March 2025].
- Central Bank of Uzbekistan (2024) Cross-border remittances and economic trends. Available at: <u>https://cbu.uz/en</u> [Accessed: 25 March 2025].
- Eraliev, S. and Urinboyev R. (2020) 'Precarious times for Central Asian migrants in Russia', *Current History*, 119(819): pp. 258–263. doi: 10.1525/curh.2020.119.819.258
- Gazeta.uz (2024) 'Remittances from Uzbek migrants rise in 2024', *Gazeta.uz*, 25 July. Available at: <u>https://www.gazeta.uz/uz/2024/07/25/money-transfers/</u> [Accessed: 25 March 2025].
- Heusala, A-L. and Eraliev S. (2024) 'Russia's war in Ukraine: The development of Russian illiberalism and migration in Central Asia'. In *Global Migration and Illiberalism Russia, Eurasia, and Eastern Europe*, A-L Heusala, Aitamurto K. and Eraliev, S. (eds.). Helsinki: Helsinki University Press, pp. 287–313.

- IOM (2024) Uzbekistan migration situation report: April-June 2024. International Organization for Migration. Available at: <u>https://dtm.iom.int/sites/g/files/tmzbdl1461/files/reports/Uzbekistan%20%E2%80%</u> 94%20Migration%20Situation%20Report%20%28April-June%202024%29.pdf [Accessed: 28 March 2025].
- Kun.uz (2021) 'The official explained the misunderstandings regarding the number of migrants abroad.' 29 May. Available at: https://kun.uz/kr/99461882?q=%2F99461882 [Accessed: 26 March 2025].
- Oshchepkov, A., Tilekeyev K. and Gerry C. (2024) *How war in Ukraine has shaped migration flows in Central Asia.* University of Central Asia, Policy Brief No. 1. Available at: <u>https://ucentralasia.org/media/psdnh1p1/pbmigration-flow-change-incentral-asia-en.pdf</u> [Accessed: 26 March 2025].
- Seitz, W.H. (2019) International migration and household well-being: Evidence from Uzbekistan. Policy Research Working Paper, No. WPS 8910. Available at: <u>http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/615721561125387061</u> [Accessed: 26 March 2025].
- UzAnalytics (2019) *Economic graphics and analysis*. Available at: <u>https://www.uzanalytics.com/iqtisodi%D0%B5t/graphics/4527/</u> [Accessed: 25 July 2024].
- UzStat (2024a) Demographic situation in the Republic of Uzbekistan (January–March 2024). National Statistics Committee of Uzbekistan. Available at: <u>https://stat.uz/uz/matbuot-markazi/qo-mita-yangiliklar/55409-o-zbekiston-</u> respublikasining-demografik-holati-2024-yil-yanvar-mart-2 [Accessed: 25 July 2024].
- UzStat (2024b) More than 414 thousand 11th-grade students graduate from school. National Statistics Committee of Uzbekistan. Available at: <u>https://stat.uz/en/press-center/news-of-committee/53971-414-mingdan-ortiq-11-sinf-o-quvchilari-maktabni-tamomlamoqda-3</u> [Accessed: 26 March 2025].
- UzStat (2025) Demographic situation in the Republic of Uzbekistan (January–September 2024). National Statistics Committee of Uzbekistan Available at: https://stat.uz/en/press-center/news-of-committee/59639-demographic-situation-in-the-republic-of-uzbekistan-4 [Accessed: 26 March 2025].
- World Bank (2025) 'Personal remittances, received (% of GDP) Uzbekistan'. Available at:

https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/BX.TRF.PWKR.DT.GD.ZS?end=2023&locati ons=UZ&start=2005 [Accessed: 28 March 2025].

Migration and Remittances in Turkmenistan

Yolbars Kepbanov⁴⁵

Introduction

Remittances represent household income received from foreign countries, mainly as a result of temporary or permanent relocation of people to those countries. They include both cash and non-cash transfers received through formal channels, such as electronic transactions, as well as informal methods, like the physical transportation of money or goods across borders. These diverse forms of remittance enable individuals to send financial support to their families or communities, utilising both regulated financial systems and less formal, personal means of transfer. As a crucial source of income for many migrant families, remittances contribute significantly to poverty alleviation. The reduction of costs and barriers associated with remittance transfers, as well as improvements in regulatory frameworks, can enhance the efficiency and accessibility of formal remittance channels (IMF, 2009).

The Government of Turkmenistan has implemented measures to address the problems associated with remittances. As a financial service provided by credit organizations, remittances constitute a fundamental component of the national banking system. The State Program for the Development of the Banking System of Turkmenistan until 2030 aims to modernize financial infrastructure, expand non-cash transactions, and integrate digital banking solutions.

Additionally, the Program for the Development of Economic, Financial, and Banking Systems of Turkmenistan (2019-2025) and the Concept of Digital Economy Development (2019-2025) facilitate the adoption of innovative financial technologies and the enhancement of the country's payment system.

⁴⁵ Deputy director, 'Tebigy Kuwwat' Public Association, Turkmenistan. Email: <u>kepbanov@mail.ru</u>

Furthermore, financial literacy programmes have been introduced to help citizens better understand digital banking services and the importance of remittance transfers through secure, formal channels. These initiatives seek to increase awareness of international banking policies, minimise fraud risks, and encourage financial independence among remittance recipients.

Data and Methods

This chapter reviews official statistical data, migration trends, and national legislation related to remittances in Turkmenistan. The research examines various money transfer systems, including international services such as Western Union, Visa, and MasterCard, as well as domestic banking institutions and financial service providers involved in remittance transactions.

A qualitative analysis of government policies and legal frameworks regulating remittance flows is conducted to assess their effectiveness in ensuring financial security, efficiency, and accessibility.

By integrating statistical data, policy analysis, and financial system evaluations, this chapter provides a comprehensive overview of remittance flows in Turkmenistan, their economic impact, and the effectiveness of national policies in facilitating secure and efficient transactions.

Main results

Money transfers by citizens of Turkmenistan, provided as a service by credit organizations, are an important component of the banking operations within the country's payment system. These transfers facilitate financial transactions and contribute to the overall functioning of the financial sector. The regulation and development of remittances are primarily guided by national legislation, which serves as the legal framework for managing and securing the flow of remittances. These policies ensure remittances operate securely and efficiently within Turkmenistan's financial system.

Legal and Regulatory Framework

Analysis of the legislation in the field of remittances shows that Turkmenistan has established a comprehensive legal framework governing these financial transactions. Remittances are subject to legal regulation both at the level of laws and by-laws, as well as agency agreements concluded with international financial organizations.

National legislation on remittances is categorised into general and special legislation based on its content. General legislation provides the legal foundation for the development of the remittance system as a whole. This includes, first and foremost, the Civil Code and laws such as On the Central Bank of Turkmenistan, On Credit Institutions and Banking Activity, On Currency Regulation and Currency Control in Foreign Economic Relations, among others.

Special legislation builds upon these fundamental laws and is typically regulated through by-laws issued by the Cabinet of Ministers and the Central Bank of Turkmenistan, including resolutions, regulations, and orders. This legislation governs the activities of banking institutions in conducting financial operations, establishes guarantees for secure money transfers, and outlines citizens' rights to open and manage bank accounts.

The Credit Institutions and Banking Act (2011) defines the legal status of the country's banks (credit institutions) and establishes their activities to carry out banking operations and transactions, open and maintain bank accounts for clients, including citizens, and carry out other banking operations. Thus, according to the Law, a bank is a credit institution, which is granted the exclusive right to attract funds from individuals and legal entities, place them in its own name and at its own expense on the terms of repayment, payment and urgency, open and maintain bank accounts of legal entities and individuals, as well as perform other banking operations. Legislation defines the activities of banking institutions to carry out banking operations, establishes guarantees to ensure money transfers of citizens, their ability to open bank accounts.

The Law defines banking activity as the activity of credit institutions in banking operations and transactions. The Law defines banking operations as: attracting monetary funds of individuals and legal entities into deposits; opening and maintaining bank accounts of individuals and legal entities; providing settlement and (or) cash services to individuals and legal entities; transferring funds on behalf of individuals without opening bank accounts; issuing bank plastic cards and (or) acquiring (Law of Turkmenistan on Credit Institutions and Banking Activity, 2011).

The Currency Regulation and Currency Control in Foreign Economic Relations Act (2011) establishes the right of Turkmen citizens to carry out currency transactions, open accounts (deposits) and carry out transactions on accounts (deposits) without restrictions, unless the currency regulation authorities, in accordance with the currency legislation of Turkmenistan, establish a procedure for carrying out currency transactions and a procedure for the use of accounts (deposits).

Citizens may open foreign currency accounts (deposits) with authorised credit institutions in accordance with the procedure established by the Central Bank of Turkmenistan. Maintenance of residents' foreign currency accounts (deposits) by authorized credit institutions is carried out on the basis of a contract, unless otherwise established by law. The authorized credit institutions open foreign currency accounts (deposits) without restrictions for individuals who are citizens of Turkmenistan. Holders of currency accounts (deposits) may perform operations on them either personally or through an authorized person in accordance with the legislation of Turkmenistan.

Citizens may conduct transactions through their foreign currency accounts (deposits) in any foreign currency, with exchange operations carried out at the market rate agreed upon with an authorized credit institution. Outside Turkmenistan, they have the right to make payments and transfer funds for currency transactions through accounts (deposits) held in foreign credit institutions without restrictions, unless otherwise stipulated by Turkmenistan's currency legislation (Law of Turkmenistan on Currency Regulation and Currency Control in Foreign Economic Relations, 2011).

Data on Migration Trends

To fully analyse remittances in Turkmenistan, it is important to have information on population migration. Migration statistics in Turkmenistan are scarce, but foreign data sources provide insights into migration trends.

Turkmenistan's population consists of over 7 million people according to the 2022 population census (TurkmenStat 2022). 57% of the population is of working age with the median age projected to reach 35.2 years by 2040 (Heleniak and Canagarajah, 2013). This is a relatively balanced indicator, typical for countries with stable demographics.

According to the data of the Main Department for Migration Issues of the Ministry of Internal Affairs of the Russian Federation, in 2020, 83,838 citizens of Turkmenistan were registered in Russia at the place of stay, including 43,784 citizens

- for the first time. Of these, 2,456 came for tourism, 29,293 for study, 3,906 for work, 3,632 for employment, and 4,497 for other purposes.

Citizens of Turkmenistan represent one of the largest migrant groups in Türkiye. According to official Turkish data, as of March 2025, there were approximately 120,000 Turkmen citizens holding long-term residence permits and over 50,000 with short term residence permits, making them the largest Central Asian migrant group in Türkiye (PMM, 2025b). Between 2022 and 2024, Turkish authorities apprehended approximately 50,000 undocumented migrants annually (PMM, 2025a). According to other sources, 8,003 Turkmen citizens arrived in Turkey in 2019, including 52,146 men (65.2%) and 27,857 women (34.8%), while 14067 Turkmen citizens left, including 6,334 men (45%) and 7733 women (55%) (Centre for Migration Research, 2024).

Year	Net Migration Rate	Growth Rate
2024	- 0.635	- 1.090%
2023	- 0.642	- 6.410%
2022	- 0.686	- 6.030%
2021	- 0.730	- 5.680%
2020	- 0.774	- 5.380%
2019	- 0.818	- 5.100%
2018	- 0.862	- 19.060%
2017	- 1.065	- 16.010%
2016	- 1.268	- 13.860%
2015	- 1.472	- 12.120%
2014	- 1.675	- 10.810%
2013	-1.878	- 6.666%
2012	- 2.012	- 6.240%

Table 1. Turkmenistan – Historical Net Migration Rate Data

Source: Macrotrends, 2024

As shown in Table 1, the level of migration from Turkmenistan has been decreasing over the past 12 years. In 2012, the net migration rate was -2.012 per 1,000 people, while in 2024, this figure was 0.635 per 1,000 people. The primary reason for such decline in migration flows is the government's measures to restrict the departure of illegal migrants from the country. A notable example of this is the cancellation of Turkmenistan's visa-free regime with the Republic of Türkiye in September 2022. The Turkmen government requested Türkiye to implement a temporary visa regime with various categories for Turkmen citizens. According to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Turkmen istan, this measure was introduced to better regulate and manage the stay of Turkmen citizens in Türkiye. The decision was largely a response to a significant rise in illegal migration of Turkmen citizens to Turkey. Additionally, the relatively low level of migration from Turkmenistan is also due to the fact that the country maintains a visa regime with nearly all post-Soviet nations, with the exception of Georgia.

Current Remittance System

In Turkmenistan, citizens have the option to use the services of the country's credit institutions (banks) through various payment systems to send and receive remittances internationally. One of the key factors in selecting a payment system for money transfers is the cost of the services provided, particularly the fees charged by banks for these transactions.

Money transfers can be carried out in different ways, each varying in terms of service costs, processing time, and the location of registration. There are two primary methods for conducting money transfers: transfers using the client's account (non-cash transfers) and transfers without the need for an account (cash transfers). These methods provide flexibility, allowing customers to choose the most suitable option based on their needs.

Money transfers from bank accounts held by citizens in foreign currency can be made to foreign destinations on behalf of the account holders. Currently, such accounts can be opened in almost any bank in Turkmenistan, including institutions such as the State Bank for Foreign Economic Activity of Turkmenistan, Turkmen-Turkish Joint-Stock Commercial Bank, State Commercial Bank of Turkmenistan 'Turkmenbashi', State Commercial Bank of Turkmenistan 'Halkbank', Joint-Stock Commercial Bank 'Senagat', and Joint-Stock Commercial Bank 'Rysgal', among others. These banks offer services that facilitate international money transfers, allowing citizens to send funds abroad using their foreign currency accounts. When transferring funds in foreign currency from a bank account, the recipient must have an active account with a financial institution in the respective foreign country or possess an international bank card that allows for cross-border transactions.

According to national legislation, there are no legal restrictions on the transfer of foreign currency funds from the personal accounts of citizens. Individuals are generally free to transfer their foreign currency holdings abroad without limitations. However, in situations where the country experiences a shortage of foreign currency reserves, the Central Bank of Turkmenistan has the authority to introduce temporary restrictions on such transfers. These measures are implemented at the discretion of the Central Bank to regulate and stabilize the country's financial system in response to economic conditions.

As a general rule, funds from bank accounts denominated in the national currency, the Turkmen manat, cannot be transferred abroad due to the temporary restrictions on its free conversion. This limitation prevents the direct international transfer of manat funds from domestic accounts.

For individuals who wish to send money internationally without opening a bank account, transfers can be conducted through international payment systems such as Western Union and S.W.I.F.T.. Additionally, international transactions can be carried out using globally recognized bank cards, including Visa and MasterCard.

In recent years, the market for bank cards in Turkmenistan has experienced rapid growth. This expansion aligns with the global trend toward digital and cashless transactions. The increasing adoption of plastic cards facilitates the establishment of a unified universal payment system, which enables efficient processing of everyday financial transactions for the general population. The shift toward electronic payments is expected to significantly reduce cash circulation within the economy and lead to a more structured and efficient financial system in Turkmenistan.

Transfer of funds of citizens of Turkmenistan from abroad is carried out through credit organizations of the host country and international payment systems. In this regard, citizens have a very wide choice. As a rule, the most frequently used form is electronic transfers based on a network of branches or correspondent relations. The bank sends the money transfer via electronic communication to its branch or correspondent bank in the beneficiary country, which forwards the money transfer electronically.

Tariffs for Money Transfers

Operations involving international payment systems, including plastic cards, have opened new prospects for financial services to clients and, accordingly, expanded opportunities for bank profits by receiving commissions charged on card transactions, increasing the number of clients by providing new types of services, reducing the cost of servicing cash turnover, etc. The growth of international payment systems and plastic cards is a promising and profitable business for credit institutions of Turkmenistan.

In general, the convenience and accessibility of these money transfer systems come at a higher cost compared to traditional payments between banks, with fees typically ranging between 2% and 6% of the transfer amount.

Remittance tariffs are also stipulated in agency agreements. In these contracts, the commission for money transfers abroad varies and depends on how many agent banks participate in a particular system. They may set restrictions on money transfer.

Fees for transferring money of Turkmen citizens from abroad differ depending on the services of credit organizations of the host country and international payment systems they use. For example, citizens of Turkmenistan, as non-residents of their country of residence, can open foreign currency accounts in most bank abroad and transfer U.S. dollars to Turkmenistan without restrictions. If a bilateral financial agreement exists between the two countries, the transfer is processed as a national transaction, resulting in minimal commissions fees. On the contrary, if no such agreement is in place, the transfer is processed as an international transaction, it makes it more expensive.

Due to a decline in migration, official remittance inflows to Turkmenistan have also decreased. According to the World Bank, remittances of labour migrants to Turkmenistan for the period from 2010 to 2017 amounted to: in 2010 - 35, in 2011 - 35, in 2012 - 37, in 2013 - 40, in 2014 - 30, in 2015 - 16, in 2016 - 9 and in 2017 - 10 million U.S. dollars (World Bank, 2018).

Conclusions and Recommendations

The analysis of migration and remittances in Turkmenistan allows us to draw the following conclusions:

First, over the last decade, the outflow of citizens from the country has significantly reduced, leading to a corresponding decline in the volume of remittances. This trend has been influenced by certain restrictions on the exit of citizens from the country, particularly, the abolition of visa-free regime between Turkmenistan and Türkiye, and increasing difficulties for Turkmen migrants in Russia.

Secondly, unstable work of banking institutions in the country has contributed to further challenges in money transfers. Various restrictions on financial transactions have been introduced, limiting the accessibility of remittance services. Currently, 'Western Union' remains the dominant international provider of remittance services. Furthermore, the opening of foreign currency accounts by citizens is restricted, as banks often require specific documentation (such as contracts) to justify such transactions. Migrants working abroad frequently face difficulties when transferring money. Most of them do not have sufficient information to transfer their earnings to their families back home and do not know the language of the host country. According to the author's observations and estimates, on average, Turkmen migrants send 150-300 US dollars per month, typically for essential expenses.

Third, legislation is an important basis for the implementation of citizen remittances as a service provided by credit institutions in the country. Its review shows that the country has the necessary legal framework for this purpose. Nevertheless, it should be recognized that there are reserves for further improvement of the legal and regulatory framework, its public accessibility, especially by-laws governing remittance procedures. With the increasing digitalization of Turkmenistan's economy, it is necessary to update legislation to allow for the electronic submission of documents for money transfers and currency conversions. Currently, when converting and transferring money abroad, banks require all relevant documents in paper format, creating unnecessary bureaucratic obstacles. In addition, simplifying banking procedures, expanding transfer services, and reducing remittance tariffs should also be considered. In line with the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), reducing money transfer fees remains a crucial priority.

Fourth, due to the absence of comprehensive statistical data on migration, it is impossible to accurately track the volume and flow of remittances to and from Turkmenistan. This highlights the crucial importance of reliable statistical information. Migration affects the dynamics of the population, altering its demographic characteristics. The economic impact of migration is substantial, as migrants are active participants in labour markets and remittances contribute to household income growth and national development. Without accurate migration data, making reliable population projections becomes challenging.

To address this, public access to migration statistics should be improved. The United Nations (UN, 2011) stresses that active and broad use of statistical data helps to identify its shortcomings and stimulates its development. Therefore, the lack of public access to data is not a best practice. Instead, migration statistics should be made widely available not only to a specific category of civil servants, but also to academics, researchers and the general public to ensure informed decision-making and a more comprehensive understanding of migration's broader implications.

Reference list

- Centre for Migration Research, 2024. *Migration Studies in the CIS Region*. [In Russian] Available at: <u>http://migrocenter.ru</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Heleniak, T.E. and Canagarajah, S. (2013). 'Demography, aging, and mobility in the ECA region : a critical overview of trends and future challenges'. World Bank Report. Available at: <u>https://documents.worldbank.org/pt/publication/documentsreports/documentdetail/866441468196139470/demography-aging-and-mobility-inthe-eca-region-a-critical-overview-of-trends-and-future-challenges [18 March 2025].</u>
- International Monetary Fund (2009). *International Operations with Money Transfers: A Guide for Compilers and Users*. Washington, D.C.: IMF, pp. 1–21.
- Law of Turkmenistan on Credit Institutions and Banking Activity (2011). Vedomosti Mejlis Turkmenistan, No.1, Article 12.
- Law of Turkmenistan on Currency Regulation and Currency Control in Foreign Economic Relations (2011). *Vedomosti Mejlis of Turkmenistan*, No.4, Article 74.
- Macrotrends (2024). Turkmenistan Net Migration Rate. Available at: <u>https://www.macrotrends.net/global-metrics/countries/TKM/turkmenistan/net-</u> <u>migration#:~:text=The%20net%20migration%20rate%20for%20Turkmenistan%20</u> <u>in%202022%20was%20%2D0.686,a%205.68%25%20decline%20from%202020</u> [Accessed: 16 March 2025].
- Migration Data Portal, 2020. *Regional Data Overview: Central Asia*. Available at: <u>https://www.migrationdataportal.org/regional-data-overview/central-asia</u> [Accessed 18 March 2025].
- Presidency of Migration Management (2025a). *Irregular Migration*. Presidency of Migration Management of the Republic of Türkiye. Available at: <u>https://en.goc.gov.tr/irregular-migration</u> [Accessed: 16 March 2025].
- Presidency of Migration Management (2025b). *Residence Permits*. Presidency of Migration Management of the Republic of Türkiye. Available at: <u>https://en.goc.gov.tr/residence-permits</u> [Accessed: 16 March 2025].
- TurkmenStat (2022). 'Results of the population and housing census of Turkmenistan 2022'. State Committee of Turkmenistan on Statistics. Available at: <u>https://www.stat.gov.tm/en/population-census</u> [Accessed: 16 March 2025].
- United Nations (2011). Statistics on International Migration: A Practical Guide for Eastern Europe and Central Asia. Geneva: United Nations. Available at: <u>https://unece.org/DAM/stats/publications/RUS</u> International Migration Statistics <u>Practical Guide.pdf</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- World Bank (2018). *Migration and Remittances Factbook 2018*. 3rd Edition. Washington, D.C.: The World Bank, pp. 149–238.

International Emigration from India: History, Drivers, and Challenges

Chekhros Kilichova⁴⁶

Introduction

For several decades, India has been the world's largest exporter of labour migrants and, consequently, has remained the top recipient of remittances globally. In 2024, India reportedly received \$129 billion in remittances, increasing its global share to 14.3%, and surpassing its own records year after year (Ratha et al., 2024). Despite these staggering figures, personal remittances accounted for only 3.3% of the country's total economy in 2024 (Radhakrishnan, 2024). The total number of international migrants from India is estimated to be around 18 million, making it the largest diaspora abroad (IOM, 2024).

These large migration flows and India's prominent role in global migration naturally raise several important questions that merit further study. What are the historical and contemporary drivers of India's outward migration? What are the major destination countries attracting Indian migrants and why? Additionally, how does such high migration impact India's contemporary social and economic landscape?

This chapter aims to address these questions by providing an overview of the general patterns and trends in India's external migration. While internal migration within India is even larger in nominal terms, this aspect of migration deserves a separate analysis. In India's case, the routes and migration patterns of skilled and unskilled labour migrants differ significantly, a factor that must always be taken into account when analysing migration trends.

⁴⁶ Researcher, Sociology of Law Department, Lund University. Email: <u>chekhros.kilichova@soclaw.lu.se</u>

Historical Context of External Migration

The active external movement of labour from India began during the colonial era, when large numbers of Indians were sent to other colonies under coercive systems. After the abolition of the slave trade by the United Kingdom in 1833, the supply of labour declined sharply, leading to a significant drop in agricultural production in the colonised regions. This necessitated a new labour arrangement, which resulted in the indentured servitude, also known as the *coolie* system (Singh, 2022). Peasants from India and other territories signed contracts lasting between five and eight years, essentially selling their labour under this new system (Singh, 2022). The recruitment and supervision of these labourers were largely managed by Indian-origin recruiters. Most of these workers were hired for sugar plantations, construction, mining, and farming. Most of the coolies were sent to work in Mauritius, British Guiana, South Africa, Trinidad and Tobago, among other destinations, expanding the Indian diaspora from the Caribbean to the Indian Ocean region.

Although the indenture system initially promised better income and living conditions for the peasants, in reality, many workers became indebted to their recruiters and suffered harsh working conditions. The treatment of indentured labourers was often not significantly better than slavery, with widespread reports of abuse and exploitation. This system remained in place until around 1920 (Singh, 2022).

The partition of India and Pakistan in 1947 also resulted in one of the largest and most rapid forced migrations in history. As the partition was based on religious divisions, millions of Muslims migrated to Pakistan, while Hindus moved to India. At least 20 million people were displaced, with 12 million in the Punjab region alone (Das et al., 2020). This mass movement triggered widespread violence, leading to an estimated one million deaths and the kidnapping of approximately 50,000 women (Singh, 2022).

Post-independence emigration from India is generally categorised into two main groups-skilled and unskilled labour migration. Following India's independence from the British Empire in 1947, many doctors, engineers and scientists emigrated to Western countries in search of better economic opportunities, which peaked during the 1960 and 1970s (IGNOU, 2017). Most of this skilled migration was directed towards the UK, which, in the aftermath of World War II a labour shortage (Singh, 2022).

Conversely, the emigration of unskilled labour is largely associated with the 'oil boom' in the Gulf region from the 1970s onwards. Migration to the Middle East was initially driven by high demand for unskilled workers in infrastructure construction and the oil industry in the rapidly developing Gulf economies (Bortolazzi & Khan, 2023). Over 90% of Indians emigrating to the Gulf countries belong to the low-skilled and semi-skilled labour categories (Chandramalla, 2021). And since the 1990s, with the boom of the IT sector in the US and other Western countries, more high-skilled Indian professionals have migrated in pursuit of higher salaries and better career opportunities (Singh & Verma, 2022).

Contemporary drivers of emigration from India

Migration literature often distinguishes between 'push' and 'pull' factors that influence a migrant's decision to move. Push factors refer to conditions that drive people out of their home country, while pull factors attract them to a destination country. Although this framework is sometimes seen as an oversimplification of a complex and multi-faceted phenomenon, most migration studies acknowledge that both factors interplay, rather than operating in isolation, India being no exception (Imran Khan et al., 2023; Singh & Verma, 2022). Generally, the highest number of emigrants from India originate from southern states such as Tamil Nadu and Kerala, as well as from less economically developed northern states, including Andhra Pradesh, Uttar Pradesh, Bihar, and Gujarat (Putta & Biswas, 2024).

A study by Imran Khan et al. (2023) analysing the prevalence of push and pull factors among migrants from Bihar, found that 41% of migrants to the Gulf region were primarily driven by push factors. This quantitative study also revealed that education level and pre-migration salary had a strong negative correlation with the length of stay in the destination country. This suggests that migrants with lower levels of education and income in Bihar tended to remain longer in the Gulf region, whereas those with higher level of education and better financial standing before migration generally spent shorter periods abroad.

Previous studies highlight three most common reasons for Indian emigration. One of the biggest contemporary drivers is the search for better economic opportunities. Unemployment, high levels of poverty, and low wages in India are major push factors that drive migration both internally and externally. In Imran Khan et al.'s (2023) study, participants cited 'poor financial condition' and 'family debt' as key motivations for migration. Many Indians seek better job opportunities and higher

wages, particularly in sectors like technology and healthcare in Western countries (Sharma et al., 2022) and in construction, oil industries, and service jobs in developing countries, including the Gulf states (Chandramalla, 2021). A survey (Dave, 2023) conducted among 300 individuals in India found that 75% of respondents expressed a desire to move abroad for various reasons and for different lengths of stay. Among them 60% cited higher salaries as their main reason, while 45% saw migration as a way to enhance their career prospects. The majority of respondents believed that only moving to the US would provide both career growth opportunities and the ability to accumulate wealth through hard work, something they felt was not achievable by staying in India or even by moving to the UK (Dave, 2023).

Higher education also plays a significant role in increasing the number of Indians migrating abroad. A substantial proportion of Indian emigrants are students seeking advanced education and training overseas, which enhances their career prospects and earning potential (Kapur, 2010). In 2024, more than 1.3 million students from India were studying abroad, a significant increase from 675,500 in 2019, nearly doubling in just five years (Nair, 2024). According to the Ministry of External Affairs of India, the top three destinations for Indian students were English-speaking countries, with close to half a million students studying in Canada, 337.6 thousand in the USA, and 185 thousand in Australia (Nair, 2024).

Studies show that most Indian students pursuing higher education abroad intend to secure employment and remain in their destination country for the long term (Deshmukh & Sankpal, 2022; Singh & Verma, 2022). As a result, students often choose to study economics, engineering, management and medicine, as these fields are in high demand in many destination countries (Singh, 2022). However, a survey conducted among Indian students in the UK (King & Sondhi, 2018) revealed that British and Indian students share similar motivations for studying abroad, including (i) the desire to attend a prestigious world-class university, (ii) the potential for a successful career, (iii) the experience of studying abroad as an adventure or 'transformative experience', and (iv) continuing a family tradition of studying abroad.

Beyond higher education and employment, a range of economic and social factors influence Indians' decisions to migrate. Among these is the desire for a better quality of life, which includes improved living conditions, infrastructure, healthcare, and education. This motivation is especially prevalent among individuals from upper-middle-class backgrounds in India (Deshingkar & Akter, 2009). Additionally, some social and cultural factors influence migration decisions. A survey conducted by Dave (2023) found that some respondents cited the expectation of a 'non-

judgemental society' and 'being far from relatives' as reasons for moving abroad. Many participants believed that living overseas would allow them greater personal freedom, as societies abroad are perceived to be less intrusive and more individualistic, where 'people mind their own business' (Dave, 2023). Another study highlights the caste system and discrimination as significant push factors behind both domestic and international migration in India (Imran Khan et al., 2023).

Major Destinations for Indian Migrants

India ranks among the top countries in the world's largest migration corridors, specifically India–United Arab Emirates (UAE, India–United States (US), India–Saudi Arabia, which are the fourth, sixth and ninth largest migration corridors globally (IOM, 2024). Notably, India is the only country featured more than once as an origin country on this list. Furthermore, all other top migration corridors involve neighbouring countries that share a common border, except for the three corridors where India is present. This demonstrates that, on average, Indian migrants travel longer distances than migrants from any other country. Let us now examine the work and living conditions of the Indian migrants in the two leading destinations shown in Figure 1.

The migration from India to the UAE is the fourth-largest migration corridor in the world, having increased by more than 7.5 times in just 30 years (IOM, 2024). Remittances from the UAE account for nearly one-third of India's total remittance inflows (Chandramalla, 2021). The UAE and Saudi Arabia host 3.5 million and 2.5 million Indian immigrants, respectively. More broadly, the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) states—five of which are featured as the top destinations for Indian migrants in Figure 1—collectively host over 8.5 million Indians (Ministry of External Affairs of India, 2024).

Interestingly, due to the stringent naturalisation policies in GCC countries, most Indian migrants live in these states for years or even generations as temporary or permanent residents, without acquiring citizenship. According to some estimates, one-fourth of the Indian diaspora resides in the GCC states, with only 25% of this population being female migrants, 90% of whom work in the services sector, particularly as domestic workers (Chandramalla, 2021).

It is suggested that a large number of undocumented Indian migrants reside in the GCC countries. Approximately half of the workforce in the GCC consists of Indian migrants, who have played a crucial role the region's rapid development by

contirbuting to major infrastructure projects, working across various service sectors, and holding white-collar positions such as doctors, nurses, architects, and engineers. Additionally, several large businesses established by Indian immigrants have significantly contributed to the economic prosperity of the region (Jawed, 2024).



Figure 1. Top 15 destinations of emigrants from India in 1990 and 2023. Data source: Ministry of External Affairs, Government of India (2024).

Indians constitute the second-largest immigrant group in the United States, after Mexicans. The abolition of country-based immigration, introduced by the 1965 Immigration and Nationality Act in the US, opened the doors for more Indian migration to this country. Because a significant proportion of Indian migrants hold advanced degrees or have graduated from prestigious US universities, their median income is nearly twice as high as the average American salary (Greene & Batalova, 2024). In 2023, 49% of all Indian immigrants had advanced degrees, compared to just 14% of US-born citizens (Greene & Batalova, 2024). Statistics show that more than 20% of all H-1B visa for highly skilled workers in 2024 were issued individuals of Indian origin (The Hindu, 2025).

The Indian-American community plays a crucial role in US foreign and domestic politics, holding positions across the Congress, the Office of the Attorney General, and the FBI. Meanwhile, Silicon Valley and the broader tech industry continue to rely heavily on a steady influx of Indian engineers, programmers, and entrepreneurs

(Wadhwa, 2025). With the high inflow of Indian migrants, there is also a growing number of undocumented Indian immigrants in the US. According to the Migration Policy Institute, 3% of the 11 million unauthorised immigrants in the US in 2022 were of Indian origin (Greene & Batalova, 2024). Additionally, the US Customs and Border Protection reported that more than 170,000 individuals of Indian origin attempted unauthorised border crossings through Mexico and Canada (BBC, 2024).

Socio-Economic Impact of Emigration

The impact of migration on the Indian economy is complex and difficult to quantify. On the one hand, migrant remittances serve as major pathways for capital transfers, market expansion, new industries, technological advancements, and knowledge exchange, all of which have significantly contributed to India's economic growth and improved the country's balance of payments. Since the 1980s, personal remittances received by India from its overseas migrants have far exceeded official development assistance by the UN and other multilateral organisations (Figure 2). At the micro level, migration has positively influenced household consumption patterns, leading to better health, nutrition and overall wellbeing for family members (Chandramalla, 2021). Up to 60% of total inflows in states like Kerala, Maharashtra and Tamil Nadu remain dependent on remittances (Ganesh, 2018).

On the other hand, there are economic trade-offs associated with high emigration rates. One key drawback is the potential tax revenue lost due to the departure of skilled professionals who would otherwise contribute to India's economy. Additionally, India has faced the challenge of brain drain for decades, with a significant outflow of highly skilled professionals (Mani, 2012). In 2022 alone, a quarter of a million Indians renounced their citizenship, the majority of whom were highly educated professionals (Mohapatra & Mitra, 2024).

Beyond macroeconomic impact, large-scale migration has social and economic consequences at the household level. A study of 200 rural households in India (Das et al. 2020) found that the absence of emigrated fathers negatively affected children's education and behaviour, while left-behind wives faced increased security and safety concerns. The study also highlighted initial decreases in farm output following male migration from agricultural households. However, over time, remittance investments in better farm inputs and resources led to increased agricultural productivity.

Personal remittances and official development assistance received, India, 1960 to 2022



Remittances – financial transfers from non-residents to residents of a country, such as a worker abroad sending money to family and friends – and official development assistance¹ measured in current US\$.



Figure 2. Personal remittances and official development assistance received in India from 1960 to 2022. Source: Global Change in Data Lab (2024)

Challenges Faced by Indian Migrants

When examining the ethnic and religious composition of Indian international migrants, a striking observation is that although Hindus make up more than 80% of India's population, their share among international migrants is less than half (45%) (Connor, 2017). Meanwhile, religious minorities are more likely to migrate abroad, as Christians, who constitute only 3% of India's population, account for 19% of emigrants, while Muslims, represent about 14% of the population, make up 27% of international migrants (Connor, 2017). This trend may indirectly point to structural and systemic inequalities, in combination with chain migration patterns, which require further study.

The caste system significantly influences who migrates from India and the benefits they receive (Chatterjee, 2022). Individuals from upper castes often possess intergenerational wealth, enabling them to afford the high costs of international migration and send back higher remittances, which further enhances their economic standing (Chatterjee, 2022). Conversely, individuals from lower castes often migrate out of necessity, frequently borrowing money to cover migration costs, and their remittances barely cover household expenses (Chatterjee, 2022). This reinforces the concentration of wealth within upper castes, while marginalised communities struggle to benefit from migration opportunities.

Many migrants incur significant debt to finance their departure, covering costs such as health checks, visas, recruitment agency fees, and flight tickets. These financial burdens mean that migrants often begin repaying their debts only after securing work in their destination country.

Beyond financial difficulties, Indian migrants—like many others worldwide—face poor working conditions, limited access to healthcare and social services, exploitation, human trafficking, and abuse. These challenges were exacerbated during the Covid-19 pandemic, as millions of migrants worldwide were stranded abroad without jobs, healthcare support, or the means to return home due to lockdowns.

Qatar has faced global criticism for its treatment of migrant workers, particularly during the construction of infrastructure for the 2022 FIFA World Cup. Reportedly, a total of 6,500 migrant workers from India, Pakistan, Nepal, Bangladesh, and Sri Lanka died in Qatar between 2010 and 2021 (Pattisson et al., 2021). Many of these deaths were suspiciously classified as 'non-work related' or 'due to natural causes' on death certificates (Amnesty International, 2021). The majority of deceased workers were reported to have died from pulmonary diseases, despite having passed preemployment medical examination confirming their good health (Amnesty International, 2021). The case of Qatar highlights broader concerns about migrant rights in the Gulf region, where reports frequently indicate that basic human rights are not upheld and that decent working conditions are often denied to migrants by their employers.

Conclusion

This chapter has explored the multifaceted nature of Indian emigration, tracing its historical roots from colonial-era indentured servitude to the contemporary drivers of skilled and unskilled labour migration. The analysis reveals that while economic opportunities remain the primary motivator for emigration, other significant factors include education, social inequalities rooted in the caste system, and the pursuit of improved living conditions. Moreover, the chapter has highlighted the significant impact of remittances on the Indian economy, as well as the challenges faced by Indian migrants in various destination countries.

Thus far, India's migration policy has largely left emigration trends and patterns to market forces, both at the international and domestic levels (Singh, 2022). However, one of the biggest challenges India continues to face how to balance demographic growth, economic prosperity, and migration—both domestic and international. The outcomes of these migration patterns will not only shape India's socio-economic development, but will also have wider implications for other countries, as discussed in this chapter.

Going forward, India must find ways to harness the potential of its vast diaspora, establish stronger bilateral agreements to promote safe and orderly migration, and address worker protections and social security concerns, particularly for low-skilled Indian labourers facing poor working conditions abroad. Additionally, improving social services and support mechanisms for left-behind families should remain a key policy priority.

References

- Amnesty International. (2021). Qatar: "In the prime of their lives": Qatar's failure to investigate, remedy and prevent migrant workers' deaths (MDE 22/4614/2021). https://www.amnesty.org/en/documents/mde22/4614/2021/en/ [Accessed: 12 March 2025]
- BBC. (2024). Why more Indians are crossing borders illegally to enter the US. https://www.bbc.com/news/articles/cx2ld7r44320 [Accessed: 12 March 2025]
- Bortolazzi, O., & Khan, N. (2023). From 'Brain Drain' to 'Capital Gain': Indian Skilled Migration to the UAE. *Gulf Studies*, *8*, 223–248. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-7796-1_14
- Chandramalla, C. (2021). Trends in Indian Labour Migration to Gulf Countries from 1990 to 2019: An Assessment of Literature. *Journal of Production, Operations Management and Economics*, 2799–1008. https://doi.org/10.55529/jpome21.1.9
- Chatterjee, R. (2022). Caste and Migration in India. *BPR The Boston Political Review*. https://www.bostonpoliticalreview.org/post/caste-and-migration-in-india [Accessed: 12 March 2025]
- Connor, P. (2017). India is a top source and destination for world's migrants. *Pew Research Center*. https://www.pewresearch.org/short-reads/2017/03/03/india-is-a-top-source-and-destination-for-worlds-migrants/ [Accessed: 12 March 2025]

- Das, P., Saha, J., & Chouhan, P. (2020). Effects of labor out-migration on socio-economic set-up at the place of origin: Evidence from rural India. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 119. Scopus. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105512
- Dave, N. (2023). Why Do Indians Want To Move Abroad? This Survey Explains It All. Nupur Dave. https://www.nupurdave.in/articles/whydoindianswanttomoveabroadbynupurdave [Accessed: 12 March 2025]
- Deshingkar, P., & Akter, S. (2009). *Migration and Human Development in India* [MPRA Paper]. https://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/19193/ [Accessed: 12 March 2025]
- Deshmukh, D. V. P., & Sankpal, S. V. (2022). Factors influences for migration of Indian students. *Journal of Positive School Psychology*, 381–386. https://journalppw.com/index.php/jpsp/article/view/2365
- Ganesh, K. (2018). *Sociology of the Indian Diaspora*. INFLIBNET Centre. https://ebooks.inflibnet.ac.in/socp11/ [Accessed: 12 March 2025]
- Global Change Data Lab (2024). ' Personal remittances and official development assistance received'. Our World in Data. Available at: https://ourworldindata.org/grapher/personal-remittancesoda?tab=chart&country=~IND [Accessed: 12 March 2025]
- Greene, M., & Batalova, J. (2024). 'Indian Immigrants in the United States'. Migration Policy Institute. https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/indian-immigrants-unitedstates [Accessed: 12 March 2025]
- IGNOU. (2017). Post Independence Patterns of Migration. In *Journey of the Indian Diaspora*. http://egyankosh.ac.in//handle/123456789/27446 [Accessed: 12 March 2025]
- Imran Khan, M., Alharthi, M., Haque, A., & Illiyan, A. (2023). Statistical analysis of push and pull factors of migration: A case study of India. *Journal of King Saud University – Science*, 35(8), 102859. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jksus.2023.102859
- IOM. (2024). World Migration Report 2024 (PUB2023/047/L*). https://publications.iom.int/books/world-migration-report-2024 [Accessed: 12 March 2025]
- Jawed, N. (2024). Indian migration to Gulf Cooperation Council countries: trends, challenges, and prospects. *International Journal of Emerging Knowledge Studies*, 03(01), 19–26.
- Kapur, D. (2010). *Diaspora, development, and democracy: The domestic impact of international migration from India*. Princeton: Princeton University Press
- King, R., & Sondhi, G. (2018). International student migration: A comparison of UK and Indian students' motivations for studying abroad. *Globalisation, Societies and Education*, 16(2), 176–191. https://doi.org/10.1080/14767724.2017.1405244

- Mani, S. (2012). High Skilled Migration and Remittances: India's Experience since Economic Liberalization. In K. Pushpangadan & V. N. Balasubramanyam (Eds.), Growth, Development, and Diversity: India's Record since Liberalization. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:0s0/9780198077992.003.0008
- Ministry of External Affairs of India. (2024). *Population of Overseas Indians* [Table]. https://mea.gov.in/population-of-overseas-indians.htm [Accessed: 12 March 2025]
- Mohapatra, S., & Mitra, A. (2024). Viksit Bharat and the brain drain dilemma. Deccan Herald. https://www.deccanherald.com//opinion/viksit-bharat-and-the-brain-draindilemma-3185176 [Accessed: 12 March 2025]
- Nair, A. (2024). Over 1.3 million Indian students studying abroad in 2024. *The PIE News*. https://thepienews.com/over-1-3-million-indian-students-studying-abroad-in-2024/ [Accessed: 12 March 2025]
- Pattisson, P., McIntyre, N., & Mukhtar, I. (2021). Revealed: 6,500 migrant workers have died in Qatar since World Cup awarded. *The Guardian*. https://www.theguardian.com/global-development/2021/feb/23/revealed-migrantworker-deaths-qatar-fifa-world-cup-2022 [Accessed: 12 March 2025]
- Putta, V., & Biswas, A. (2024). Mapping Migration as the Metaphor for Regional Inequalities. In Biswas, A., Kidokoro, T. & Seta F. (eds.) *Neoliberal Policies and Inequality: Evidence from Asian City Regions* (pp. 57–80). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003280866-4
- Radhakrishnan, V. (2024). India got 14.3% of global remittances in 2024, its highest ever. *The Hindu*. https://www.thehindu.com/data/india-got-143-of-global-remittances-in-2024-its-highest-ever/article69039825.ece [Accessed: 12 March 2025]
- Ratha, D., Plaza, S., & Kim, E. J. (2024). In 2024, remittance flows to low- and middleincome countries are expected to reach \$685 billion, larger than FDI and ODA combined [World Bank Blogs]. World Bank Blogs. https://blogs.worldbank.org/en/peoplemove/in-2024--remittance-flows-to-low--andmiddle-income-countries-ar [Accessed: 12 March 2025]
- Sharma, R. K., Rahman, M., Nanda, S., & Rashid, M. C. (2022). A critical study of entrepreneurship and philanthropic activities of diaspora in India. *International Journal of Economics and Business Research*, 24(1–2), 197–216. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJEBR.2022.124292
- Singh, K., & Verma, A. (2022). Factors Affecting Student's Migration for Studying Abroad: A study of the Majha Region of Punjab. *Central European Journal of Management*, 30, 946–955. https://doi.org/10.57030/23364890.cemj.30.4.93
- Singh, R. (2022). Origin of World's Largest Migrant Population, India Seeks to Leverage Immigration. Migration Policy Institute. https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/india-migration-country-profile [Accessed: 12 March 2025]

- The Hindu. (2025). Indian-origin tech firms corner 1/5th of H1B visas issued by U.S. *The Hindu*. https://www.thehindu.com/news/national/indian-origin-tech-firms-corner-15th-of-h1b-visas-issued-by-us/article69064437.ece [Accessed: 12 March 2025]
- Wadhwa, V. (2025). As the H-1B visa debate tears MAGA apart, Indian-Americans are shaping America's future. *Fortune*. https://fortune.com/2025/01/23/h1b-visa-debate-maga-indian-americans-leadership/ [Accessed: 12 March 2025]

Managing Migration in Türkiye: Patterns and Policies

H. Deniz Genç⁴⁷, Şükufe Pak⁴⁸, Taylan Yurtbakan⁴⁹

Brief Migration History of Türkiye

Türkiye has long been a land of diverse migrations. The country's migration experience encompasses both the transformations brought about by the transition from empire to nation-state and the continuities that have persisted from past to present. Located at the crossroads of Europe, the Middle East, and Asia, Türkiye serves as a crucial meeting point for various migration flows. Its strategic geographic location, situated at the intersection of multiple migratory routes, has played a defining role in shaping its migration dynamics. Consequently, migration has been a recurrent theme in Anatolia, and population movements have been important not only for modern Türkiye, but also for the Ottoman Empire.

During the Ottoman period, voluntary migration was often restricted, with population movements primarily driven by political control or the need to support the Empire's expansionist strategy (Faroqhi, 2014; Erder, 2018). Additionally, the Empire occasionally faced refugee influxes, requiring structured responses (Melton, 2014). To regulate these movements, the Ottoman state implemented a highly institutionalized 'settlement policy' (*İskan Politikası*) (Erder, 2018; Barkan, 1952). While this policy governed internal population movements within the Empire, external migration management began in 1867 with the adoption of the Ottoman

⁴⁷ Associate Professor, Istanbul Medipol University, Faculty of Humanities and Social Sciences

⁴⁸ PhD Candidate, Researcher, Istanbul Medipol University, Faculty of Humanities and Social Sciences

⁴⁹ PhD Candidate, Researcher, Istanbul Medipol University, Faculty of Humanities and Social Sciences
Passport Regulation, which sought to control mobility into and out of Ottoman territories.



Source: Encyclopedia Britannica, (2024). Türkiye. https://www.britannica.com/place/Türkiye/Settlement-patterns (accessed 11.09.2024).

The following decades saw the outbreak of World War I, marking the end of the age of empires, with the dissolution of the Ottoman, Russian, Austro-Hungarian, and German Empires, as well as the Turkish War of Independence (1919-1923). These geopolitical developments and conflicts triggered change of borders, the formation of new states and nation-building processes, leading to significant population movements. During this period, non-Muslim minorities left what is now Türkiye in large numbers, often facing discrimination. At the same time, Muslim immigrants primarily from the Balkans—migrated en masse into Anatolia. Dispossessed and displaced Muslims from the Caucasus, Crimea, and the Balkans sought refuge in the Empire's Anatolian heartland (Karpat, 2003; Chatty, 2010). This mass migration included many different Muslim groups, including Circassians, Chechens, Tatars, Laz, Acar, and Pomak. In addition, large groups of Russian Jews arrived in the Empire this time (Chatty 2010). Academic estimates suggest that between 1783 and 1914, the total number of migrants and displaced persons ranged between 5.3 and 5.7 million (Karpat, 2003; Özbay and Yücel, 2001; Erder, 2018).

In addition to these historical migration flows, Türkiye has also experienced successive waves of migration, particularly from its eastern neighbours. These more

recent movements have been characterised by irregularity, often involving asylumseekers, irregular workers, and transit migrants (İçduygu and Yükseker, 2012). Asylum-seekers have primarily come from politically unstable regions such as Iran, Iraq, Bosnia, Afghanistan, Somalia, Sudan, and, more recently, Syria. While earlier migration movements involved more than 1.5 million individuals, many of whom transited through Türkiye or returned to their home countries, the recent influx from Syria has resulted in the arrival of more than 3.6 million refugees, marking one of the most significant population movements in Türkiye's modern history.

Irregular workers primarily come from the neighbouring countries and Commonwealth of Independent States (Toksöz, Erdoğdu and Kaşka, 2012). Türkiye maintains a liberal visa regime with many countries, granting nationals of these countries a ninety-day visa exemption. According to PMM (2025b), irregular migrants originate mainly from Afghanistan, Syria, Palestine, Turkmenistan, Morocco, Uzbekistan, Iraq and Iran. They are predominantly employed in the informal economy, working across various sectors, including domestic service, child and patient care, entertainment, the sex industry, garment workshops, construction, tourism, and agriculture (Toksöz, Erdoğdu and Kaşka, 2012). Additionally, since the late 1970s, Türkiye has also become 'a waiting room' for irregular migrants intending to continue their journeys to Western Europe and North America (Erder, 2000, p. 251). These transit migrants primarily come from Middle East, Asia, and Africa.

Conflicts and wars profoundly influence migration trends and dynamics, often serving as a primary driver of large-scale displacement (Uslu and Ceylan, 2019; PMM, 2025a; Sirkeci and Eroğlu Utku, 2020). Armed conflicts not only disrupt social, economic, and medical infrastructure but also severely damage essential systems, including healthcare, communication, and education (Collier, 2003; Goldson, 1996). Beyond these harms, fundamental rights and freedoms, such as the right to life and security, are frequently disregarded during times of conflict. Under these dire circumstances, individuals often endure significant losses, including the death of a family member and loved ones, the destruction of homes, the loss of social networks, and the erosion of their sense of security and stability (Silove, 2013). Compared to previous eras, there has been a notable escalation in the number of civilians affected by wars and armed conflicts, particularly non-combatants (Goldson, 1996). Civilians are increasingly being targeted through violence, and their fundamental rights and freedoms are violated, thereby leading to an increase in forced displacement. Thus, wars and conflicts remain major drivers of forced migration, compelling individuals to flee their homes in search safety and stability elsewhere.

Migration is broadly defined as the relocation from one place to another, either within or beyond national borders, with the intent of making the transition permanent or semi-permanent (Lee, 1966; Wood, 1994). Forced migration occurs when individuals are compelled to leave their homes and become displaced within their own country or outside to ensure their safety and avoid persecution and violence (Moore and Shellman, 2004). Depending on the region of displacement, and the laws of the country where they seek asylum, individuals may assume the status of 'refugees' if they migrate to another country, or they may be classified as 'internally displaced persons' (IDPs) if they relocate within their own country (Collier, 2003; Wood, 1994; UNHCR, 2024a). Wars and conflicts are not only a global driver of migration but also a historical catalyst for migration in Türkiye, particularly from the mid-19th century onwards. As explored in the following sections, Türkiye's migration history has been shaped by successive waves of forced displacement, spanning from the mid-19th century up to the present day.

Migratory Movements from Caucasia and Crimea to Anatolia

During the mid-19th century, the Ottoman Empire, the predecessor of the Turkish Republic, underwent significant social changes due to large-scale migratory movements from Caucasia and Crimea (Zafer, 2017; Tepekaya, 2006). The Crimean War (1853-1856) and the Russian-Ottoman War (1877-1878) intensified the migratory movements from these regions to Anatolia. These waves of displacement continued from the mid-19th century until the early 20th century, ultimately affecting nearly three million individuals. Upon arrival, many migrants initially settled in the Balkan regions; however, following the Ottoman Empire's loss of its Balkan provinces, they were forcibly displaced once again and were eventually resettled across various parts of Anatolia.

Balkan Migrations

The Ottoman Empire encountered significant migration movements from the Balkans to Anatolia, following the loss of its territories in the Balkan Wars of 1912 and 1913 (İçduygu and Sert, 2015). During this first wave of Balkan migrations, approximately 300,000 people were displaced and resettled in Anatolia. Unlike those migrating from the Circassia and Crimea, most migrations from the Balkans occurred by land. At the time, Istanbul served as the first safe place for those coming from the Balkans, and later they settled in Anatolia.

However, migration waves from the Balkans were not limited to this period; it continued throughout the Republic of Türkiye era until the early 2000s (İçduygu and Sert, 2015). When considered in the context of mass migration, a significant number of people migrated from Greece, Bulgaria, Yugoslavia, and Romania to Türkiye (Uslu and Ceylan, 2019; PMM, 2025a; İçduygu and Sert, 2015). The following events and policies played a major role in these migrations:

- The population exchange between Greece and Türkiye (1922-1938) an agreement relocating Greeks in Türkiye to Greece and Turks in Greece to Türkiye.
- Bulgaria's Bulgarization policies (1925-1989) forced assimilation measures, including the replacement of Turkish names with Slavic names and language bans.
- 3) Migrations from Yugoslavia and Macedonia (1924-1953) caused by the conflicts during Yugoslavia's formation and disintegration.
- 4) Attacks on Turks in Romania due to economic struggles and ethnic tensions.
- 5) The Bosnian War (1992-1998) led Bosniaks to seek refuge in Türkiye.

These migrations resulted in approximately 1.7 million people from the Balkans being forcibly displaced during the Republic of Türkiye period (İçduygu and Sert, 2015). Balkan refugees witnessed significant historical tragedies, including World War I and World War II, and suffered significant losses. Considering the scale of these mass migrations to Türkiye, although some Balkan settlers were from various ethnic backgrounds, most were of Turkish origin. Accordingly, these mass migrations likely contributed to the increase in the Turkish population within Türkiye.

Migrations from East Turkestan

Türkiye has been one of the key destinations for Uyghur Turks fleeing persecution (PMM, 2025a). This migration flow began following China's occupation of East Turkestan in 1950, initially as a large-scale refugee movement, followed by ongoing individual migrations to Türkiye. The first migration wave consisted of approximately 1,850 individuals (Kul, 2022). While subsequent migrations were not on a mass scale, frequent and significant. Although official data is lacking, the Uyghur refugee population in Türkiye has grown steadily. Today, approximately 70,000 individuals from East Turkestan have migrated to Türkiye (Kul, 2022).

Although Türkiye does not share a border with the region, it has emerged as a primary destination for displaced Uyghurs.

Migrations from the Middle East: Iran and Iraq

Several major conflicts and political upheavals have driven migration from Iran and Iraq to Türkiye, including the Iranian revolution (1979), the Iran-Iraq war (1980-1988), the Gulf War (1990-1991)—which involved the Iraqi invasion of Kuwait followed by the US-led military intervention—and the US invasion of Iraq (2003). These events have been the primary triggers for migration from these countries to Türkiye (PMM, 2024a; Özdemir, 2016; Sirkeci and Eroğlu Utku, 2020; Şahin and Düzgün, 2015). Following the Iranian revolution (1979), approximately one million Iranians initially migrated to Türkiye, fleeing the new regime. Similarly, the prolonged Iran-Iraq war and the subsequent Gulf War triggered another wave of mass displacement, with approximately 500,000 Iraqis migrating to Türkiye by 1991 (Uslu and Ceylan, 2019). The US invasion of Iraq in 2003 caused another surge in asylum applications from Iraqis to Türkiye (Şahin and Düzgün, 2015). During these periods, a substantial number of the migration movements to Türkiye consisted of refugees from Iran and Iraq.

Migrations from the Middle East: Syria

The civil war in Syria, which began in 2011, has led to an unprecedented mass migration, causing a major refugee crisis (Sirkeci and Eroğlu Utku, 2020). According to United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) data, by the end of 2023, a total of 13.8 million people were forcibly displaced, with 7.2 million internally displaced within Syria and 6.4 million refugees and asylum seekers who were forced to flee the country (UNHCR, 2024b). The largest of these migrations have been to Türkiye, with 3.76 million registered refugees, mainly due to Türkiye's geographic proximity (UNHCR, 2024c). Because of Türkiye's position as a transit country, human traffickers, promising to smuggle Syrians to Europe by sea, have led to numerous tragic incidents (UNHCR, 2015). However, the overwhelming majority of Syrian refugees who migrated to Türkiye have remained in the country (Republic of Türkiye, 2014a).

In accordance with the 1951 Geneva Convention, international agreements, and Turkish regulations regarding the legal status of refugees, Syrians who arrive in Türkiye are granted 'temporary protection' status (Republic of Türkiye, 2014b; Turkish Grand National Assembly Human Rights Inquiry Committee, 2012). As noted in following paragraphs, the Temporary Protection Directive, published in the Official Gazette (No. 29153) on October 22, 2014, came into force, granting 'temporary protection' status to Syrians who have arrived in Türkiye since 2011. Under this directive, Syrians are entitled to access basic services such as health and education, as well as employment, while their security and humanitarian needs are addressed.

Migrations from Afghanistan

Türkiye has long been a destination for Afghan migrants, especially those with Turkic heritage. Since 2007, the influx of Afghans to the country has increased due to the diminishing humanitarian spaces in Pakistan and Iran-countries that have hosted the largest Afghan refugee populations since the 1970s—positioning Türkiye as one of the nearest asylum options (Kaytaz, 2016, p. 284). The US withdrawal from Afghanistan in September 2021, and the subsequent political turmoil led to increased migration flows from Afghanistan. By 2022, the number of Afghan refugees worldwide had doubled compared to the previous year. According to the year-end data for 2023, a total of 5.8 million refugees were forced to leave their homeland. Although Afghanistan does not share a border with Türkiye, some Afghan migrants have chosen Türkiye as either a destination or a transit country. Afghan migrants in Türkiye do not have legal status and are referred to as 'irregular migrants' (PMM, 2025b). While there is no official data on the total number of Afghan migrants in Türkiye, they have been recorded as the largest group of apprehended and deported irregular migrants (PMM, 2025b). A report published on this issue states that between 2022 and September 2024, 225,442 Afghan migrants were deported from Türkiye, accounting for nearly half of all deportations during this period (PMM, 2025b). Based on this data, it can be inferred that a significant number of Afghan refugees have migrated to Türkiye, predominantly through irregular channels.

Migrations from Ukraine

One of the recent migration movements caused by conflicts and wars is Russia's occupation of Ukraine, which began in 2022 and continues to this day (UNHCR, 2024b). While a large portion of forcibly discplaced Ukranians have migrated to Europe, some have sought refuge in Türkiye. According to UNHCR data, as of February 2025, the number of refugees from Ukraine who have resettled in Türkiye is approximately 35,000 out of 6.9 million displaced Ukrainians (UNHCR, 2025). Although around 150,000 Ukrainian refugees migrated to Türkiye by the end of

2022, many of them have since moved on to other countries (UNHCR, 2022). Türkiye has extended its open-door policy to Ukrainian refugees, welcoming those forcibly displaced who have been exposed to traumatic events.

Türkiye's Migration Laws and Institutions

Türkiye holds multiple migration identities within various migration regimes reflecting the historical migration, asylum and refugee movements it has experienced since the early years of the Republic as well as the control, admission, and settlement policies it has developed for different migrant groups (Ihlamur Öner, 2022). Türkiye manages migration through a framework of laws and regulations. Additionally, Türkiye is a party to several international conventions and readmission agreements, and it signed a highly debated migration agreement with the EU in 2016.

Regulation of Migration and International Protection until 2010s

Throughout the 1920s and 1930s, Türkiye signed treaties with Greece, Bulgaria, and Romania to manage emigration from former Ottoman territories. Only these groups, as well as Muslim Turkish speakers and Muslim ethnic communities deemed capable of assimilating into the new Turkish identity, were granted the right to immigrate (Çağaptay, 2002; Kirişçi, 2003: 4). This right and their movement to Türkiye were regulated by successive Laws on Settlement.⁵⁰ The 1934 Law of Settlement (Law No. 2510) became the foundational piece of legislation, defining the rules of immigration and asylum in the Republic of Türkiye, as well as managing internal migration. The third article of this law laid the foundation for Türkiye's traditional migration policy. According to this article, the right to immigrate to and settle in Türkiye through international migration is granted only to those 'of Turkish descent and of Turkish culture'. However, this does not refer to all individuals of Turkish descent, but rather to Turkish and/or Muslim groups who remained in the Balkans following the dissolution of the Ottoman Empire. The ethnonationalist approach expressed in this article shaped Türkiye's policies regarding the mobility of foreigners (İçduygu, Erder and Gençkaya, 2014). This restrictive migration policy can also be seen in other laws adopted during the early years of the Republic, including the Village Law, Foreigners' Employment Law, and regulations on land

⁵⁰ 1923 Population Exchange Law, 1926 Law No. 885 on Settlement, 1934 Law no. 2510 on Settlement, 2006 Law no. 5543 on Settlement.

ownership (Genç and Eryılmaz, 2021).⁵¹ As previously noted, in the period between 1923 and 1997, more than 1.5 million Turkish-speaking Muslims and Muslims from Bulgaria, Yugoslavia, Romania, Greece, and East Turkestan immigrated to Türkiye. Half of them were officially settled through the state-managed settlement policy and its institutions.⁵² To this day, this policy continues to apply to Muslim Turkish speakers and Muslim ethnic groups from former Ottoman territories.⁵³

Another significant development affecting Türkiye's migration policies was its signing of the 1951 United Nations Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees. Later, in 1967, Türkiye acceded to the New York Protocol, which updated the 1951 Convention, but retained a geographic limitation. In line with the geographical limitation, Türkiye applies the Convention and its Protocol only to persons who have become refugees due to events occurring in Europe.⁵⁴ However, beginning in the late 1970s, Türkiye started receiving mass asylum movements from its neighbors, first from Iran and then from Iraq. In 1994, Türkiye introduced the Asylum Regulation to align its migration and asylum framework with global standards under changing circumstances (Kirişçi, 2002: 19). This regulation was intended to manage mass asylum movements from Türkiye's eastern neighbours while preserving the geographical limitation. It also facilitated the resettlement of refugees in third countries. The 1994 Regulation was widely criticised by human rights organizations and scholars for maintaining the geographical limitation, recognizing only temporary protection, experiencing implementation challenges, and restricting the rights of refugees (İçduygu, Erder, and Gençkaya, 2014).

Until the 2010s, Türkiye's migration and asylum system, shaped by these laws, the UN Convention, its Protocol, and the 1994 Regulation, operated on three main principles: (1) prioritizing individuals of Turkish descent in migration to Türkiye, (2) granting refugee status only to asylum-seekers from Europe, and (3) providing temporary protection to non-European countries (Kirişçi, 2003; Suter, 2013). This created a two-tiered asylum system, in which European asylum-seekers and people

⁵¹ As part of the EU accession efforts, 1934 Law of Settlement was replaced by a new law on settlement in 2006. However, the restrictive spirit is kept in the new law as well.

⁵² The Grand National Assembly of Türkiye, İskan Kanunu Tasarısı ve İskan Kanununda Değişiklik Yapılması Hakkında Kanun Tasarısı ile Bayındırlık, İmar, Ulaştırma ve Turizm Komisyonu Raporu (1/352, 1/12 (Ankara, 2003).

⁵³ These immigrants can acquire Turkish citizenship through citizenship laws that allow ethnic Turks to become naturalized Turkish citizens (İçduygu and Aksel, 2012: 7).

⁵⁴ There are cases when Türkiye chose not to grant refugee status even to Europeans fleeing to Türkiye as a result of events occurring in Europe. For example, Bosniac asylum-seekers, who fled to Türkiye during the war in Yugoslavia (1992-1995), were not recognized as refugees but offered only temporary protection (Şirin, 2008).

of Turkish descent were granted prioritised status, while non-European asylumseekers were required to submit asylum claims to both the UNHCR and the Turkish government (Suter, 2013). In the 1990s, Türkiye provided temporary protection to Iranians, Iraqi Kurds, Bosnians, and Chechens, many of whom either returned home, relocated to third countries, or, if of Turkish descent, obtained Turkish citizenship (Kirişçi, 2003; Erder, 2007). Türkiye continued to receive asylum seekers from Bosnia, Afghanistan, Somalia, Sudan, and more recently, Syria. Although they were not officially granted refugee status, Türkiye upheld the principle of *nonrefoulement*, offering them de facto international protection and treating them as temporary residents. During earlier waves of forced migration, many returned to their home countries or relocated to third countries (Kirişçi, 2003). However, as will be discussed in later sections, a distinct legal framework applies to Syrian forced migrants in Türkiye.

Criminalisation of Migrant Smuggling and Human Trafficking

In addition to the asylum-seekers, and in line with globalisation and the dissolution of the Soviet Union, Türkiye began receiving irregular workers and transit migrants in the late 1990s (İçduygu and Yükseker, 2012). With these movements, new phenomena—such as organized crime networks facilitating the movement of unauthorized migrants—started to emerge. These activities spanned several countries, transcended national borders, evaded state jurisdiction and enforcement, and exploited and harmed migrants. In a short period, the international community started to conceptualize these phenomena as human smuggling⁵⁵ and human trafficking. To address these crimes, international protocols were developed, and many states incorporated them into national legislation criminalising these acts.

Due to its geographical position, connecting developing countries to industrialised Europe, and the fact that its eastern and southeastern borders divide ethnic groups sometimes separating family members—Türkiye has long grappled with crossborder migration issues (Genç, 2015). Türkiye's counterterrorism efforts against the PKK, since the late 1980s, have added further complexity to these challenges. The dissolution of the Soviet Union in the 1990s, along with the acceleration of globalisation, further intensified transnational migration-related activities in Türkiye.

With a long and irregular coastline, proximity to the Greek islands (an EU member state), and mountainous and difficult-to-control land borders, Türkiye serves as both

⁵⁵ Human smuggling would later be reconceptualized as 'migrant smuggling'.

a source and a transit country for irregular migrants (Çiçekli, 2011). In recent decades, it has also become a destination country. Migrant smuggling networks have long played a role in facilitating the entry and transit of irregular migrants in Türkiye (İçduygu and Toktaş, 2002). Meanwhile, following the dissolution of the Soviet Union in the mid-1990s, Türkiye became both a destination and a transit country for human trafficking, particularly trafficking of women. Reports from the 1990s and 2000s highlight that women from former Soviet states, including Romania, Russia, Ukraine, Moldova, Armenia, Azerbaijan, and Georgia, were trafficked into or through Türkiye (Erder and Kaşka, 2003).

Although Türkiye has long experienced migrant smuggling and human trafficking, these phenomena were not fully recognised in the country until the late 1990s, and no national legal definitions had been established. As a result, until that time, migrant smuggling and human trafficking were not classified as criminal offenses under Turkish law, nor were there laws imposing criminal penalties for these acts (Genç, 2022). International efforts to regulate migrant smuggling and human trafficking gained momentum in the late 1990s, leading to the adoption of international conventions that established common definitions, principles, and legal frameworks. Türkiye aligned itself with these developments. The most significant developments in this regard include the establishment of the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC) in 1997 and the drafting of the United Nations Convention on Transnational Organised Crime (UNTOC) and its supplementary protocols. These protocols, also known as the Palermo Protocols, include the 'Protocol Against the Smuggling of Migrants by Land, Sea, and Air' and the 'Protocol to Prevent, Suppress, and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children'. Türkiye signed UNTOC and its Protocols on December 13, 2000. UNTOC and its Protocols came into force in Türkiye in March 2003. Following their entry into force, Türkiye revised its domestic legal framework. Articles 79 and 80 of the Turkish Penal Code (Law No. 5237), which came into force in 2005, redefined and criminalised human smuggling and trafficking.

EU Impact on Türkiye's Migration Laws

In the early 2000s, as part of its EU accession process, Türkiye started reviewing and updating its laws to align with the EU acquis. Türkiye's migration, visa, asylum and border control policies were brought under scrutiny. In the Accession Partnership Document, signed with the EU Commission, Türkiye's responsibilities regarding migration were outlined. Türkiye was required to draft a comprehensive migration law addressing key areas such as strengthening border management to combat irregular migration, aligning with the Schengen system, removing the geographical limitation, and reforming the asylum application and evaluation system. To meet these requirements, Türkiye published National Action Plans for the Adoption of the EU Acquis in 2001, 2003, and 2008, which served as roadmaps for reform. In 2005, Türkiye also adopted the National Action Plan on Asylum and Migration.

As part of these efforts, Migration Management and Border Management Bureaus were established within the Ministry of Interior in 2004 to develop a legal framework and facilitate compliance with the EU acquis. That same year, Türkiye became a member of the IOM, marking another milestone in capacity-building. In 2006, the 1934 Law of Settlement was repealed, and the new Law No. 5543 on Settlement was enacted. While these legal changes were being implemented, debates persisted. On one hand, there was broad recognition of the need for a new, comprehensive law-one that would address Türkiye's evolving migration dynamics, while also meeting EU pressure to remove the geographical limitation. On the other hand, there was reluctance to lift the geographical limitation due to concerns that Türkiye would become a primary destination for asylum seekers and struggle to prevent their permanent settlement. As noted previously, Türkiye began receiving Syrian asylumseekers in March 2011, and as their numbers grew into a mass influx, Turkish authorities took significant steps in migration management. The most notable step was the adoption of the Law on Foreigners and International Protection (LFIP, Law no. 6458) in 2013.

Law on Foreigners and International Protection (LFIP)

The Law on Foreigners and International Protection (LFIP, 2013) is the first national law in Türkiye that systematically regulates migration. The LFIP was designed to institutionalise Türkiye's fragmented migration management system, regulate visas, residence permits, and protection regimes, combat irregular migration, and introduce migrant adaptation policies for the first time.

One of the major reforms introduced by the LFIP was the transfer of Türkiye's migration management to a civilian institution, the Directorate General of Migration Management (DGMM), under the Ministry of Interior, along with its provincial migration directorates (Evranos and Ark Yıldırım, 2022). The DGMM assumed the broadest mandate in Türkiye's migration governance, overseeing entry to and exit of foreigners, residence permits and international protection, deportation processes, temporary protection measures, and protection of victims of human trafficking. In 2019, the DGMM was elevated to a Presidency under the Ministry of Interior, now known as the Presidency for Migration Management (PMM). This

change aimed to enhance migration governance and improve efficiency in managing asylum processes in Türkiye.

Additionally, the LFIP introduced new provisions, aligning Türkiye's system closely with the EU's Schengen model. Key changes included: a) a maximum of 90-day visa limit, b) an airport transit visa requirement, c) a 15-day border visa, only issued 'in exceptional cases' and d) detailed criteria for visa denial, cancellation, and refusal, ensuring foreign nationals are informed of the reasons for visa rejections. Despite these new measures, Türkiye maintains a highly liberal visa regime, largely due to its e-visa system (Evranos and Ark, 2022).

The LFIP expanded legal protections for asylum-seekers who do not qualify under Türkiye's geographical limitation. It introduced three distinct international protection statuses for refugees (granted to those fleeing persecution from Europe), conditional refugees, and subsidiary protection. A conditional refugee is simply a refugee from a country outside Europe - and according to law they shall be allowed to reside in Türkiye temporarily until they are resettled to a third country. Individuals who cannot be classified as refugees or conditional refugees but would face life-threatening situations if returned to their country are, for the first time in Turkish legal system, granted protection under the subsidiary protection status. (Şirin Öner and Genç, 2015). Additionally, LFIP recognised temporary protection for mass displacement situations (PMM, 2025e). However, the law lacked detailed implementation mechanisms, which were later addressed in the Temporary Protection Directive of 2014. The principle of *non-refoulement* was also formally established as a fundamental rule, ensuring that individuals cannot be forcibly returned to countries where they would face persecution or harm.

The LFIP also introduced major reforms to residence permits to combat irregular migration and encourage regular migration. In this context, a residence permit requirement has been introduced for individuals who will stay in Türkiye for more than 90 days, and different types of residence permits were defined such as long-term residence permit, student residence permit, family residence permit and residence permit on humanitarian grounds.

EU-Türkiye Readmission Agreement and the EU – Türkiye Migration Deal

The EU and Türkiye have historically had a difficult relationship, with mobility and migration emerging as key topics in their relations in recent decades (Erzan and Kirişçi 2006; İçduygu 2011; Aydın-Düzgit and Tocci 2015). İçduygu (2011) highlights two primary factors that have shaped the debate over Türkiye's EU

membership in relation to migration. First, the rise in irregular migrants entering the EU via Türkiye raised concerns that Türkiye was losing control of its borders. Second, politicians opposing Türkiye's EU membership often invoked fears of a potential 'invasion of the EU' by migrants from Türkiye or a 'flood of Turkish nationals' should full membership be granted (Erzan and Kirişçi 2006, p.1; İçduygu 2011, p. 2). Additionally, Aydın-Düzgit and Tocci (2015: 134) emphasize other critical concerns, including 'the tensions caused by the EU's requirement for Schengen visas for Turkish citizens' and 'the challenge of integrating Turkish migrants in EU member states,' both of which intensified the significance of mobility and migration in the membership negotiations. Furthermore, negative public sentiment towards granting Turkish citizens freedom of movement has been fuelled by concerns over integration policies, the legacy of earlier Turkish immigration waves, and rising Islamophobia in Europe (İçduygu 2011). There is a widespread fear that such visa regularisation could lead to a substantial increase in migration from Türkiye to EU countries (Erzan and Kirişçi 2006).

The EU, on the other hand, has approached the issue pragmatically, using visa policies and visa liberalisation as strategic tools in its migration management strategy. Since the early 2000s, it has granted visa-free or simplified Schengen access to citizens of third countries that agree to sign readmission agreements—particularly those that serve as sources or transit countries for irregular migration to the EU. Meanwhile, candidate countries, including Türkiye, are required to tighten border controls to prevent irregular migration as part of their preparations to join the Schengen Area. These countries must align their migration, border, and asylum policies with EU standards before their territory can be integrated into the Schengen Area (Dedeoğlu and Genç, 2017).

During the mid-2000s, while the EU was open to discussing visa liberalisation in exchange for a readmission agreement, Turkish officials expressed hesitation. There was concern that signing such an agreement would turn Türkiye into 'a buffer zone' or 'a dumping ground' for irregular migrants (Bürgin 2012). Additionally, Türkiye viewed the EU's approach as contradictory, as visa facilitation was extended to third countries and members of the European Neighbourhood Policy, yet not to Türkiye—a future EU member state (Kirişçi 2008, p. 20). Due to these concerns, negotiations on visa facilitation in exchange for a readmission agreement stalled in 2006. However, in January 2011, the European Commission announced an agreement with Türkiye regarding the return of irregular migrants entering the EU via Türkiye. The readmission agreement was initialled on 21 June 2012 and formally signed on 13 December 2013. Alongside the readmission agreement, the EU launched the Visa Liberalisation Dialogue, guided by the 'Roadmap towards a visa-

free regime with Türkiye', which outlined the necessary steps Türkiye had to fulfil (Kirişçi 2014). However, during 2014 and 2015, Türkiye made little to no progress in meeting the conditions set forth in the Roadmap. The massive influx of Syrian refugees into the EU in 2015 prompted both sides to reassess their relationship and redefine their cooperation on migration management.

The influx of Syrian refugees to Europe in 2015 fuelled panic within the EU and created an urgent need to negotiate an arrangement with Türkiye to stop or slow the flow of migrants. For domestic political reasons, the Turkish political leadership was also eager to revive the EU accession process and resolve the protracted visa liberalisation issue (Kirişçi, 2021, 2). In this context, the parties negotiated the EU-Türkiye Joint Action Plan in October 2015, followed by the Migration Deal.

Under the terms, Türkiye agreed to strengthen border control, while Greece was granted the option to return 'all new irregular migrants' to Türkiye. For every irregular migrant returned from Greece, one registered asylum seeker in Türkiye would be resettled in the EU. Additionally, Türkiye was to receive two tranches of three billion euros in aid to support refugees in the country. As part of the deal, the EU committed to revitalise Türkiye's EU accession process by opening a new negotiation chapter and introducing a visa liberalisation programme for Turkish citizens (Önder, 2022).

The transactional nature of the agreement sparked significant criticism, with some describing it as a 'dirty deal' and likening it to 'horse trading', carried out at the expense of some of the world's most vulnerable people (Kirişçi, 2021:2). At the same time, both parties expressed dissatisfaction with its implementation. EU leaders were frustrated by Turkish President Recep Tayyip Erdoğan's repeated threats to 'open the borders' and allow refugees to flood into Europe. Meanwhile, Turkish officials criticised the financial aid, arguing that it was insufficient and that its distribution was too slow. Additionally, Türkiye frequently condemned the EU's failure to grant visa liberalisation for Turkish citizens and to reinvigorate Türkiye's EU accession process (Önder, 2022; Kirişçi, 2021).

Main Migrant Groups in Türkiye

The latest statistics from UNHCR (2024d) indicate that Türkiye hosts more than 4,4 million foreign individuals, with 3.2 million of them applying for international protection. Most of these are Syrians (93,8%) who hold temporary protection status (PMM, 2025c). Other foreigners include those with international protection status mainly from Afghanistan, Iraq, Iran, and Ukraine. As reported by the UNHCR (2024d), there are approximately 195,000 refugees and asylum seekers in Türkiye. Additionally, as of March 2025, there are almost 1.1 million foreign nationals with residence permits in Türkiye (PMM, 2025d). Currently, Türkiye hosts a diverse range of migrant groups, with significant populations from Syria, Afghanistan, Iraq, Iran and various Central Asian nations.

Syrians

Since 2011, Türkiye has experienced a significant influx of Syrians due to the Syrian Civil War, making Türkiye the largest refugee-hosting in the world (UNHCR, 2025). According to the latest data, Türkiye currently hosts 2,814,402 Syrian refugees under temporary protection, with the population comprising 51.5% males and 48.5% females (PMM, 2025c). As of March 2025, over 123,000 Syrians hold short- and long-term residence permits (PMM, 2025d). With a total of 34,631, Syrians rank second among migrants attempting to enter Türkiye illegally, following Afghans (PMM, 2025b). The Directorate General of Civil Registration and Citizenship Affairs (2024) reported that 238,768 Syrians have been granted Turkish citizenship. Compared to other migrant groups in Türkiye, Syrians have migrated in much large numbers over a shorter period, resulting in a significant impact on Türkiye's economic and social structure. Unlike other migrant groups, Syrians have spread across nearly every province in Türkiye, with significant concentrations in Istanbul (489,000) and Gaziantep (394,000) (PMM, 2025d). Consequently, over the years, Syrians have increasingly interacted with Turkish society, integrating into daily life. However, prejudice and negative attitudes toward Syrians have intensified in recent years (Akpınar, 2017; Sönmez and Adıgüzel, 2017), partly due to concerns over additional refugee influx from Central Asian countries and Türkiye's ongoing economic difficulties.

Like other Syrian communities worldwide, Syrians face significant challenges in Türkiye. UNHCR (2019) reported that 45% of school-aged Syrian children had not enrolled in school in Türkiye in 2019. Therefore, Syrian children struggle with language barriers, cultural differences, and a limited access to educational resources,

which hinder their integration into the Turkish education system (Taşkın and Erdemli, 2018). Access to healthcare services is another major challenge for Syrians. Barriers such as a lack of health insurance, language difficulties, and limited social security coverage contribute to their restricted access to primary healthcare services (Bircan and Sunata, 2015; Genç and Elitsoy, 2023).

Afghans

Due to ongoing conflicts and prolonged instability in Afghanistan, the number of Afghan migrants heading to Türkiye has been increasing each year. Afghan migrants typically reach Türkiye under challenging conditions, often using irregular migration routes. According to PMM (2025c), there are 60,000 Afghans in Türkiye holding short- and long-term residence permits. In 2024, Afghan migrants ranked first among the groups attempting to enter Türkiye through irregular ways, with a total of 65,815 individuals (PMM, 2025b). In addition, Türkiye hosts approximately 140,000 Afghan refugees and asylum-seekers. When considering unregistered Afghan migrants, estimates suggest that their total population in Türkiye may have reached to half a million in recent years. With the increase in their mobility, prejudice and discriminatory attitudes towards Afghans in Türkiye have risen (Tümtaş, 2022). In line with this trend, Afghan migrants tend to settle in specific neighbourhoods, leading to ghettoisation (Ustün and Vargün, 2022). Uncertainty stemming from their irregular status and limited access to basic services pose a significant barrier to their long-term integration into Turkish society (Kara and Tilbe, 2023).

Iraqis and Iranians

Long-standing instability and security problems in Iraq have led to the migration of Iraqi individuals to Türkiye. No official data exists on the size of the Iraqi community in the country. However, as of March 2025, PMM (2025c) reports that 123,254 Iraqis hold residence permits, and 8,535 were apprehended for being irregular throughout 2024. Additionally, 2,776 Iraqis are under international protection. Furthermore, according to UNHCR (2024d), 12,909 Iraqi individuals in Türkiye are recognized as refugees, while 89,397 are classified as asylum seekers. Considering all data, it is estimated that there are approximately 300,000 Iraqi individuals in Türkiye. Topgül (2016) stated that Iraqi refugees face social exclusion rooted in perceptions of otherness and language barriers. Furthermore, misconceptions by employers about their willingness to work for low wages and lack of agency exacerbate challenges in their employment experiences (Topgül, 2016). The number of Iranians migrating to Türkiye has also increased in recent years. Political repression in Iran, particularly targeting ethnic and religious minorities, has led to an exodus from the country (İçduygu and Aksel, 2013). Many Iranians seeking asylum in Türkiye view the country as a transit point for resettlement in the West (Akcapar, 2006). According to PMM (2025c), there are approximately 112,000 Iranians residing in Türkiye with short- and long-term residence permits. In addition, the number of Iranians apprehended irregular migration has been determined to be 2,632 in 2024 (PMM, 2025b). Only 1,416 Iranian individuals have been granted international protection status. Additionally, Türkiye hosts 5,388 refugees and 9,280 asylum seekers from originally Iran (UNHCR, 2024d). Recent studies (Ekhtiari and Aysan, 2023) indicate that Türkiye is one of the best destinations for Iranians, mainly due to its geographical and cultural proximity, which facilitates their integration into Turkish society. However, Iranian women face notable challenges in education, social, and economic areas (Lotfi and Porsuk, 2021).

Migrants from Central Asian Countries

Türkiye has become an attractive destination for migrants from Central Asian countries due to strong linguistic and cultural ties. Migrants from Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Turkmenistan, and Uzbekistan constitute a significant migrant population in Türkiye. As of March 2025, there are 170,631 Turkmens and 79,130 Uzbeks holding short- and long-term residence permits and 43,684 Kazakhs with long-term residence permits in Türkiye (PMM, 2025c). Throughout 2024, 10,285 Turkmen and 12,571 Uzbek irregular migrants were apprehended by Turkish authorities (PMM, 2025b). Educational migration is also a key driver for Central Asian migration to Türkiye. By March 2024, there were 27,604 Turkmen, 9,737 Kazakh and 5,732 Uzbek citizens holding student visas in the country (PMM 2025c). In total, it is estimated that Türkiye hosts over 300,000 migrants of Central Asian origin. The primary motivation for migration to Türkiye among Kyrgyz, Tajik, and Uzbek migrants is economic (Urinboyev and Eraliev, 2022). Türkiye is a preferred labour destination for Central Asian migrants due to visa-free regime, shared Islamic and Turkic heritage, established social networks with fellow Central Asian migrants, and relatively higher salary expectations (Nurdinova, 2018).

Conclusion

Türkiye has long been at the crossroads of migration due to its geopolitical location, historical ties, and evolving migration policies. Over the decades, the country has transitioned from being a source and transit country to a key destination for migrants, asylum seekers, and refugees. Driven by regional conflicts, economic disparities, and political instability, migration to Türkiye has significantly increased, shaping the country's demographic, social, and economic landscape.

Türkiye hosts one of the largest refugee populations in the world, with Syrians forming the majority under temporary protection, alongside significant numbers of Afghans, Iraqis, Iranians, and Central Asian migrants. These groups face varied challenges, including legal uncertainty, integration difficulties, labour market discrimination, and access to education and healthcare. While Türkiye has made significant strides in migration governance—introducing the LFIP, establishing the DGMM and later elevating it to PMM, and signing agreements with the EU—many challenges persist, particularly regarding the long-term integration of migrants, rising anti-migrant sentiment, and economic pressures.

Türkiye's relationship with the EU has further influenced its migration policies, leading to agreements such as the EU-Türkiye Readmission Agreement and the 2016 Migration Deal, which have shaped Türkiye's approach to irregular migration and asylum management. However, these agreements have been controversial, with both parties expressing dissatisfaction over their implementation and outcomes.

Looking ahead, Türkiye's migration policies will need to adapt to address emerging migration trends, ensure the protection and integration of migrants, and balance national interests with international obligations. As migration remains a defining feature of Türkiye's societal landscape, comprehensive policies, regional cooperation, and sustainable integration strategies will be essential for managing migration effectively and equitably in the years to come.

References

- Akcapar, S. K. (2006) 'Conversion as a migration strategy in a transit country: Iranian Shiites becoming Christians in Turkey', *International Migration Review*, 40(4), pp. 817–853.
- Akkaş, İ. and Aksalak, İ. (2021) 'Afgan Göçmenlere Yönelik Tutum ve Algıların Sosyolojik Analizi: Erzincan Örneği', *Sosyolojik Bağlam Dergisi*, 2(3), pp. 41–54.
- Akpınar, T. (2017) 'Türkiye'deki Suriyeli mülteci çocukların ve kadınların sosyal politika bağlamında yaşadıkları sorunlar', *Balkan and Near Eastern Journal of Social Sciences*, 3(3), pp. 16–29.
- Aydın-Düzgit, S. and Tocci, N. (2015) *Turkey and the European Union*. London and New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Barkan, Ö. L. (1952). Türkiye'de Muhacir İskan İşleri ve Bir İç Kolonizasyon Metodu Olarak Sürgünler. *İ. Ü. İktisat Fakültesi Mecmuası*, 13: 56-78.
- Bircan, T. and Sunata, U. (2015) 'Educational assessment of Syrian refugees in Turkey', *Migration Letters*, 12(3), pp. 226–237.
- Bürgin, A. (2012) 'European Commission's agency meets Ankara's agenda: Why Türkiye is ready for a readmission agreement', *Journal of European Public Policy*, 19(6), pp. 883–899.
- Çağaptay, S. (2002) 'Reconfiguring the Turkish nation in the 1930s', *Nationalism and Ethnic Politics*, 8(2), pp. 67–82.
- Chatty, D. (2010) *Displacement and dispossession in the modern Middle East*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Collier, P. (2003) *Breaking the conflict trap: Civil war and development policy*. World Bank Publications.
- Çiçekli, B. (2011) Türkiye'de yasadışı göç ve göçmen kaçakçılığı: Karakteristikler, metotlar ve profiller, 109K244 numaralı TÜBİTAK projesi, SOBAG, Ankara.
- Dedeoğlu, D. and Genç, H. D. (2017) 'Turkish migration to Europe: A modified gravity model analysis', *IZA Journal of Development and Migration*, 7, pp. 1–19.
- Ekhtiari, M. and Aysan, M. F. (2023) 'Günümüz Türkiyesinde İranlı göçmenlerin sosyoekonomik entegrasyonu', *İnsan ve Toplum*, 13(1), pp. 225–253.
- Erder, S. (2000) 'Uluslararası göçte yeni eğilimler: Türkiye "göç alan" ülke mi?', in F. Ercan (ed.) *Mübeccel Kıray için yazılar*. İstanbul: Bağlam Yayınları, pp. 235–259.
- Erder, S. (2007) 'Yabancısız kurgulanan ülkenin yabancıları', in F. A. Arı (ed.) *Türkiye'de yabancı işçiler*. İstanbul: Derin Yayınları, pp. 1–80.
- Erder, S. (2018) Zorla yerleştirmeden yerinden etmeye: Türkiye'de değişen iskân politikaları. İstanbul: İletişim.
- Erzan, R. and Kirişçi, K. (2006) 'Introduction', Turkish Studies, 7(1), pp. 1-11.

- Evranos, B. A. and Yıldırım, C. A. (2022) 'Yabancılar ve uluslararası koruma kanunu nedir?', in J. Karakoç and H. D. Genç (eds.) *50 soruda Türkiye'nin göç politikaları*. İstanbul: Altınbaş Yayınları, pp. 79–89.
- Faroqhi, S. (2014). *Travel and Artisans in the Ottoman Empire: Employment and Mobility in the Early Modern Era*, London: I.B. Taurus.
- Genç, D. (2015) 'An analysis of Türkiye's bordering processes: Why and against whom?', *Turkish Studies*, 16(4), pp. 527–553.
- Genç, D. (2022) 'Türkiye göçmen kaçakçılığı ve insan ticareti ile nasıl mücadele etmektedir?', in J. Karakoç and H. D. Genç (eds.) *50 soruda Türkiye'nin göç politikaları*. İstanbul: Altınbaş Yayınları, pp. 147–155.
- Genç, H.D. and Eryılmaz, G. S. (2021) 'Politics of real estate internationalization: Contested liberalization in Türkiye', *Turkish Studies*, 22(5), pp. 773–800.
- Genç, H.D. and Elitsoy, Z.A. (2023) 'Migrants' access to healthcare services: Evidence from fieldwork in Turkey', *New Perspectives on Turkey*, published online, pp. 1–21.
- Goldson, E. (1996) 'The effect of war on children', *Child Abuse and Neglect*, 20(9), pp. 809–819.
- Ihlamur-Öner, S. G. (2022) 'Türkiye'nin göç rejimleri içinde "çoklu kimliğe" sahip olması ne anlama gelmektedir?', in J. Karakoç and H. D. Genç (eds.) 50 soruda Türkiye'nin göç politikaları. İstanbul: Altınbaş Yayınları, pp. 53–64.
- İçduygu, A. (2011) 'Europe, Türkiye, and international migration: An uneasy negotiation', presentation at the Migration Working Group, 26 January. San Domenico di Fiesole: European University Institute (EUI).
- İçduygu, A. and Aksel, D. B. (2013) 'Turkish migration policies: A critical historical retrospective', *Perceptions*, 18(3), pp. 167–190.
- İçduygu, A., Erder, S. and Gençkaya, Ö. F. (2014) *Türkiye'nin uluslararası göç politikaları: 1923-2023*. İstanbul: TÜBİTAK.
- İçduygu, A. and Sert, D. (2015) 'The changing waves of migration from the Balkans to Turkey: A historical account', in *Migration in the southern Balkans: From Ottoman territory to globalized nation states*, pp. 85–104.
- İçduygu, A. and Toktaş, Ş. (2002) 'How do smuggling and trafficking operate via irregular border crossings in the Middle East? Evidence from fieldwork in Türkiye', *International Migration*, 40(6), pp. 25–54.
- İçduygu, A. and Yükseker, D. (2012) 'Rethinking transit migration in Türkiye: Reality and re-presentation in the creation of a migratory phenomenon', *Population, Space and Place*, 18(4), pp. 441–456.
- Kara, Y. and Kaya Tilbe, F. (2023) 'Tarım ve Hayvancılık Sektöründe Çalışan Afgan Göçmenlerde Ekonomik Konumlanma ve Entegrasyon: Trakya Bölgesi Örneği', MANAS Sosyal Araştırmalar Dergisi, 12(4), pp. 1413-1424.

- Karpat, K. (2003) Ottoman Population 1830-1914: Demographic and social characteristics. Madison: University of Wisconsin Press.
- Kaytaz, E. S. (2016). Afghan journeys to Turkey: narratives of immobility, travel and transformation. *Geopolitics*, *21*(2), pp. 284-302.
- Kul, Ö. (2022) '1949 sonrası Doğu Türkistan'dan Türkiye'ye göçler ve Türkiye'de göçmenlerin durumu', in Aslan, Z. (ed.) 19. Yüzyıldan Günümüze Türkiye'ye Yapılan Göçler, Göçmenlik ve Sosyal Uyum. Ankara: Atatürk Araştırma Merkezi, pp. 25-38.
- Kirişçi, K. (2003) 'The Question of Asylum and Illegal Migration in European Union-Turkish Relations', *Turkish Studies*, 4(1), pp. 79-106.
- Kirişçi, K. (2008) *Managing irregular migration in Türkiye: a political-bureaucratic perspective*. Consortium for Applied Research on International Migration, Analytic and Synthetic Notes 2008/61.
- Kirişçi, K. (2014) 'Will the readmission agreement bring the EU and Türkiye together or pull them apart?', CEPS Commentary. Available at: https://www.ceps.eu/system/files/KK%20EU-Türkiye%20readmission%20agreement.pdf [Accessed: 12 September 2024].
- Kirişçi, K. (2021) 'As EU-Türkiye migration agreement reaches the five-year mark, add a job creation element', *Brookings Institute*. Available at: https://www.brookings.edu/articles/as-eu-Türkiye-migration-agreement-reaches-thefive-year-mark-add-a-job-creation-element/ [Accessed: 16 September 2024].
- Law on Foreigners and International Protection (2013) *Official Gazette of Türkiye*. Available at: <u>https://www.mevzuat.gov.tr/MevzuatMetin/1.5.6458.pdf</u> [Accessed: 15 September 2024].
- Lee, E. S. (1966) 'A theory of migration', *Demography*, 3(1), pp. 47-57.
- Lotfi, S. and Porsuk, S. (2021) 'Türkiye'ye Göç Etmiş İranlı Kadınların Sosyo-Ekonomik Durumlarının Değerlendirilmesi', *Elektronik Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi*, 20(78), pp. 1047-1059.
- Melton, G. J. (2014) Faiths Across Time: 5000 Years of Religious History. California: ABC-CLIO, LLC.
- Moore, W. H. and Shellman, S. M. (2004) 'Fear of persecution: Forced migration, 1952-1995', *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 48(5), pp. 723-745.
- Nurdinova, S. R. (2018) 'Socio-economic factors affecting Uzbek labor migrants in Turkey', in Laurelle, M. and Schenk, C. (eds.) *Eurasia on the Move: Interdisciplinary Approaches to a Dynamic Migration Region*. Central Asia Program, pp. 119-127.
- Önder, S. (2022) 18 Mart 2016 Tarihli Türkiye-AB Mutabakatı Nedir? Karakoç, J. Ve Genç, HD (der.) *50 Soruda Türkiye'nin Göç Politikaları*, İstanbul: Altınbaş Yayınları, ss. 164-173.
- Özbay, F. and Yücel, B. (2001) *Türkiye'de Nüfus Hareketleri, Devlet Politikaları ve Demografik Yapı, Nüfus ve Kalkınma*. Ankara: Hacettepe Üniversitesi Nüfus Etütleri Enstitüsü.

- Özdemir, E. (2016) 'Türk dış politikası açısından bir kriz örneği: I. Körfez Savaşı ve Türkiye'ye gelen Iraklı Kürt sığınmacılar (1991)', *Bölgesel Çalışmalar*, 1(1), pp. 217-249.
- Presidency for Migration Management (PMM) (2025a) *Mass influxes*. Available at: <u>https://www.goc.gov.tr/kitlesel-akinlar</u> [Accessed: 11 March 2025].
- Presidency for Migration Management (PMM) (2025b) *Irregular migration statistics*. Available at: <u>https://en.goc.gov.tr/irregular-migration</u> [Accessed: 11 March 2025].
- Presidency for Migration Management (PMM) (2025c) *Temporary protection*. Available at: <u>https://en.goc.gov.tr/temporary-protection27</u> [Accessed: 10 March 2025].
- Presidency for Migration Management (PMM) (2025d) *Residence permits*. Available at: <u>https://en.goc.gov.tr/residence-permits</u> [Accessed: 10 March 2025].
- Presidency for Migration Management (PMM) (2025e) *Temporary Protection in Law on Foreigners and International Protection*. Available at: <u>https://en.goc.gov.tr/temporary-protection-in-law-on-foreigners-and-international-protection</u> [Accessed: 11 March 2025].
- Rakhimov, M., and Yokubov, F. (2022). Uzbekistan External Migration: Key Trends And Directions. *Eurasian Research Journal, 4*(1), 27-47.
- Republic of Türkiye (2014a) Law on the approval of the agreement between the Republic of Türkiye and the European Union on the readmission of persons residing without authorization (Law No. 6552). Official Gazette, No. 29044.
- Republic of Türkiye (2014b) *Temporary Protection Regulation (Law No. 6883)*. Official Gazette, No. 29153.
- Silove, D. (2013) 'The ADAPT model: A conceptual framework for mental health and psychosocial programming in post-conflict settings', *Intervention: International Journal of Mental Health, Psychosocial Work and Counselling in Areas of Armed Conflict*, 11(3), pp. 237-248.
- Sirkeci, İ. and Eroğlu Utku, D. (2020) 'Türkiye'nin Kitlesel Akınlar Deneyiminin Çatışma Modeli ve 3Ka Ekseninde', *Göç Dergisi*, 7(2), pp. 319-342.
- Sönmez, M. E. and Adıgüzel, F. (2017) 'Türkiye'de Suriyeli Sığınmacı Algısı: Gaziantep Şehri Örneği', Gaziantep University Journal of Social Sciences, 16(3), pp. 797-807.
- Suter, B. (2013) Asylum and Migration Policy in Türkiye: An Overview of Developments in the Field 1990–2013. MIM Working Paper Series, No. 13:3. Malmö: Malmö University.
- Şahin, İ. and Düzgün, O. (2015) 'Türkiye'ye Gerçekleştirilen Ortadoğu Kaynaklı Zorunlu Göçlerin Sosyo-Ekonomik Etkileri: 1979-2014 Arası', *Tesam Akademi Dergisi*, 2(2), pp. 167-195.
- Şirin-Öner, A. and Genç, D. (2015) 'Vulnerability leading to mobility: Syrians' exodus from Türkiye', *Migration Letters*, 12(3), pp. 251-262.Taşkın, P., and Erdemli, O. (2018). Education for Syrian Refugees: Problems Faced by Teachers in Turkey. *Eurasian Journal of Educational Research*, 18(75), 155-178.

The Directorate General of Civil Registration and Citizenship Affairs (2024, August 21) Bir Televizyon Programında Türk Vatandaşlığının Kazanılmasına İlişkin Dezenformasyon Amaçlı Gerçek Dışı İddialara Yönelik Kamuoyu Duyurusu. Available at: <u>https://www.nvi.gov.tr/bir-televizyon-programinda-turk-vatandasligininkazanilmasina-iliskin-dezenformasyon-amacli-gercek-disi-iddialara-yonelik-kamuoyuduyurusu</u> [Accessed: 12 September 2024].

- Tepekaya, M. (2006) '19. yüzyılın ikinci yarısında Kırım ve Kafkasya'dan göç hareketleri ve Saruhan (Manisa) Sancağı'na göçler', *Türk Dünyası İncelemeleri Dergisi*, 6(2), pp. 463-480.
- Turkish Grand National Assembly Human Rights Inquiry Committee (2012) Report on the tent cities where Syrian citizens seeking asylum in our country are accommodated (24th Term, 2nd Legislative Year, p. 2). Turkish Grand National Assembly.
- Tümtaş, M. S. (2022) 'Nöbetleşe Dışlanma Zincirinde Son Halka: Düzensiz Afgan Göçmenler', *Akdeniz İnsani Bilimler Dergisi*, 12, pp. 217-218.
- Toksöz, G., Erdoğdu, S. and Kaşka, S. (2012) *Irregular Migration in Türkiye and Situation of Migrant Workers in the Labour Market*. Istanbul: IOM Publications.
- UNHCR. (2015, January 7). Over one million sea arrivals reach Europe in 2015. United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. <u>https://www.unhcr.org/news/stories/over-one-million-sea-arrivals-reach-europe-2015</u>
- UNHCR (2019, October) *Turkey, Education*. United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. Available at: <u>https://reporting.unhcr.org/education-43</u> [Accessed: 12 September 2024].
- UNHCR (2022) *Bi-annual fact sheet: September 2022 Türkiye.* United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. Available at: <u>https://www.unhcr.org/tr/wp-content/uploads/sites/14/2022/11/Bi-annual-fact-sheet-2022-09-Turkiye.pdf</u> [Accessed: 12 September 2024].
- UNHCR (2024a, August 31) *What is a refugee?* United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. Available at: <u>https://www.unrefugees.org/refugee-facts/what-is-a-refugee/</u>[Accessed: 12 September 2024].
- UNHCR (2024b, June 13) *Global trends*. United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. Available at: <u>https://www.unhcr.org/global-trends-report-2023</u> [Accessed: 12 September 2024].
- UNHCR (2024c, August 22) *Syria Regional Refugee Response*. United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. Available at: <u>https://data.unhcr.org/en/situations/syria</u> [Accessed: 12 September 2024].
- UNHCR (2024d) *Bi-annual fact sheet: September 2024 Türkiye.* United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. Available at: https://www.unhcr.org/tr/sites/tr/files/legacy-pdf/bi-annual-fact-sheet-2024-09turkiye.pdf [Accessed: 10 March 2025].

- UNHCR (2025, February 19) *Ukraine Refugee Situation*. United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. Available at: <u>https://data.unhcr.org/en/situations/ukraine</u> [Accessed: 10 March 2025].
- Urinboyev, R. and Eraliev, S. (2022). *The Political Economy of Non-Western Migration Regimes: Central Asian Migrant Workers in Russia and Turkey*. New York and London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Uslu, İ. and Ceylan, A. (2019) 'Türkiye Cumhuriyeti'ne yönelen kitlesel göç hareketleri ve kabul mekanizmasındaki yaklaşımlara ilişkin bir inceleme: 1989 Bulgaristan, 1991 Irak ve 2011 Suriye göçleri', *Yakın Dönem Türkiye Araştırmaları*, (36), pp. 199-221.
- Üstün, K. and Vargün, B. (2022) 'Uluslararası Göç Ve Afgan Göçmenler Örneği', *Ardahan Üniversitesi İnsani Bilimler ve Edebiyat Fakültesi Belgü Dergisi*, (6), pp. 76-86.
- Wood, W. B. (1994) 'Forced migration: local conflicts and international dilemmas', *Annals of the Association of American Geographers*, 84(4), pp. 607-634.
- Zafer, A. B. (2017) 'Migrations from Caucasia to Anatolia and Caucasian Immigrants', *International Journal of Social Inquiry*, 10(1), pp. 165-193.

Migration to and from Ghana: Historical and Contemporary Dynamics

Mary Boatemaa Setrana⁵⁶, John Narh⁵⁷, Owusuaa Eshia⁵⁸

Introduction

Ghana is situated in West Africa and covers an area of about 234, 000 km². It shares boundaries⁵⁹ with Ivory Coast, Burkina Faso and Togo to the west, north and east respectively. To the south is the Gulf of Guinea which gives a coastline of about 600 km to the country (Dei, 2010). According to the 2021 Population and Housing Census, Ghana's population stood at 30.8 million (GSS, 2021), making it the most populous country in West Africa second only to Nigeria. As Ghana's population continues to increase, so does the movement of her people. This chapter explores the migration history of Ghana, as well as currents trends and dynamics of international and internal migration.

Abridged Migration History of Ghana

In Ghana, migration is a common socio-economic, but complex phenomenon with a long history. Long before the arrival of Europeans on the coast, a well-established

⁵⁶ Professor, Director of the Centre for Migration Studies, University of Ghana; <u>mbsetrana@ug.edu.gh</u>

⁵⁷ Researcher, Centre for Migration Studies, University of Ghana; jnarh001@st.ug.edu.gh

⁵⁸ Researcher, Centre for Migration Studies, University of Ghana; joeshia@st.ug.edu.gh

⁵⁹ These are artificially created boundaries and a legacy of European imperialism in Africa

North-South migration pattern existed within the geographical space that later became the Gold Coast and modern-day Ghana. At the time, trade was a major driver of migration. The North-South migration pattern was part of the Trans-Saharan caravan trade route, facilitating the movement of people from neighbouring territories and the Sahel region to trade in goods like ivory, kola nuts, gold, salt and clothes at Salaga market or further south in markets in present-day Kumasi (Addo, 1975 cited in GSS, 2023; Clapperton, 1966).

Given that the mode of transportation was primarily by beasts of burden, a single trade trip could take up to several months, meaning that traders were often away from home and could technically be classified as migrants. Aside from trade, inter-tribal wars, often driven by competition for fertile or mineral-rich land, enslavement, or the need to escape dominant groups, also led to irregular and undefined patterns of migration in Ghana at the time (Boahen, 1975; Buah, 1980).

The arrival of Europeans on the cost of Ghana added a new dimension to and extended the established North-South migration pattern and intra/inter-tribal struggles (Boahen, 1966). The European presence expanded trading opportunities and intensified migration both within and across the country (Daaku, 1970; Sudarkasa, 1974-75). People from Mali, Nigeria and Niger migrated to Ghana for trade (Nypan, 1960; Rouch, 1959). During the European occupation, the introduction of cash crops such as oil palm, rubber, and cocoa in the coastal belt and forest zone of Ghana further intensified the North-South migration. This time, migration was not only for trade but mainly for labour, as people moved to work on plantations and in mines (Amin, 1974, as cited in Anarfi et al., 2003). The demand for labour in plantations and mines exceeded local supply, and there were reported cases of local resistance to these jobs, as they are more demanding than trading. This labour shortage pulled migrants from neighbouring French Colonies and Northern Ghana, who migrated southward to fill the workforce gaps (Adepoju, 2005; Nabila, 1985). The British colonial administration concentrated economic development in Southern Ghana, where they could extract natural resources such as gold, cocoa, bauxite, manganese, and rubber. As a result, Northern Ghana was largely relegated to a labour reserve. Later, the transatlantic slave trade further intensified forced migration. Powerful and armed groups raided villages, captured people and sold them into slavery. Salaga market transformed into a well-known slave trading centre, where captives from Northern Ghana and the broader Sahel region were paraded and sold before being transported to the coast and across the Atlantic into slavery. Additionally, wealthy individuals in central and southern Ghana purchased enslaved women, primarily from Northern Ghana, to serve as domestic workers and, in some cases, as mistresses (Setrana and Kliest, 2022).

In 1957, Ghana gained independence from British rule, but the North-South migration pattern persisted (Yaro, 2008). In the first decade of the post-colonial era, Southern Ghana remained a popular destination not only for migrants from northern Ghana, but also for labour migrants from Niger, Mali, Burkina Faso and other West African countries such as Togo, Benin, and Nigeria, due to the thriving mining and cocoa industries at the time (Awumbila et al., 2014).

In 1966, Ghana's first President, Osagyefo Dr Kwame Nkrumah, was overthrown in a military coup, and for over a decade, the country experienced repeated military coups and economic stagnation. This period could be described as Ghana's first 'lost decade' after independence. During this period, immigrants were partly blamed for the country's economic difficulties, and Nigerians in particular were expelled from Ghana (Bakewell and Haas, 2007; Yaro, 2008). This led to an exodus of both Ghanaians and foreign nationals, mainly to other countries within the West African subregion. This period largely marked the transition of Ghana from an immigration country dating back to pre-colonial and colonial times to an emigration country, as economic hardships drove large numbers of Ghanaians abroad.

Ironically, as Ghana's economic situation worsened, many Ghanaians migrated to Nigeria⁶⁰. By 1980, it was estimated that about one million Ghanaians had moved to Nigeria (Teye et al., 2015). At the time, approximately 300 Ghanaians migrated to Nigeria each day (Anarfi, 1982). Many Ghanaian migrants took advantage of the establishment of the Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS) to move to other countries within the subregion (Anarfi, 1982). Those who could afford to migrate further relocated to the United Kingdom (UK) due to colonial ties, while others migrated to the United States (US) and Canada, as English proficiency reduced language barriers in these countries. That is not to say Ghanaians did not migrate to other European countries; many relocated to English-speaking destinations (van Hear, 1998).

In 1983 and 1985, due to economic decline in Nigeria and under military rule, there were tit-for-tat expulsions of approximately 1.7 million Ghanaians from Nigeria. This event led to the popularisation of the term "Ghana Must Go", referring to the

⁶⁰ Nigeria was a popular destination for Ghanaians for two main reasons. First, the discovery of oil in Nigeria and the subsequent oil boom of the 1970s led to economic growth, attracting migrants in search of better opportunities. Second, both Ghana and Nigeria were colonised by the British, and with English as their official language, there was no language barrier, unlike in the neighbouring French-speaking colonies.

cheap and spacious bags that Ghanaians rushed to buy to pack and transport their belongings to Ghana (Bakewell and Haas, 2007; Lawal, 2019).

The return of civilian rule in 1992, which ushered Ghana into its ongoing Fourth Republic, along with relatively stabilised economic conditions in the mid-1990s, contributed to a slowdown in emigration and even encouraged return migration to some extent. However, this trend was short-lived. By the early 2000s, a wave of young Ghanaians—mostly the male youth—began embarking on risky migration journeys through the Sahara Desert to North Africa, particularly Libya, and across the Mediterranean Sea into Southern Europe. While most of these migrants lacked formal skills in high demand in Europe, making regular migration difficult, the increasing difficulty in securing visas due to stricter EU immigration policies further pushed them towards these perilous migration routes.

We now examine the current flow, stock, trends, and patterns of migration in Ghana, with a focus on OECD countries and the West African subregion, as they are the primary destinations of Ghanaian migrants. Additionally, we explore the patterns and dynamics of internal migration.

Flow and Stock of Migrants between Ghana and OECD countries

Ghanaians migrate to nearly every country across the globe. Outside West Africa (WA), the majority move to developed nations. Since the concept of development is both contextual and contested, we use OECD countries as a reference point. Table 1 shows the annual flow of Ghanaians to the top ten OECD destination countries from 2012 to 2021.

Time period	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
Reference area										
United States	10,463	10,143	6,990	6,103	6,787	8,321	8,282	8,439	4,532	3,883
Germany	2,356	3,014	3,544	4,983	3,890	3,785	4,025	4,736	3,305	3,777
Italy	4,007	3,503	2,353	2,981	4,094	5,968	4,557	2,511	1,840	1,792
Spain	1,108	1,059	878	877	955	1,237	1,760	2,460	1,339	1,778
Canada	531	518	518	369	485	685	895	1,025	545	1,055
United Kingdom	1,000	1,000	1,000	2,000						
Belgium	565	608	525	529	442	395	499	564	380	475
Netherlands	427	450	381	392	396	471	568	639	373	526
Japan	362	336	296	298	422	311	424	407	169	98
Korea	122	158	173	283	294	389	346	279	199	188

Table 1. The leading OECD recipients of annual flow from Ghana, 2012-2021

Source: OECD, 2024

As shown in Table 1, over a ten-year period from 2012 to 2021, the USA received the highest flow of Ghanaians among OECD countries. In Europe, Germany and Italy, and in Asia, Japan and South Korea, have been popular destinations for Ghanaian migrants. Although data for the UK has been missing since 2016, it remains one of the key destinations, receiving a significant annual flow of Ghanaians. Migration flows from Ghana to all top ten OECD destination countries declined significantly in 2020, most likely due to travel restrictions, the prevalence of COVID-19, and related fears. However, as shown in Figure 1, there was already a downward trend in migration flows after peaking in 2017.



Figure 1. Trend of total annual flow of Ghanaians to the top ten receiving OECD countries Source: OECD, 2024.

The OECD data explorer does not provide a filtering system for tracking the flow of citizens from OECD countries to non-OECD countries. This limitation may stem from challenges in generating and storing migration data in many countries, including Ghana. However, data on outflows indicate that the top ten OECD countries from which Ghanaian migrants leave annually (though it is unclear whether they return to Ghana) are Germany, Spain, Italy, Japan, South Korea, the Netherlands, Türkiye, Belgium, the United Kingdom, and Denmark. While the USA receives the highest number of Ghanaian migrants annually, and Canada is also a leading recipient, these two countries do not appear among those from which Ghanaian migrants depart. Similarly, Japan and South Korea, which receive the smallest inflows of Ghanaian migrants among the top ten OECD destinations, rank fourth and fifth, respectively, in terms of outflow of Ghanaian migrants. Additionally, Türkiye and Denmark, which are not among the top OECD recipients of Ghanaian migrants, are among the key departure points for Ghanaian outflows.

The continuous movement of Ghanaians abroad is contributing to an increasing global stock of Ghanaian migrants. According to the United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (UNDESA), Ghana contributed 1,004,324 migrants to the international migrant stock by mid-2020, of which 47.3% were female (UNDESA, 2020). In the same period, Ghana hosted 476,412 international migrants (UNDESA, 2020). This indicates that Ghana is primarily a country of

emigration, as net migration remains negative. A notable example is that while the USA hosted 201,086 Ghanaian migrants, Ghana hosted only 716 American migrants in 2020. Although the UNDESA data is currently the most comprehensive source available, it remains incomplete, as figures for citizens of many countries, such as Germans, residing in Ghana are unavailable.

The top ten OECD countries with the highest accumulated stock of Ghanaian migrants from 2012 to 2021, in order of significance, are the United States, Italy, United Kingdom, Germany, Spain, Netherlands, Belgium, France, Japan, and Sweden (OECD, 2024). According to the UNDESA, 509,861 Ghanaians—representing 50.8% of the total Ghanaian migrant population—were residing in Europe and North America as of 2020 (UNDESA, 2020).

Many Ghanaian migrants have acquired nationality in their destination countries. Table 2 presents the top ten countries that granted nationality to Ghanaian immigrants from 2012 to 2021.

		-								
Time period	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
United States	5,292	5,061	5,075	5,968	6,344	5,729	6,002	6,863	4,908	5,999
United Kingdom	4,744	4,676	3,138	2,978	3,562	2,591	3,179	2,719	2,415	2,303
Italy	1,288	2,838	3,700	3,465	4,416	2,993	1,696	1,526	1,411	1,377
Germany	456	760	669	707	694	830	695	785	560	690
Spain	200	705	730	472	673	234	520	522	655	592
Netherlands	540	435	575	503	507	393	374	426	524	353
Canada	397	436	652	638	447	267	477	570	260	392
Belgium	406	310	239	319	402	490	417	420	366	322
Australia	149	196	183	179	182	203	112	169	243	
France	121	136	145	121	149	139	146	134	93	144

Table 2. Acquisition of nationality by Ghanaians

Source OECD, 2024

Table 2 shows that the USA ranks first among the top ten OECD countries granting nationality to people of Ghanaian origin. During the time period under review, naturalisation peaked in 2016, followed by a steady decline in subsequent years, as illustrated in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Number and trend of acquisition of destination country's nationality by Ghanaian migrants Source: OECD, 2024

Flow and Stock of Migrants between Ghana and West African countries

It is estimated that 53% of African migrants migrate to other African countries (Yaro and Setrana, 2023). By mid-2020, 481,917 Ghanaians were living in other African countries. Of this number, the vast majority resided in Sub-Saharan Africa. Interestingly, 466,077 Ghanaian migrants were in other West African countries, meaning that 96.7% of Ghanaian migrants in Africa live in the West African subregion.

Table 3 presents the stock of Ghanaian migrants in selected West African countries alongside the stock of West African migrants residing in Ghana from 2000 to 2020.

Year	2000		2005		2010		2015		2020	
Countries	WAM in Gh	GhM in WA	WAM in Gh	GhM in WA	WAM in Gh	GhM in WA	WAM in Gh	GhM in WA	WAM in Gh	GhM in WA
Benin	9 987	3 698	14 044	7 844	13 963	12 065	17 183	15 076	19 736	16 226
Burkina Faso	46 451	29 139	50 321	27 293	48 452	30 810	58 704	32 217	67 431	33 487
Côte d'Ivoire	5 465	94 236	25 762	98 654	52 511	103 072	64 621	107 604	74 228	111 708
Liberia	13 084	9 542	50 459	6 646	24 718	2 069	30 418	8 113	34 940	7 524
Mali	4 004	2 388	5 631	9 786	4 175	4 058	5 137	4 993	5 900	5 857
Niger	4 714	1 602	6 629	1 632	4 915	1 659	6 048	1 680	6 945	2 145
Nigeria	16 584	90 479	28 321	179 834	57 056	183 688	70 214	222 377	80 652	238 284
Senegal	59	1 395	83	1 500	61	1 678	75	1 790	85	1 845
Sierra Leone	2 385	1 242	3 354	1 232	1 939	1 107	2 386	566	2 740	626
Togo	72 060	26 455	86 196	32 848	73 412	42 991	90 343	46 794	103 799	47 232
Total	174 793	260 176	270 800	367 269	281 202	388 197	345 129	441 639	396 456	465 247

Table 3: Stock of West African migrants in Ghana and Ghanaian migrants in other West African countries

Source: UNDESA, 2020. WA=West Africa, Gh=Ghana, WAM=West African migrants; GhM=Ghanaian migrants

Since the year 2000, the number of Ghanaian migrants in other West African countries has consistently exceeded the number of West African migrants in Ghana. However, Ghanaian migrants outnumber the citizens of those countries in Ghana only in Nigeria, Ivory Coast, and Senegal. Additionally, Mali was the only country in 2005 where the number of Ghanaian migrants surpassed that of Malian migrants in Ghana. For all other West African countries, the number of migrants in Ghana exceeds the number of Ghanaian migrants residing in those countries. Figure 3 presents the trend in migrant stock between Ghana and the top ten West African destination countries for Ghanaian migrants.



Figure 3 Trend in the stock of Ghanaian migrants in West Africa and West African migrants in Ghana. Source: Authors' construct based on UNDESA, 2020 data.

Figure 3 shows that while the number of Ghanaian migrants in Nigeria is significantly higher than in Ivory Coast, the number of migrants from these two countries residing in Ghana is relatively similar.

Internal Migration in Ghana

Internal migration in Ghana is dynamic and intense with patterns that largely reflect pre-colonial and colonial North-South migration trends. Post-colonial governments also concentrated development in southern Ghana, leaving the Northern part relatively underdeveloped. This has contributed to a higher movement of people from the north to the south than the reverse (Jarawura et al., 2024; Nabila, 1985). Another key driver of the North-South migration pattern in Ghana is climate change. Northern Ghana falls with Savannah zone, where climatic conditions are already harsh and have been further exacerbated by environmental changes. As a result, many migrants move southward, particularly during the off-farming season, in search of employment (Jarawura et al., 2024; Teye et al., 2021; Teye & Nikoi, 2022). It is important to note that these factors provide a simplified explanation of the North-South migration pattern. In reality, migration drivers are complex and multifaceted.

Migration in Ghana is predominantly rural-to-urban, as people move from villages to cities in search of better opportunities. Even within Southern Ghana, development in heavily concentrated in urban areas, leading to significant rural-to-urban migration. This trend is most common among young people, with median age of internal migrants being 29 years (GSS, 2023). Unlike international migration trends, where male migrants outnumber female migrants from Ghana, internal migration is female-dominated, with 52.5% of internal migrants being women (GSS, 2023).

Conclusions

Ghana has transitioned from a country of immigration during the pre-colonial and colonial eras to predominantly an emigration country in the post-colonial period. There is a strong relationship between flow and stock of Ghanaians migrants in their destination countries, as well as patterns of nationality acquisition. Most of the popular destination countries for Ghanaian migrants also have a large stock of Ghanaian nationals, and they are also the primary locations where Ghanaians acquire nationality.

Germany and Italy receive a significant inflow of Ghanaian migrants but also experience high outflow of Ghanaians, suggesting that these countries may serve as transit points for Ghanaian migrants. Given that the USA grants nationality to the highest number of Ghanaians, it is possible that some migrants first settle in European countries before moving to the USA. Although migration flows from Ghana have been declining since 2017, historical trends suggest that economic downturns typically drive increased out-migration. Since 2022, Ghana has experienced one of its worst economic crises, reinforcing expectations of a rise in outmigration in recent years.
Additionally, there is an intense and sustained flow of Ghanaians to other West African countries. While more migrants from other West African countries reside in Ghana, the extremely high number of Ghanaian migrants in Nigeria, Ivory Coast, and, to a lesser extent, Senegal, has resulted in Ghana having more migrants across West Africa than the number of West African migrants in Ghana.

Lastly, internal migration in Ghana follows a predominant North-South direction, mainly rural-to-urban movement, with women constituting the majority of internal migrants in recent years. With increasing climate variability and the absence of clear and radical policies to develop Northern Ghana and rural areas in general, current internal migration patterns and dynamics are expected to persist and even intensify

References List

- Adepoju, A. (2005). Migration in West Africa. A paper prepared for the Policy Analysis and Research Programme of the Global Commission on International Migration. Human Resources Development Centre, Lagos, Nigeria. Available at: <u>https://www.iom.int/sites/g/files/tmzbdl2616/files/2018-07/RS8.pdf</u> [Accessed: 16 March 2025]
- Anarfi, J. K. (1982). International labour migration in West Africa: a case study of the Ghanaian migrants in Lagos, Nigeria. Accra: Regional Institute for Population Studies.
- Anarfi, J.K., Kwankye, S., Ababio, O. and Tiemoko, R., (2003). Migration from and to Ghana: A Background Paper. Issued by the. *Development Research Centre on Migration, Globalization and Poverty*.
- Awumbila, M., Benneh, Y., Teye, J. K., & Atiim, G. (2014). Across artificial borders: An assessment of labour migration in the ECOWAS region. *Brussels: ACP Observatory on Migration*.
- Bakewell, O., & De Haas, H. (2007). African Migrations: continuities, discontinuities and recent transformations. In Chabal, P., Engel, U. and de Haan, L. (Eds.) African alternatives (pp. 95–117). Brill.
- Boahen, A. A. (1966). Topics in West African History. Longman.
- Boahen, A. A. (1975). *Ghana: Evolution and change in the nineteenth and twentieth centuries.* Longman.
- Buah, F. K. (1980). A History of Ghana. Macmillan Education.
- Clapperton, H. (1966). Journal of a Second Expedition into the Interior of Africa. Routledge.
- Daaku, K. Y. (1970). Trade and politics on the Gold Coast, 1600-1720: A study of the African reaction to European trade. Oxford University Press.

- Dei, L. A. (2010). Ghana. In Bird, E.C.F. (Ed.), Encyclopedia of the World's Coastal Landforms. Springer Netherlands (pp. 943–946). Available at DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4020-8639-7_169
- GSS. (2021). Population and Housing Census: Population of Regions and Districts. Ghana Statistical Service. Available at: <u>https://census2021.statsghana.gov.gh/</u> [Accessed: 11 March 2025]
- GSS. (2023). Ghana 2021 Population and Housing Census: Thematic Report: Migration.
 Ghana Statistical Service. Available at: <u>https://statsghana.gov.gh/gssmain/fileUpload/pressrelease/Thematic%20Report%200</u> <u>n%20Migration 09032022.pdf</u> [Accessed: 11 March 2025]
- Jarawura, F. X., Teye, J. K., Kleist, N., Lindegaard, L. S., & Quaye, D. A. (2024). 'These days, things have changed': historicizing current dynamics of climate-related migration in the savannah zone of Ghana. *Climate and Development*, pp. 1–11. Available at DOI: 10.1080/17565529.2024.2321168
- Lawal, S. (2019) 'Ghana must go: The ugly history of Africa's most famous bag'. Available at: <u>https://atavist.mg.co.za/ghana-must-go-the-ugly-history-of-africas-most-famous-bag/</u> [Accessed: 11 March 2025].
- Nabila, J. S. (1985). Internal Migration and Regional Development in Ghana. *RIPS (Ed), Internal Migration and Regional Development in Africa* (pp. 205–223). Legon, Accra: Regional Institute of Population Studies.
- Nypan, A. (1960). Market Trade: a sample survey of market traders in Accra (Vol. 2). *Economic Research Division*, University College of Ghana.
- OECD. (2024). *International Migration Database*. Available at: <u>https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=MIG</u> [Accessed: 11 March 2025]
- Rouch, J. (1959). The Study of Migration. West Africa, 29, pp. 417–419.
- Setrana, M.B. and Kleist, N., 2022. Gendered dynamics in west African migration. In J. K. Teye (Ed.), *Migration in West Africa: IMISCOE Regional Reader* (pp. 57-76). Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Sudarkasa, N. (1974-75). Commercial migration in West Africa with special reference to the Dagomba in Ghana. *African Urban Notes*, *Series B*(1), pp. 61–103.
- Teye, J. K., Awumbila, M., & Benneh, Y. (2015). Intra-regional migration in the ECOWAS region: Trends and emerging challenges. WAI-ZAI Paper No. 23. In Akoutou, A.B., Sohn, R., Vogl, M. & Yeboah (eds) Migration and Civil Society as Development Drivers–A Regional Perspective, pp. 97–124.
- Teye, J. K., Jarawura, F., Lindegaard, L. S., Kleist, N., Ladekjær Gravesen, M., Mantey, P., & Quaye, D. (2021). Climate mobility: Scoping study of two localities in Ghana (2021: 10). *DIIS Working Paper*. Available at: <u>https://www.econstor.eu/handle/10419/250092</u> [Accessed: 19 March 2025]

- Teye, J. K., & Nikoi, E. (2022). Climate-induced migration in West Africa. In J. K. Teye (Ed.), *Migration in West Africa: IMISCOE Regional Reader* (pp. 71–98). Cham: Springer International Publishing Cham.
- UNDESA. (2020). International Migrant Stock 2020: Destination and Origin. *United Nations*. Available at: <u>https://www.un.org/development/desa/pd/content/international-migrant-stock</u> [Accessed: 11 March 2025]
- van Hear, N. (1998). New Diasporas: The Mass Exodus, Dispersal and Regrouping of Migrant Communities. University College London Press.
- Yaro, J. A. (2008). Migration in West Africa: Patterns, issues and challenges. Accra: Centre for Migration Studies, University of Ghana.
- Yaro, J. A., & Setrana, M. B. (2023). The Dynamics of South–South Migration in Africa. In Crawley, H. & Teye, J.K. (Eds.), *The Palgrave Handbook of South–South Migration and Inequality* (pp. 183–199). Springer International Publishing.

Migration Trends in the South Caucasus: Past and Present

Lola Ruzikulova⁶¹

Introduction

The phenomenon of migration is as old as humanity itself (Haas, 2023). Throughout history, people have moved for various reasons, whether to explore new lands, escape conflicts and disasters or seek better living conditions and employment opportunities. The South Caucasus region is no exception and has experienced significant human mobility throughout its history. This article provides a concise analysis of migration trends and their historical context within the three South Caucasus nations–Armenia, Azerbaijan, and Georgia–summarising the most significant shifts in migration patterns over the past two centuries. It examines a brief history of mobilities across three distinct periods: (1) the era of the Russian Empire, (2) the Soviet period, and (3) the post-Soviet transformations.

Geopolitical events, economic transitions, social transformations, and armed conflicts have been key drivers of migration flows and shifts in these countries. The current borders of Armenia, Azerbaijan, and Georgia were established in the 1930s during the Soviet era. However, the ethnic composition of the region had already undergone significant changes under the rule of the Russian Empire and the Communist Party. The drawing of national borders was not primarily intended to align with ethnic identities; instead, it was dictated by political agendas. This process was further complicated by the region's complex and overlapping cultural, linguistic, and religious landscape.

⁶¹ Research intern, Sociology of Law Department, Lund University. Email: <u>lola.ruzikulova@soclaw.lu.se</u>

First under the Russian Empire, and later under the Bolsheviks, entire population groups were relocated across the region to serve political interests—for example, to shift the demographic balances in favour of one ethnic group or to resettle emptied territories with another (King, 2008).

The interethnic conflicts in the South Caucasus are not merely the result of recent political tensions but are deeply rooted in the resettlement policies of both the Russian Empire and the Soviet Union. These policies, which involved the strategic relocation of ethnic groups, often ignored historical territorial claims and disrupted demographic balances, creating long-term grievances. The artificially altered ethnic composition of certain regions contributed to conflicts, such as the ongoing disputes between Armenia and Azerbaijan, and the ethnic tensions affecting Georgia. The legacy of these resettlement policies continues to shape the geopolitical landscape and mobility patterns in the South Caucasus today, where economic pressures are now a dominant force. Unequal economic development, disparities in job opportunities, and resource distribution remain the primary drivers of mobility, influencing both internal migration and cross-border movement.

Studying migration trends in Armenia, Azerbaijan, and Georgia presents several challenges, particularly regarding demographic data collection. Statistical records from the late Soviet and post-Soviet periods are often inconsistent or incomplete, making it difficult to construct a precise and unified account of population movements. Additionally, methodologies for collecting and categorising migration data have varied across different periods and institutions, often leading to discrepancies that complicate comparative analysis. Political influences on data reporting further obscure the accuracy of historical migration statistics. Despite these limitations, this chapter seeks to provide a comprehensive overview by critically assessing available sources and contextualising migration trends within a broader historical and geopolitical framework.

A Brief Historical Overview of the Events That Shaped the Region

The Russian Empire

The incorporation of **Georgia** into the Russian Empire began in 1801 with the annexation of the Kingdom of Kartli-Kakheti, marking a turning point in the region's political landscape and, as a consequence, migration patterns. The Russian

Empire's policies encouraged the settlement of various ethnic groups on the annexed territories, including Russians, Armenians, Greeks, and Jews, significantly altering Georgia's demographic landscape with the newcomers. Russian peasants, particularly from the north of the country, were encouraged to settle in fertile regions like Kartli and Kakheti. Armenians became a prominent part of Tbilisi's population, while Greek and Jewish communities largely settled in Batumi and its surroundings, playing a key role in trade and commerce (Suny, 1988).

The integration process of Armenia into the Russian Empire followed soon after, beginning in the early 19th century. This process accelerated after the 1828 Treaty of Turkmenchay, which ended the Russo-Persian War and transferred Eastern Armenian territories from Persia to Russia. To strengthen its control, the Russian Empire encouraged Armenian migration from Persia and the Ottoman Empire to these newly acquired lands. This movement substantially altered the region's demographics, increasing the Christian population in areas previously dominated by Muslims and contributing to cultural transformation, diversity, and economic development (Suny, 1993).

The Russian Empire's expansion into the South Caucasus also affected Azerbaijan, formalised through the Treaty of Gulistan (1813) and the Treaty of Turkmenchay (1828), which followed the Russo-Persian Wars. These treaties resulted in massive territorial changes, leading to the cession of Azerbaijani provinces from Persia to Russia. About twenty Azerbaijani khanates were divided between Persia and Russia, fundamentally reshaping the region's demographic and political landscape (King 2008; Suny, 1993; Medzhid and Aleksanyan, 2019).

The Russian Empire continued its controlled migration policies to consolidate its rule over the newly acquired lands. The Erevan and Nakhichevan Khanates, incorporated following the Russo-Persian War of 1826-1828 and the Treaty of Turkmenchay, were reorganised into the Armenian Region. Russian authorities oversaw the resettlement of around 57,000 Christian Armenians from Iran and the Ottoman Empire, while approximately 12,000 Muslim nomads emigrated, further changing the demographic balance (Shopen, 1852 as cited in Saparov, 2015).

However, it was not until after the Russo-Turkish Wars of 1855-1856 and 1877-1878, which led to a new wave of Armenian migration from the Ottoman Empire, along with the continued emigration of Muslims, that Armenians formed a substantial majority in the region. Regardless of that, even then, and well into the twentieth century, the city of Erevan still had a Muslim majority (Bournoutian, 1996; King 2008).

Soviets

At the beginning of the twentieth century, all three South Caucasus states experienced a brief period of independence: Georgia in 1918-1921, Azerbaijan and Armenia in 1918-1920. During this time, they made efforts to establish and consolidate themselves as independent nations. However, internal tensions and instability undermined their ability to resist the Bolsheviks effectively, ultimately leading to their Sovietization (King, 2008).

The Soviet authorities followed the example of predecessors, orchestrating 52 internal relocation campaigns between 1918 and 1952, as documented in historical records (King, 2008, p. 197). These campaigns further reshaped the ethnic landscape of the South Caucasus, which had only recently begun to establish national identities within the borders defined by Soviet authorities.

Suspecting entire ethnic groups of disloyalty and collaboration with enemy forces, the Soviet government initiated mass deportations during World War II, a practice that continued in the postwar period. In November 1943, 70,000 Karachai were forcibly removed to Kazakhstan. In February 1944, over 300,000 Chechens and 80,000 Ingush were deported to various parts of Central Asia. The same year, under Stalin's orders, approximately 120,000 Meskhetian Turks, along with some Kurds and Khemshils, were forcibly relocated to Central Asia. Entire villages and districts in the Caucasus were completely depopulated, and in their place, new settlers—predominantly Russians—were brought in to replace the displaced communities (King, 2008; van Selm, 2017).

The urbanization process further influenced migration trends in Armenia, Azerbaijan, and Georgia. Previously rural countries saw the emergence of large urban centres, transforming their demographic landscapes and reducing rural populations. Between 1959 and 1979, the populations of all three capitals of the South Caucasian Soviet republics nearly doubled (King, 2008). The Soviet authorities encouraged migration across republics for various reasons, including labour demands, industrialization, and administrative policies. As a result, people from other Soviet republics, including Russians, Ukrainians, and Belarusians, migrated to Georgia, particularly to urban areas and industrial centres. This was part of the broader Soviet policy to promote economic integration and socialist development across the Union.

Unlike Georgia, Armenia experienced limited immigration from other Soviet republics, largely due to its geographical isolation and a strong emphasis on fostering an Armenian ethnic identity. This strategic focus on national identity contributed to a less diverse demographic landscape in Armenia compared to Georgia and Azerbaijan. The mono-ethnic composition, coupled with Armenia's relatively small economy and lower levels of industrialization, made it a less attractive destination for migrants from other Soviet republics (Suny, 1988).

The Soviet Union's intensive policies of internal population movements played a dual role in shaping the ethnic landscape. Paradoxically, both despite and because of these policies, the three South Caucasian republics became more mono-ethnic than at any other point in their history. For instance, one of the significant events contributing to the ethnic homogenization of Azerbaijan and Armenia was the campaign of mass resettlement of Azerbaijani collective farm workers from the Armenian SSR to the Kura-Araks lowlands in the Azerbaijan SSR. Between 1948 and 1950, the USSR Council of Ministers planned the relocation of around 100,000 Azerbaijanis. By 1953, around 53,000 Azerbaijanis had been relocated, though many struggled to adapt to the new environment and were forced to flee to other Soviet republics (Council of Europe, 2023).

Additionally, voluntary family and labour-related migration between Soviet republics reinforced the trend toward building mono-ethnic states. This process stimulated the outflow of non-titular ethnic groups, while simultaneously encouraging Georgians, Armenians, and Azerbaijanis from other Soviet republics to move to their respective homelands.

Independence Era: Transformation and Challenges in the South Caucasus

After the collapse of the USSR in 1991, the newly independent post-Soviet states remained interconnected, despite the emergence of new borders that separated millions from their ethnic homelands, relatives, and disrupted long-standing economic and cultural ties. Migration between the former Soviet republics has persisted throughout the post-Soviet period driven by economic disparities and social development differences among newly independent states. The unequal economic growth rates across the region became the main push factor, leading to continued migration, particularly to the Russian Federation. With the fall of the Iron Curtain, these countries also opened to global migration, diversifying the regional migration landscape. However, despite these new global patterns, the Eurasian migration system remains centred on CIS (Commonwealth of Independent States) countries, although it is gradually weakening (Denisenko, Mkrtchyan and Chudinovskikh, 2020).

The dissolution of the USSR in 1991 marked a critical turning point for migration in the region. Economic decline, a dramatic deterioration in living standards, shifting political and regulatory frameworks, and ethnic tensions forced many to relocate both within and beyond the former Soviet republics. The South Caucasus states were among the hardest hit by the collapse of the Soviet Union, as they grappled not only with economic disruption but also with armed conflicts and ethnic tensions (Ioffe, 2020).

Armenia

Post-Soviet migration in Armenia followed a similar scenario as in many other former Soviet republics. Economic collapse, declining living standards, and armed conflicts were the main drivers of outmigration, while the resettlement of ethnic Armenians to Armenia served as a key factor driving immigration. What distinguishes Armenia from other post-Soviet countries is its large Armenian diaspora, which, in some cases, has functioned as a magnet for migration flows. According to the Statistical Committee of the Republic of Armenia, the country's officially registered population is 2,977,130 (ArmStat, 2024), while the global Armenian diaspora is estimated at over 7 million people (Sahakyan and Lieberman, 2022). This demographic imbalance stems from historical migration waves, both voluntary and forced, which took place during the 19th and early the 20th centuries. Many Armenians originally residing in Ottoman-controlled territories migrated to Europe and America, while others resettled in the South Caucasus under Russian rule (Suny, 1993).

Following the dissolution of the USSR, Armenian diaspora communities expanded further, with ethnic Armenians relocating to former Soviet republics such as Ukraine and Uzbekistan, as well as to European countries with little or no pre-existing Armenian diasporas (World Bank, 2019). Although precise data on the total Armenian diaspora is unavailable due to varying methodologies in population estimation, the largest estimated diaspora communities are found in the United States (approximately 700,000 to 1 million), the Russian Federation (1.1 million to 1.9 million), Georgia (400,000), and France (500,000) (IOM, 2022). These diaspora communities continue to shape Armenia's contemporary migration patterns.

After Armenia became a part of the Soviet Union in 1922, its population grew significantly, partly due to the internal migration of ethnic Armenians from other Soviet republics, particularly from the South Caucasus region. Over the next 50 years, Armenia's population more than tripled, reaching approximately 2.5 million

by the 1980s. During the 1970s and 1980s, economic stagnation and systemic crises in the Soviet Union, combined with the liberalisation of migration policies following the Helsinki Agreements, led to changes in migration patterns. These changes included a rise in seasonal migration within the USSR, where many Armenians worked in construction in other Soviet republics during the warmer months, and an increase in long-term migration, particularly to the United States, where up to 100,000 Armenians resettled, relying on existing diaspora resorting to the networks. Migration surged even more after the 1988 Spitak earthquake, which prompted approximately 200,000 Armenians to leave the country. However, many returned in the 1990s (IOM, 2008).

Following Armenia's independence from the Soviet Union, the country, like many other former USSR republics, experienced a significant rise in labour emigration due to economic decline and high unemployment rates. The unemployment rate grew from 1.6% in 1991 to almost 20% in 2010 (World Bank, 2020). Russia became the primary destination for Armenian labour migrants, as economic and social factors mirrored those driving migration from other post-communist republics. These factors included shared state and social structures, familiarity with the Russian language, and economic disparities and greater job opportunities in Russia. Given these circumstances, Armenia fostered strong cooperative ties with the Russian Federation, which emerged as the primary destination for Armenian labour migrants. The bilateral cooperation allowed Armenia to secure a comparatively high standard of social and legal protection for its citizens residing in Russia (IOM, 2008).

Armenian labour migration predominantly involves male outmigration. Temporary migrants tend to be older and less educated than permanent or long-term migrants, yet both groups share similar socio-demographic traits, primarily consisting of young adults (20-40 years old) with general secondary education (World Bank, 2019). During the 2000s, labour migration from Armenia was substantial. By 2010, an estimated 600,000 to 700,000 long-term migrants and 80,000 seasonal labour migrants had left the country, with 85% to 95% working in Russia (Chudinovskikh and Denisenko, 2020). The Russian Federation remains the primary destination for both temporary and permanent Armenian migrants. Several factors make migration to Russia more accessible, including cultural ties from the shared Soviet past, a visafree regime, extensive migrant networks, affordable transportation, and Armenians' proficiency in the Russian language. Another key factor is the large Armenian diaspora in Russia, estimated at 1.2 million people, representing 10-12% of the global Armenian population. In 2017, Russian authorities recorded 232,247 Armenian citizens residing in Russia for work purposes (World Bank, 2019; Chudinovskikh and Denisenko, 2020).

Armenia's economy relies heavily on remittances. Between 2009 and 2013, personal remittances accounted for 21% of the country's GDP, making Armenia the fourth highest remittance-dependent country globally, following Nepal, Moldova, and Haiti (Grigoryan and Khachatryan, 2022). In 2019, the World Bank confirmed that remittances continue to play a crucial role in the livelihoods of Armenian households, with international migrants contributing over 40% of their household income. (World Bank, 2019).

Multiple armed conflicts in the South Caucasus have significantly influenced migration flows in and out of Armenia. Between 1989 and 1990, about 170,000 ethnic Azerbaijanis left Armenia, due to the escalation of conflict over Nagorno-Karabakh, while about 360,000 ethnic Armenians arrived from Azerbaijan. However, soon after, many of these newcomers migrated further, mainly to Russia and the United States (IOM, 2008). The Syria civil war also triggered population movements to Armenia. According to UNHCR, since 2011, Armenia hosted over 22.000 displaced persons, mostly ethnic Armenians from Syria. By 2020, 14,000 remained in the country (Hayrapetyan, 2020). Fewer than one thousand Syrian refugees were still registered in Armenia (UNHCR, 2024a).

The largest recent migration influx occurred in September 2022, when more than 100,000 refugees fled to Armenia within days following the surrender of the de-facto Armenian government in Nagorno-Karabakh, when Azerbaijan restored its territorial integrity during the Second Karabakh War (Kucera, 2023). By December 2023, Armenia was hosting over 140,000 refugees from Azerbaijan (UNHCR, 2024a). Despite efforts to support these refugees, the Armenian government faces significant challenges in managing the mass resettlement, as one in every thirty residents is now a refugee (Vartanyan, 2024). Additionally, a shortage of job opportunities is exacerbating labour emigration from the country.

Russia's invasion of Ukraine has also affected migration in Armenia. In 2022, there was a notable rise in the issuance of temporary residence permits, with Russian citizens making up the majority: 12,877 in 2022 vs 2,508 in 2021 (ICMPD, 2023).

The lack of consistent data poses significant challenges for migration research in Armenia. Organizations responsible for data collection do not share centralised information, and each collects only partial data- Additionally, seasonal migration is difficult to measure, particularly due to the absence of visa requirements with Russia. Discrepancies between survey data and employment statistics further complicate analysis, with many researchers citing the lack of reliable data as a major obstacle.

Azerbaijan

Following the disintegration of the USSR, mobility patterns in Azerbaijan largely mirrored those of other former Soviet republics during the initial period. Ethnicitybased migration was prominent, with non-titular ethnic groups departing and ethnic Azerbaijanis returning from other newly independent states, including a group of Meskhetian Turks who fled Uzbekistan due to inter-ethnic violence (IOM, 2023a). Economically driven migration also played a significant role, as declining living standards and employment difficulties pushed people to seek opportunities elsewhere. A key distinction, however, was the large-scale displacement of refugees and internally displaced persons (IDPs) caused by inter-ethnic armed conflicts and the war with Armenia. While displacement was a common feature across the South Caucasus, Armenia and Azerbaijan experienced massive forced migration due to their ongoing conflict, while Georgia was affected by regional instability.

According to official data from November 2023 provided by the State IDP Committee of Azerbaijan, the country had a significantly high number of IDPs. The report indicated that 658,793 individuals, comprising 175,034 families, remained displaced, accounting for approximately 6.5% of the national population (JIPS, 2023). This displacement stems from the First Karabakh War (1992-1994) and subsequent border conflicts between Armenian and Azerbaijani military forces. However, forced migration in Azerbaijan began even before the dissolution of the Soviet Union. In 1988, amid escalating tensions over Nagorno-Karabakh, around 250.000 ethnic Azerbaijani were forced to flee Armenia. Following the collapse of the USSR in 1991, the conflict escalated into a full-scale war between the two newly independent states, leading to the occupation of 20% of Azerbaijan's territory and the forced displacement of about 600.000 Azerbaijanis (Isayev, 2023).

The Second Karabakh War between Azerbaijan and Armenia erupted in September 2020. By the time a ceasefire agreement was signed in November 2020, Azerbaijan had regained control of most of the territories lost in the 1990s. In December 2022, Azerbaijan launched the State Programme on the 'Great Return'. The first phase of the program, running from 2022 to 2026, aims to resettle 10,270 families in Karabakh and East Zangezur by 2026, and 34,500 families by 2027. The programme includes the construction of 34,500 modern homes and apartments for future returnees, extensive demining operations, and the development of necessary infrastructure (Heybatov, 2024).

Unlike Georgia, which saw a significant influx of Russian citizens following the Russia-Ukraine war, Azerbaijan experienced a relatively minor increase in Russian migration. Between September and October 2022, 100,306 Russian citizens arrived

in Azerbaijan, however, many eventually returned home or travelled to third countries (Chaib De Mares, 2023).

In addition to internal displacement caused by armed conflicts, Azerbaijan faces a **rural-urban** migration trend driven by financial and social inequalities between the capital and the rest of the country (Rzayeva, 2020). The growth of the oil industry led to a construction boom, though development remained disproportionally concentrated in Baku, further weakening rural livelihoods and pushing migration. Rural outmigration is difficult to track, since many internal migrants do not update their registration (Allahveranov, Aliyeva, and Sadigov, 2012). However, remittances suggest high outmigration from southern regions of Azerbaijan (IOM 2023b).

Azerbaijan's economically driven migration patterns differ from those of other South Caucasian states. After gaining independence in 1991, the country's economy faced severe challenges. The industrial sector collapsed, causing widespread layoffs, unemployment, and inflation. Between 1991 and 1995, real GDP plummeted by 60%, inflation peaked at 1,666% in 1994, and food prices rose by as much as 28,750 times between 1988 and 1998. Azerbaijan, like many post-Soviet republics, became a net exporter of people as emigration outpaced immigration (Allahveranov, Aliyeva, and Sadigov, 2012; Rumyantsev, 2014).

Economic turmoil led many Azerbaijanis to seek work in Russia, leveraging social and business networks established in the mid-1980s, particularly in commerce, where they dominated sectors such as fruit, vegetable, and flower sales (Rumyantsev, 2014). Official figures underreported early numbers, reporting 500,000 Azerbaijani citizens in Russia in 1998. However, unofficial estimates suggest that between 1991 and 1997, over 1.5 million Azerbaijanis migrated, with nearly 2 million in Russia by 1998, equating to almost 25% of Azerbaijan's population. This first wave of migrants mainly consisted of men aged 20-35, many of whom held higher education degrees in fields such as teaching, engineering, or accounting, which were poorly-paid in Azerbaijan (Rumyantsev, 2014).

Following the collapse of the Soviet Union, other popular destinations for Azerbaijani labour migrants included Iran and Turkey. These countries were attractive due to their ethno-cultural and linguistic ties, as well as their geographical proximity.

Iran has a considerable ethnic Azerbaijani population due to the Gulistan and Turkmenchay Treaties, which ended the wars between the Russian and Persian Empires, dividing Azerbaijan into northern and southern regions (Vasa, 2024). Estimates of the ethnic Azerbaijani living in Iran range from 16% to over a quarter of Iran's total population, the number remains high and exceeds the overall population of Azerbaijan itself (Mato and de Lange, 2023; Koknar, 2006). Family ties between Azerbaijanis on both sides of the border initially encouraged many to migrate to Iran for work. However, over time, Iran became a less attractive destination, as its government raised concerns about separatist movements among ethnic Azeris and bilateral relations cooled. As a result, the number of Azerbaijani citizens legally arriving in Iran declined (Rumyantsev, 2014). Meanwhile, certain Persian-speaking populations of Azerbaijan, primarily of Talysh ethnicity, continued to travel to Iran for family visits and labour, often working illegally without permits (Rumyantsev, 2014).

Türkiye remained a popular destination for Azerbaijani migrants, facilitated by cultural and linguistic ties. Between 2000 and 2009, 115,000 Azerbaijanis moved to Türkiye, obtaining longer-term residence permits. Migration increased notably in the latter half of the 2000s (Allahveranov & Huseynov, 2013). The first post-Soviet wave consisted predominantly of highly skilled professionals from cultural and scientific sectors, alongside circular migrants and low-skilled permanent labourers (Rumyantsev, 2014; Garibova, 2022). Many emigrants came from the Nakhichevan Autonomous Republic, particularly men aged 20 to 40. Azerbaijani intellectuals worked legally under contracts, while most rural workers were employed informally (Rumyantsev, 2014).

However, Azerbaijani migration to Muslim countries, particularly Türkiye, declined as labour markets became saturated and the excitement about post-Soviet openness faded. Stricter law enforcement in destination countries, combined with lower wages, made migration less appealing, especially for undocumented migrants (Iunusov, 2003). Subsequently, Europe became an increasingly important destination. By 2015, over 42,000 Azerbaijani emigrants resided in the European Union, primarily in Germany, France, the UK, and Sweden (Hosner, Wagner, and Guluzade, 2018). Meanwhile, migration to non-EU post-Soviet states declined, despite the total number of Azerbaijani emigrants in these countries exceeding one million. The three main destinations for Azerbaijani emigrants remain Russia (766,918), Ukraine (83,674) and Armenia (78,560) (IOM, 2024).

Since 2007, Azerbaijan's mobility patterns have shifted, making it a destination for immigrants. The outflow of Azerbaijani labour migrants declined as the economy expanded, driven by the development of new oil and gas fields and the launch of international energy projects (Allahveranov and Huseynov, 2013). As demand for highly qualified specialists grew, Azerbaijan became more attractive to foreign workers. To manage migration, authorities introduced quotas to prioritise local employment while limiting foreign labour. In 2010, the quota was 10,700 workers, mainly in construction, oil and gas, and IT sectors. Nearly 5,000 were from Türkiye,

and around 1,500 from the UK. However, economic growth also led to increased illegal labour migration. Over 60,000 people were estimated to be working informally, mainly from Georgia, Iran, and Türkiye (Chudinovskikh and Denisenko, 2020).

Georgia

Like other countries of the region, Georgia experienced economic decline, ethnic tensions, and armed conflicts that significantly shaped migration patterns following the collapse of the Soviet Union. Since 1992, rising emigration and a stagnant birth rate have significantly impacted Georgia's demographics and economy. The population has dropped by nearly one-third, particularly in rural areas, while urbanisation and external migration surged, leading to depopulated villages and an ageing population. Emigration, particularly among women and young people, has drained the country's intellectual and economic potential, exacerbating brain drain. Between 1989 and 2000, Georgia's population declined by 19% due to emigration (Sulaberidze, Archavadze and Sulaberidze, 2020; National Statistics Office of Georgia, 2024).

The early 1990s emigration patterns were shaped by three distinct yet interrelated factors. First, ethnic repatriation saw people returning to newly independent states that aligned with their national identities. Second, internal armed conflicts and occupation forced many to flee their homes. Lastly, economic collapse pushed people to seek better prospects abroad (Sulaberidze, Archavadze and Sulaberidze, 2020).

The **armed conflicts** in independent Georgia caused significant internal displacement. As of 2024, there are 292,887 IDPs in Georgia, constituting 7.84% of the population (Ganatra, 2024). This number has grown since the conflicts with South Ossetia and Abkhazia in 1991 and 1992 respectively. By the time of the Sochi Agreement ceasefire on June 24, 1992, the Georgia-South Ossetia conflict had killed approximately 5,000 people on both sides, forcing about 26,000 South Ossetians to flee to other parts of Georgia or North Ossetia in Russia, while around 20,000 were internally displaced within South Ossetia. Additionally, some 12,000 ethnic Georgians fled as refugees to other regions of Georgia (UCA Political Science, 2025b).

At the same time, tensions escalated in Abkhazia, leading to 15,000 deaths and the displacement of around 350,000 people (UCA Political Science, 2025a). The next major conflict erupted between Georgia and Russia on August 7, 2008, lasting five days. While many displaced people returned after the ceasefire, approximately 22,000 people remained permanently displaced in Georgian-controlled areas (Finke,

2022). These conflicts, marked by intense violence and large-scale displacement, reshaped Georgia's demographic landscape, leaving a lasting legacy of refugees and IDPs that continues to influence the region. In addition to IDPs, Georgia currently hosts 27,330 Ukrainian refugees and asylum seekers (Ganatra, 2024).

Mass emigration of various ethnic groups further changed Georgia's demographic composition. Between 1994 and 2001, Russians accounted for 69.1% of the negative net migration (GeoStat, as cited in Sulaberidze, Archavadze and Sulaberidze, 2020). Between 1989 and 2014, the proportion of Russians in the Georgia declined from 5.5% to 1.5%, Armenians from 7.5% to 4.5%, and Azerbaijanis from 6.4% to 6.3%. Meanwhile, the proportion of ethnic Georgians rose substantially from 70.1% to 84.6% (ibid.).

Economically driven emigration has played an important role in shaping Georgia's mobility patterns. Approximate statistical data indicate that Russia was the main destination for Georgian emigrants, with69.1% of negative net migration between 1994 and 2001 attributed to movement toward Russia. Labour and study-related emigration from Georgia to Russia remained high until Moscow introduced a visa regime for Georgia citizens in December 2000. Other major, less significant, destination countries included Israel, Greece, Ukraine, Armenia, and Azerbaijan (Sulaberidze, Archavadze and Sulaberidze, 2020). As a result of negative net migration, Georgia's population decreased by 19% between 1989 and 2000, equivalent to one in five people leaving the country (ibid.).

The 2008 war between Georgia and Russia further disrupted regular circular migration between the two states. In 2012, Georgian authorities unilaterally lifted visa requirements for Russian citizens to promote peace, allowing them to stay in Georgia for up to 90 days without a visa (Civil.Ge, 2012). Despite political tensions, Russia remained the main destination for Georgian labour migrants.

Migration dynamics changed in 2017 when the EU introduced a visa-free regime with a 90-day limit with Georgia. Between 2017 and 2018, Germany, Italy and Greece became the top destinations for Georgian citizens (The State Commission on Migration Issues, 2019). However, this shift also led to a rise in irregular migration to the EU. According to Georgia's Department of Border Protection, between March 28, 2017, and March 2019, 390,175 Georgian citizens visited the EU/Schengen zone, with over half overstaying illegally. According to the latest Eurostat data, 21,815 Georgians sought asylum in EU countries in 2023, down from 25,940 in the previous year, with most applications filed in Germany, France, Italy and Ireland (Eurostat, 2025).

Before the dissolution of the Soviet Union and in early post-Soviet years, labour migration from Georgia was predominantly male. However, as migration expanded geographically, the **feminisation** of labour emigration emerged, with women surpassing men (54.6%) (Sulaberidze, Archavadze and Sulaberidze, 2020; Tukhashvili, 2018). This shift was partly due to higher demand for female workers in traditionally female-dominated sectors, such as elderly care, cleaning services, and domestic work. Since the early 2000s, Georgian women's migration routes have shifted from Azerbaijan and Russia to the EU and the USA. According to 2014 census data, women accounted for 83% of Georgian migrants in Greece, 85.7% in Italy, and 67.1% in Türkiye, while men primarily migrated to Russia (71.1%), Ukraine (79.8%), and Azerbaijan (60.5%) (Sulaberidze, Archavadze and Sulaberidze, 2020).

Remittances constitute a significant share of Georgia's economy. In 2023, remittances amounted to \$4.5 billion, accounting for 14,7% of the country's GDP (World Bank, 2024). The top three sending countries were Russia, the United States, and Italy, followed by Germany, Greece, Israel, and Kazakhstan (The National Bank of Georgia, 2024). However, remittances from Russia have steadily declined since the start of the Russia-Ukraine war.

Along with high dependence on remittances, Georgia's economy continues to suffer from high emigration rates. The country has lost 23% of its population, equal to one-fifth of its labour force (Shamanauri, 2022). The Russia-Ukraine war initially triggered a sharp increase in immigration to Georgia. Following Russia's invasion of Ukraine in February 2022, many Russians fled, fearing repression, economic sanctions and conscription. With visa-free entry and geographic proximity, Georgia became a first-choice destination for many. By the end of 2022, approximately 110,000 Russians had relocated to Georgia, primarily settling in Tbilisi and Batumi, where Russian language use became more visible in public spaces. The influx of Russians drove up rental prices and boosted Georgia's economy, contributing to over 10% GDP growth, with 2% directly linked to the Russian arrivals (Kucera, 2024). However, official data in 2023 showed that over 30,000 Russians left Georgia, reducing the number of wartime Russian immigrants by nearly one-third.

Since 2022, the combined effects of emigration and demographic shifts have significantly influenced Georgia's social and economic development. Between 1992 and 2014, population outflow and stagnant population growth led to a nearly one-third population decline, especially in rural areas. Emigration has also aged the population, with Georgia's median age rising by 8 years, the highest increase among the post-Soviet states. Young people, especially students and professionals,

increasingly seek migration due to unemployment and low wages, leading to a 'brain drain' of highly skilled workers.

The 2022 World Migration Report recorded nearly 690,000 emigrants left Georgia, with Russia as the major destination, followed by Greece (IOM, 2021). The 2024 IOM World Migration Report 2024 shows similar figures, confirming that Russia remains the main receiving state, despite ongoing tensions between the two states and the Russia-Ukraine war where Georgia has maintained a clear anti-Russian stance (IOM, 2024).

Conclusion

The historical legacy of the South Caucasian states continues to shape mobility trends in the region, with ethnic movements and post-Soviet ties playing a central role in migration patterns. The interplay of political, regulatory, economic, demographic, and social factors has significantly influenced migration flows in all the former Soviet republics, creating complex push-and-pull dynamics (Ioffe, 2020; Denisenko, Mkrtchyan, and Chudinovskikh, 2020). However, the Russia-centric mobility framework within CIS states is shifting, driven by the ongoing war in Ukraine, stricter migration policies, emergence of alternative migration destinations, and rising xenophobia in Russia.

In recent years, labour migration, displacement due to conflict, and demographic decline have emerged as major concerns for Armenia, Azerbaijan, and Georgia. While Russia has historically been the primary destination for migrants from the region, the EU, the USA, and Türkiye have become increasingly significant alternatives, especially for highly skilled workers and women. The economic reliance on remittances remains high, particularly in Georgia and Armenia, where labour migration continues to fill employment gaps abroad while draining the local workforce.

At the same time, unresolved territorial disputes and ethno-political tensions could trigger new waves of migration at any moment. The Armenia-Azerbaijan conflict over Nagorno-Karabakh, despite the ongoing normalization between the two states, remains a source of potential displacement. Similarly, internal tensions in Georgia, particularly in Abkhazia and South Ossetia, present ongoing risks for forced migration. The demographic shift caused by long-term emigration and low birth rates poses a serious challenge to the economic and social stability of the region. The region's future migration landscape will depend not only on economic and political developments but also on the ability of each state to navigate geopolitical uncertainties while fostering economic resilience and social cohesion.

References

- Allahveranov, A., Aliyeva, R. and Sadigov, T. (2012). *Social impact of emigration and ruralurban migration in Central and Eastern Europe*. European Commission. Available at: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/social/BlobServlet?docId=8832&langId=en</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Allahveranov, A. and Huseynov, E. (2013). 'Costs and benefits of labour mobility between the EU and the Eastern Partnership Partner Countries - Country Report: Azerbaijan', *SSRN Electronic Journal* [Preprint]. doi:10.2139/ssrn.2322655
- ArmStat (2024). *Demographic Database*. Statistical Committee of the Republic of Armenia. Available at: <u>https://armstat.am/en/?nid=209</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Bournoutian, G.A. (1996). 'The ethnic composition and the socio-economic condition of Eastern Armenia in the first half of the nineteenth century'. In: Suny, R.G. (ed.) *Transcaucasia, nationalism, and social change: Essays in the history of Armenia, Azerbaijan, and Georgia.* Ann Arbor: The University of Michigan Press, pp. 69–86.
- Chaib De Mares, K. (2023). 'What is unique about the influx of Russians fleeing to Azerbaijan?', *Azeri Observer*. Available at: <u>https://azeriobserver.az/2023/09/02/what-is-unique-about-the-influx-of-russians-fleeing-to-azerbaijan/</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Chudinovskikh, O. and Denisenko, M. (2020). 'Labour migration on the post-Soviet territory'. In: Denisenko, M., Light, M., and Strozza, S. (eds.) *Migration from the newly independent states: 25 years after the collapse of the USSR*. Cham, Switzerland: Springer Nature Switzerland AG, pp. 55–80.
- Civil.Ge (2012). 'Georgia lifts visa rules for Russia', *Civil Georgia*, 1 March. Available at: <u>https://civil.ge/archives/121767</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Council of Europe (2023). Government comments on the first report on Azerbaijan, Appendix. Available at: <u>https://rm.coe.int/government-comments-on-the-first-report-on-azerbaijan/16808b5583</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Denisenko, M., Mkrtchyan, N. and Chudinovskikh, O. (2020). 'Permanent migration in the post-Soviet countries'. In: Denisenko, M., Light, M. and Strozza, S. (eds.) *Migration from the newly independent states: 25 years after the collapse of the USSR*. Cham, Switzerland: Springer Nature Switzerland AG, pp. 23–54.
- Eurostat (2025) Asylum applicants by type, citizenship, age and sex annual aggregated data. DOI: 10.2908/migr_asyappctza. Last update: 12 March 2025 [Accessed: 14 March 2025]

- Ganatra, K. (2024, February). Understanding displacement in Georgia: An in-depth analysis of IDP needs. Estonian Refugee Council. Available at: https://www.pagulasabi.ee/et/media/1315 [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Ganatra, K. (2024). Challenges & aspirations: A detailed look at refugee needs in Georgia. Estonian Refugee Council. Available at: <u>https://www.pagulasabi.ee/sites/default/files/2024-</u> 05/Challenges%20%26%20Aspirations%20A%20Detailed%20Look%20at%20Refu gee%20Needs%20in%20Georgia.pdf [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Garibova, J. (2022). 'The Azerbaijani diaspora in Turkey: Integration, reintegration, and the production of identity', *Nationalities Papers*, 50(4), pp. 770–793. doi:10.1017/nps.2021.49
- Grigoryan, A. and Khachatryan, K. (2022). 'Remittances and emigration intentions: Evidence from Armenia', *International Migration*, 60(6), pp. 198–234. doi:10.1111/imig.12980
- Haas, H. de (2023). 'Introduction'. In: *How migration really works: A factful guide to the most divisive issue in politics.* New York, USA: Penguin.
- Hayrapetyan, A. (2020). UNHCR helps displaced Syrian-Armenians facing hardship amid pandemic. UNHCR Armenia. Available at: <u>https://www.unhcr.org/am/en/13965-unhcr-helps-displaced-syrian-armenians-facing-hardship-amid-pandemic.html</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Heybatov, T. (2024). *How the great return program is changing the lives of thousands.* News.Az International. Available at: <u>https://news.az/news/how-the-great-return-program-is-changing-the-lives-of-thousands</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Hosner, R., Wagner, V. and Guluzade, M. (2018). 'Baseline study on migration in Azerbaijan', *Study developed within the framework of the EU-funded Support to the Implementation of the Mobility Partnership with Azerbaijan (MOBILAZE) project* [Preprint]. Available at: <u>https://www.icmpd.org/search-</u> <u>results?type=publication&topic=&s=Baseline+study+on+migration+in+Azerbaijan</u> [Accessed: 10 September 2024].
- Interactive World Migration Report (2021). *World Migration Report.* Available at: <u>https://worldmigrationreport.iom.int/wmr-2022-interactive/</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Ioffe, G. (2020). 'Migration between successor states of the Soviet Union: Long-term factors'. In: Denisenko, M., Light, M. and Strozza, S. (eds.) *Migration from the newly independent states: 25 years after the collapse of the USSR.* Cham, Switzerland: Springer Nature Switzerland AG, pp. 13–22.
- Isayev, T. (2023). 'Return of Azerbaijani immigrants to their lands according to the ceasefire agreement signed after the Nagorno-Karabakh War', *Inonu University Law Review*, 14(1), pp. 153–165. Available at: HeinOnline.

- International Organization for Migration (IOM) (2008). Migration in Armenia: A country profile. IOM, Geneva. Available at: <u>https://publications.iom.int/system/files/pdf/armenia_profile2008.pdf</u> [Accessed: 10 September 2024].
- International Organization for Migration (IOM) (2022). *Skills mapping through Big Data: A case study of Armenian diaspora in the United States of America and France*. Available at: <u>https://publications.iom.int/books/skills-mapping-through-big-data-case-studyarmenian-diaspora-united-states-america-and-0</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- International Organization for Migration (IOM), 2022. *World Migration Report 2022*. Geneva: IOM. Available at: https://publications.iom.int/books/world-migration-report-2022 [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- International Organization for Migration (IOM) (2023a). *Migration in the Republic of Azerbaijan: A country profile 2013–2021.* IOM, Geneva. Available at: https://publications.iom.int/system/files/pdf/pub2023-059-migration-in-the-republic-of-azerbaijan.pdf [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- International Organization for Migration (IOM) (2023b). 'Remittances boost rural development in Azerbaijan'. *IOM Regional Office for Europe and Central Asia*. Available at: <u>https://eca.iom.int/stories/remittances-boost-rural-development-azerbaijan</u> [Accessed:18 March 2025].
- International Organization for Migration (IOM) (2024). Interactive World Migration Report. International Organization for Migration. Available at: <u>https://worldmigrationreport.iom.int/msite/wmr-2024-interactive/</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Iunusov, A.S. (2003). 'Migration in post-Soviet Azerbaijan', *Russian Politics & Law*, 41(3), pp. 69–83. doi:10.2753/rup1061-1940410369
- JIPS (2023). Strengthening the data systems and capacities of the IDP Committee in Azerbaijan, 30 November. Available at: <u>https://www.jips.org/news/strengthening-thedata-systems-and-capacities-of-the-idp-committee-in-azerbaijan/# ftn1</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- King, C. (2008). *The ghost of freedom: A history of the Caucasus*. New York, USA: Oxford University Press, Inc.
- Koknar, A.M. (2006). Iranian Azeris: A giant minority. The Washington Institute. Available at: <u>https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/iranian-azeris-giant-minority</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Kucera, J. (2023). 'Despite the warm welcome, Karabakh refugees in Armenia are struggling, unsure where to go next', *RadioFreeEurope/RadioLiberty*. Available at: <u>https://www.rferl.org/a/karabakh-refugees-armenia-welcome-strugglingazerbaijan/32743624.html</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].

- Kucera, J. (2024). 'After a frosty reception, Tbilisi's wartime Russians are beginning to leave', *RadioFreeEurope/RadioLiberty*. Available at: <u>https://www.rferl.org/a/georgiarussians-fleeing-war-leaving-/32784835.html</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Mato, G. and de Lange, E. (2023). Parliamentary question: Azeri community in Iran inequality and discrimination: E-003110/2023. European Parliament. Available at: <u>https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/E-9-2023-003110_EN.html</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Medzhid, F. and Aleksanyan, G. (2019). 'Historians tell about the modern impact of the Turkmenchay Treaty', *Caucasian Knot*. Available at: <u>https://eng.kavkaz-uzel.eu/articles/46152</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- National Statistics Office of Georgia (2024). *Migration GeoStat.* Available at: <u>https://www.geostat.ge/en/modules/categories/322/migration</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- ICMPD (2023). *Republic of Armenia: Summarized Migration Profile*. Available at: <u>https://reintegrationfacility.eu/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/English-EMP_2022.pdf</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Rumyantsev, S. (2014). 'Immigrants in Azerbaijan: Current situation and prospects of (re)integration policy', *International Migration*, 52(5), pp. 82–94. doi:10.1111/imig.12156
- Rzayeva, S. (2020). 'The triggers and effects of migration from rural Azerbaijan', *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 48(11), pp. 2781–2798. doi:10.1080/1369183x.2019.1711032
- Sahakyan, G. and Lieberman, T. (2022). Capturing migration in the Armenian and regional contexts. CRRC. Available at: https://www.crrc.am/wpcontent/uploads/2022/06/Capturing-migration_Research-paper.pdf [Accessed: 13 March 2025].
- Saparov, A. (2015). 'Caucasus between empires'. In: *From conflict to autonomy in the Caucasus: The Soviet Union and the making of Abkhazia, South Ossetia and Nagorno Karabakh*. New York, USA: Routledge, pp. 11–41.
- Scotti, S. (2024). 'Russian migration to Azerbaijan in the aftermath of the invasion of Ukraine', *The Italian Institute for International Political Studies*. Available at: <u>https://www.ispionline.it/en/publication/russian-migration-to-azerbaijan-in-the-aftermath-of-the-invasion-of-ukraine-162644</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Shamanauri, K. (2022). 'Georgia's growing reliance on remittances worries economists', *Eurasianet*. Available at: <u>https://eurasianet.org/georgias-growing-reliance-on-</u> <u>remittances-worries-economists</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Sharp, J. (2024). 'CPC: Azerbaijan's great return begins', *Caspian Policy Center*. Available at: <u>https://www.caspianpolicy.org/research/category/azerbaijans-great-return-begins</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].

- State Commission on Migration Issues (2019). 2019 migration profile of Georgia. Available at: <u>https://migration.commission.ge/files/mp19_eng_web3.pdf</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Sulaberidze, A., Archvadze, J. and Sulaberidze, V. (2020). 'Migration trends and migration potential of Georgia's population'. In: Denisenko, M., Strozza, S. and Light, M. (eds.) *Migration from the newly independent states: 25 years after the collapse of the USSR*. Cham, Switzerland: Springer Nature, pp. 127–142. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-36075-7
- Suny, R.G. (1988). *The making of the Georgian nation*. Bloomington, USA: Indiana University Press.
- Suny, R.G. (1993). *Looking toward Ararat: Armenia in modern history*. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.
- The National Bank of Georgia (2024). *Money transfers.* The National Bank of Georgia. Available at: <u>https://nbg.gov.ge/en/page/money-transfers</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Tukhashvili, M. (2018). 'Retrospective comprehension of post-Soviet Georgia's population migration', *Bulletin of the Georgian National Academy of Sciences*, 12(1), pp. 175–182.
- UCA Political Science (2025a). *Georgia-Abkhazia (1990-present)*. University of Central Arkansas, Dynamic Analysis of Dispute Management Project. Available at: <u>https://uca.edu/politicalscience/home/research-projects/dadm-project/europerussiacentral-asia-region/georgiaabkhazia-1990-present/</u> [Accessed: 14 March 2025].
- UCA Political Science (2025b). *Georgia-South Ossetia (1990-present)*. University of Central Arkansas, Dynamic Analysis of Dispute Management Project. Available at: <u>https://uca.edu/politicalscience/home/research-projects/dadm-project/europerussiacentral-asia-region/georgiasouth-ossetia-1990-present/</u> [Accessed: 14 March 2025].
- UNHCR (2024a). *Figures at a glance: Armenia*. Available at: <u>https://www.unhcr.org/am/en/figures-at-a-glance</u> [18 March 2025].
- UNHCR (2024). *Lives on hold: Intentions and perspectives of refugees from Ukraine*. Tbilisi, Georgia: UNHCR Representation in Georgia.
- van Selm, J. (2017). 'Georgia looks west, but faces migration challenges at home', *Migrationpolicy.org*. Available at: <u>https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/georgia-looks-west-faces-migration-challenges-home</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Vartanyan, O. (2024). 'Armenia struggles to cope with exodus from Nagorno-Karabakh', *Crisis Group, International Crisis Group*. Available at: <u>https://www.crisisgroup.org/europe-central-asia/caucasus/armenian-azerbaijani-conflict-armenia/armenia-struggles-cope-exodus</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- Vasa, L. (2024). 'The long struggle of Iran's Azerbaijani community', *CIRSD*. Available at: <u>https://www.cirsd.org/en/horizons/horizons-spring-2024--issue-no-26/the-long-</u> <u>struggle-of-irans-azerbaijani-community</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].

- World Bank (2019). Armenia international outmigration. World Bank Documents. Available at: <u>http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/999871570627713212</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].
- World Bank (2020). *World Development Indicators.* Washington, DC: World Bank. Available at: <u>https://databank.worldbank.org/source/world-development-indicators</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025].

 World Bank (2024). Remittances slowed in 2023, expected to grow faster in 2024. *Migration and Development Brief No. 40.* Available at: <u>https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/099714008132436612/pdf/IDU1a9c</u> <u>f73b51fcad1425a1a0dd1cc8f2f3331ce.pdf</u> [Accessed: 18 March 2025]

Migration in the Gulf Cooperation Council Countries: Dynamics, Trends and Challenges

Dilaver Khamzaev⁶²

Introduction. The Gulf Cooperation Council Countries

In recent years, Western Asia—specifically the Arabian Peninsula—has gained increasing global attention, driven by high-profile expositions, international sporting events, sustainability initiatives, and technology summits. At the heart of this global focus is a group of nations—Bahrain, Kuwait, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, and the United Arab Emirates (UAE)—collectively known as the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC). These countries have positioned themselves as key players in regional and global affairs, drawing attention not only for their economic prowess but also for their evolving socio-political and technological landscapes.

Formed in 1981 in the wake of the 1970s oil boom, the GCC was established to facilitate economic development and regional integration. As a regional intergovernmental organisation, it plays a crucial role in fostering collaboration across economic, political, and social spheres.

The GCC member states share a deeply rooted Islamic identity and a common Arab heritage, which shape their cultural and social frameworks. Economically, these nations rank among the world's high-income countries, a status largely attributed to their vast oil and gas reserves that continue to drive their economies (Alharthi, 2023). However, one of the defining characteristics of the region is its profound dependence on migrant labour. Expatriates constitute a significant portion of the workforce, particularly in labour-intensive sectors such as construction, services, and domestic

⁶² Researcher, Sociology of Law Department, Lund University. Email: dilaver.khamzaev@soclaw.lu.se

work (Strabac, Valenta and Awad, 2018). This demographic reality creates a unique socio-economic structure in which a large expatriate workforce coexists with national citizens, shaping labour policies and societal dynamics.

Beyond economic interdependence, GCC nations grapple with shared environmental challenges, including water scarcity and food security concerns (Ahmed and Karanis, 2020; Hassen and Bilali, 2019). Given the region's arid climate and reliance on imported food supplies, resource management has emerged as a central theme in regional cooperation. At the same time, the GCC continues to serve as a platform for addressing broader regional security issues and geopolitical tensions, reinforcing its role in ensuring stability in the Middle East (Abdelkhalek, 2022; Pontes et al., 2024).

Thus, the GCC presents a compelling case study due to its unique migration patterns, growing global influence, and rapid economic transformation. This chapter aims to explore the recent migration trends and evolving migration policies in the GCC countries, focusing on labour mobility, government strategies, and socio-economic impacts. As the region navigates demographic challenges, labour reforms, and shifting migration policies, it continues to play a pivotal role in shaping global migration patterns. Understanding these trends and policy shifts is critical for assessing the broader implications of migration governance in this highly interconnected region.

Migration Trends in the GCC Countries

According to data from the Population Division of the United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (2024), the total number of individuals residing in a country other than their country of birth or citizenship has gradually doubled, increasing from 153.9 million in 1990 to 304 million in 2024 - growing by more than 100 million in the last two decades (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Global migration trend by the region of origin

Data compiled from: United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. (2024). International Migrant Stock 2024. https://www.un.org/development/desa/pd/content/international-migrant-stock

As of 2024, Asia and Europe are the primary regions of migrant origin, with approximately 121 million and 61 million individuals, respectively (Figure 1). Together, they account for nearly 60% of global migrants. However, migration in both regions remains predominantly internal—around 81% of Asian migrants and 74% of European migrants relocate within their respective regions.

Unlike Europe, where internal migration is more evenly distributed across different subregions, in Asia, nearly 38 million migrants (51% of overall internal migration in Asia) have chosen Western Asia as their destination (Figure 2). Within Western Asia, around 25 million individuals, originating from other Asian countries have moved to Bahrain, Kuwait, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, and the UAE. From a global perspective, these six countries account for 8.2% of the global migration stock which makes them a unique case that warrants further examination.



Figure 2. Global Migration Stock for 2024 (in millions) Data compiled from: United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. (2024). International Migrant Stock 2024. https://www.un.org/development/desa/pd/content/international-migrant-stock

As of 2024, out of the 25 million individuals who have chosen GCC countries as their destination, more than 18 million originate from Southern Asia. This trend of Southern Asians, comprising a significant portion of the migration stock in GCC countries, has been consistent over the last three decades (Figure 3). During this period, all GCC countries experienced exponential growth in migrant populations, reflecting their reliance on foreign labour for economic development.

Saudi Arabia, the largest host, saw its Asian migrant population surge from 3.4 million in 1995 to 10.8 million in 2024, with Southern Asians constituting 63% of this total. Similarly, the UAE's migrant numbers grew from 1.5 million to 6.8 million, with Southern Asians making up 79% of the total in 2024. Qatar's growth was particularly striking: its Asian migrant population expanded sevenfold, from 282,557 in 1995 to 2.05 million in 2024, with Southern Asians accounting for 82% (1.7 million) of the total. Currently, more than 80% of private-sector jobs in the GCC are filled by migrants, with a significant share originating from South and Southeast Asia (Ennis and Blarel, 2022, p. 3).



Figure 3. Proportion of Southern Asian migrants in GCC countries Data compiled from: United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. (2024). International Migrant Stock 2024. https://www.un.org/development/desa/pd/content/international-migrant-stock

These trends align with GCC nations' economic strategies, such as Saudi Arabia's Vision 2030 and Qatar's diversification efforts, which rely heavily on migrant labour in sectors like construction, healthcare, and domestic work. Southern Asian migrants form the backbone of the GCC labour force, representing 70–95% of all Asian migrants in the region. In particular, migrants from Bangladesh, India, and Pakistan constitute the primary labour force from Southern Asia (Figure 4). India is the largest source of migrants in most GCC states, with Indians making up 60.7% of Southern Asian migrants (3.25 million out of 5.35 million) in the UAE and 59.4% (1.23 million out of 2.07 million) in Kuwait. Bangladesh stands out in Oman, where it represents 39.4% of Southern Asian migrants (737,087 out of 1.87 million).



Figure 4. Migration stock in GCC for 2024: proportion of Bangladesh, India and Pakistan Data compiled from: United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. (2024). International Migrant Stock 2024. https://www.un.org/development/desa/pd/content/international-migrant-stock

The significant presence of migrants has shaped the demographic structure of GCC countries. Available and extrapolated data on the distribution of nationals and nonnationals in the total population stock from 2020 to 2024 indicate a high dependence on foreign labour. Although national populations are rising, the proportion of non-nationals has remained stable across all countries. Oman and Saudi Arabia have the highest percentage of nationals (~57–59%), indicating a relatively lower dependence on foreign labour compared to other GCC states. On the other hand, the UAE and Qatar have the lowest proportion of nationals, with non-nationals making up 73–77% of the population, demonstrating a high reliance on expatriates. In Bahrain, the proportion of nationals remains relatively stable at ~46–48%, while in Kuwait, non-nationals continue to dominate (~68%). This trend has persisted over the last five years under analysis.

	2020		2021		2022		2023		2024	
	N	NN	N	NN	N	NN	N	NN	N	NN
Bahrain ª	48.5%	51.5%	47.8%	52.2%	46.4%	53.6%	46.3%	53.7%	46.6%	53.4%
Kuwait	30.6%	69.4%	32.1%	67.9%	33.9%	66.1%	31.7%	68.3%	31.5%	68.5%
Oman ^c	61.1%	38.9%	61.9%	38.1%	58.1%	41.9%	56.7%	43.3%	56.6%	43.4%
Qatar ^d	23.0%	77.0%	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	26.3%	73.7%
Saudi Arabia ^e	57.0%	43.0%	59.7%	40.3%	58.4%	41.6%	N/A	N/A	58.8%	41.2%
UAE ^f	22.7%	77.3%	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	23.6%	76.4%

Table 1. Proportion of Nationals (N) and Non-Nationals (NN) in GCC Countries⁶³

⁶³ Table formed using available and extrapolated data from following sources:

^a Data taken from: <u>https://bahrain.opendatasoft.com/explore/?sort=modified&refine.theme=Population</u>

- ^bData taken from: <u>https://www.csb.gov.kw/Pages/Statistics_en?ID=67&ParentCatID=1</u>
- ^c Data taken from: <u>https://data.gov.om/OMPOP2016/population</u>

^d Data taken from: <u>https://www.data.gov.qa/explore/dataset/qatar-monthly-statistics-total-population-of-2022/table/?sort=month</u> and <u>https://www.un.org/development/desa/pd/content/international-migrant-stock</u>

^e Data taken from: <u>https://www.un.org/development/desa/pd/content/international-migrant-stock</u> and

https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.TOTL?end=2023&locations=SA&start=2019&view= chart

^f Data taken from: <u>https://www.data.gov.qa/explore/dataset/qatar-monthly-statistics-total-population-of-2022/table/?sort=month</u> and <u>https://fcsc.gov.ae/en-us/Pages/Statistics/Statistics-by-Subject.aspx#/%3Ffolder=Demography%20and%20Social/Population/Population&subject=Demography%20and%20Social</u>

The continued role of GCC countries as major migration destinations confirms that their economies are structurally reliant on foreign labour. However, governments are introducing policy adjustments to balance nationalisation efforts while ensuring a sufficient foreign workforce to support economic development. These policies will be briefly described in the following section.

Migration policies in GCC countries

Regional and national frameworks

The GCC countries share a complex migration policy framework shaped by regional economic integration, labour market demands, and evolving legal reforms. Since the 1990s, international labour migration has been the primary source of labour for GCC states. Over this period, these countries have developed their migration policies in response to economic and demographic shifts. The Gulf economies are characterised by labour markets where foreign workers dominate, particularly in the private sector. While GCC states share foundational migration policy frameworks influenced by historical, economic, and socio-political dynamics, they also exhibit individual differences in their approaches.

At the international level, all GCC countries have committed to the principles of safe, orderly, and regular migration by signing the Global Compact for Migration, a non-binding UN agreement adopted in 2018. Additionally, most countries in the region—except Oman—have ratified the International Labour Organization's (ILO) *Discrimination (Employment and Occupation) Convention* (1958). However, despite these commitments, none of the GCC states have ratified the *International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families* (1990), which has been primarily endorsed by migrant-sending countries. This reluctance reflects the prevailing approach of GCC states, which prioritise national labour policies over binding international protections for migrant workers.

Regionally, while the GCC lacks a unified migration policy, its member states share common labour market regulations and have facilitated intra-GCC mobility for nationals through visa harmonisation. The *Charter of the GCC*, the original *Unified Economic Agreement of 1981*, and the *New Economic Agreement of 2001* serve as key frameworks for regional cooperation, guaranteeing freedom of movement, residence, and employment for GCC citizens across member states. However, these benefits do not extend to non-GCC migrants, who remain subject to national sponsorship

systems (Babar, 2011). Similarly, while common visa policies—such as the proposed *GCC unified visa*—are designed to boost tourism, they maintain restrictive conditions for labour migrants.

Efforts to enhance regional collaboration on migration governance are evident in various initiatives. The ILO's *Regional Fair Migration Project* and its ongoing partnership with the *GCC Council of Ministers of Labour and Social Affairs* signal a commitment to improving labour standards. Despite these efforts, no formal, binding migration framework has been established at the regional level.

A defining characteristic of labour migration across all GCC states is the *Kafala system*, a legal framework that binds migrant workers to their employers, or sponsors. This system governs key aspects of residency, employment, and mobility, granting significant power to employers. Sponsors control work permits, visa renewals, and exit permissions, creating a dependency that often restricts labour mobility. As a result, migrant workers are unable to change jobs without their sponsor's consent, a limitation that frequently traps them in exploitative working conditions (Wagle, 2024,).

The transnational recruitment process further entrenches these vulnerabilities. Labour brokerage networks in South and Southeast Asia facilitate the migration of low-wage workers to the GCC under standardised contracts, reinforcing systemic dependencies (Wagle, 2024). While some reforms have been introduced—such as Qatar's 2020 labour law, which allows job changes without employer approval—the core mechanisms of the Kafala system remain intact (Bel-Air, 2024; Kagan and Cholewinski, 2022).

The foundation of this system rests on the role of the Kafeel (sponsor-employer), who assumes financial and legal responsibility for the worker. By signing binding agreements with the respective country's Ministry of Labour, the Kafeel maintains control over the worker's legal status, including their ability to reside and work in the country (Shah, 2009). Originally conceived in the 1950s to protect unskilled national workers in Kuwait, the system expanded and became institutionalised across the Gulf during the 1970s and 1980s (Aarthi and Sahu, 2021). It was designed to facilitate a temporary and rotating labour force, allowing workers to be rapidly recruited during economic booms and expelled during downturns (Baldwin-Edwards, 2011).

Beyond its legal and administrative dimensions, the Kafala system is deeply intertwined with socio-cultural practices. Unlike other global labour migration schemes, where an employer sponsors a worker's initial entry into the host country, the Kafala system extends control over crucial aspects of a worker's life. Residency renewals, contract terminations, job transfers, and even the ability to leave the country often hinge on the sponsor's approval (Kagan and Cholewinski, 2022). This dependency structure exacerbates the precarity of migrant workers, limiting their autonomy and legal protections.

Over the past two decades, the Kafala system has faced increasing scrutiny from civil society and international organisations. Reform efforts have aimed at streamlining labour migration and increasing national workforce participation. However, despite these changes, the fundamental structures of sponsorship-based migration remain deeply entrenched, continuing to shape the experiences of millions of migrant workers in the GCC (Kagan and Cholewinski, 2022).

Workforce Nationalisation

All GCC countries prioritise workforce nationalisation as a strategy to reduce dependence on foreign labour. Programmes such *as Saudisation* in Saudi Arabia, *Emiratisation* in the UAE, and *Kuwaitisation* in Kuwait impose quotas requiring private-sector employers to hire a certain percentage of nationals. Non-compliance often results in penalties, incentivising businesses to meet these targets (Fargues et al., 2018). However, despite these policies, the labour market remains deeply segmented. Nationals predominantly occupy well-compensated government positions, while low-skilled jobs in the private sector continue to be filled by migrant workers, reinforcing a dual labour market structure (Sherman, 2022).

A key challenge of nationalisation efforts lies in the mismatch between the skills of local workers and private-sector demands. Many businesses comply with nationalisation quotas in a tokenistic manner rather than fostering genuine workforce integration. This gap persists as private-sector employers favour the costefficiency and specialised skill sets of migrant labour over the often higher wage expectations of nationals (Diop et al., 2018).

Exclusionary Social and Legal Protections

Migrant workers in the GCC face systemic exclusion from social welfare and legal protections, contributing to their precarious status. Citizenship remains largely inaccessible, as naturalisation laws favour individuals with ethnic or tribal affiliations, making long-term settlement for migrants nearly impossible (Beaugrand and Thiollet, 2023). Beyond legal and economic barriers, social segregation further marginalises migrant communities. Many reside in designated labour camps or separate neighbourhoods, limiting their interaction with local populations and

reducing opportunities for integration (Kalush and Saraswathi, 2024). Even recent reforms—such as Qatar's introduction of a non-discriminatory minimum wage in 2020—have failed to eliminate the structural inequalities embedded within the system (Sherman, 2022).

Migration policies in the GCC are closely tied to state security and political stability, leading to strict enforcement mechanisms. Additionally, GCC states enforce stringent measures against irregular migration, codifying severe penalties for visa overstays and illegal entry. In Oman, for instance, the *Foreigners' Residence Law* (1995) mandates deportation and bans on re-entry for undocumented migrants. Saudi Arabia takes an even stricter approach, imposing indefinite detention on those who enter the country illegally 'until s/he is deported from the country' (Zahra, 2018, p. 5).

The Necessity of Migrants

Despite strict enforcement mechanisms, periodic amnesty programmes are introduced across the region, allowing irregular migrants to either regularise their status or leave without facing penalties. This seemingly contradictory approach restricting rights while continuing to attract foreign labour—reflects the GCC countries' ongoing dependence on migrant workers to sustain economic growth. These workers play a crucial role across various sectors, from construction and domestic work to high-skilled industries, ensuring the continued development of the region.

Recognising this dependence, GCC states have actively partnered with the ILO to promote decent work and sustainable development. One key initiative was a series of regional workshops on *End-of-Service Indemnity* (EOSI) reforms, reflecting a growing commitment to enhancing social protection systems for migrant workers. This effort is part of a broader project aimed at improving labour conditions across the region (ILO, 2023).

Further strengthening this collaboration, the ILO and the Executive Bureau of the Council of Ministers of Labour and Social Affairs of the GCC have launched a comprehensive Plan of Joint Activities for 2025-2029. This initiative is designed to enhance cooperation and advance the Decent Work Agenda within GCC countries. By addressing key workplace concerns, such as fair wage systems, gender equality, environmental sustainability in employment, and stronger worker protections, this partnership underscores the region's increasing engagement in labour reforms (ILO, 2024).

Conclusion

Migrants make up a significant majority of the population in many GCC states, in some cases even outnumbering nationals. The region's economic structure is heavily dependent on foreign labour, particularly in sectors such as construction, domestic work, and services, making migration an essential pillar of its development. Despite restrictive legal frameworks and the rigid sponsorship system, GCC states have maintained an open migration policy, continuously attracting workers from Asia, Africa, and beyond.

However, this reliance on foreign labour exists within a complex and often contradictory policy environment. On one hand, governments impose strict nationalisation programmes aimed at increasing the participation of citizens in the workforce. On the other hand, the continued preference for migrant workers—due to their lower cost and specialised skills—ensures that foreign labour remains indispensable. Amnesty programmes, periodic labour law reforms, and collaborations with international organisations, such as the ILO, reflect an ongoing attempt to strike a balance between economic necessity and workforce regulation.

At the same time, migration in the GCC is not solely an economic phenomenon; it is deeply intertwined with social and cultural dynamics. The presence of large expatriate communities has transformed urban landscapes, influenced consumer markets, and introduced new social norms. Yet, despite decades of settlement, migrant workers remain structurally excluded from long-term residency rights and citizenship, reinforcing a system of transitory labour rather than permanent migration.

Looking ahead, the sustainability of the region's migration model will depend on how well the GCC states manage workforce nationalisation while maintaining economic growth. The ongoing diversification of Gulf economies—driven by initiatives like Saudi Vision 2030 and Qatar National Vision 2030—suggests that labour markets will continue to evolve, potentially creating new opportunities for skilled migrants while maintaining a reliance on lower-wage workers.

Ultimately, migration will remain at the heart of the GCC's socio-economic fabric. While recent reforms signal a gradual shift in policies towards improving worker rights and labour mobility, structural inequalities persist. The future trajectory of migration governance in the Gulf will be shaped by economic shifts, geopolitical developments, and the ability of policymakers to balance national interests with the realities of a globally interconnected labour market.
References

- Aarthi, S. V. and Sahu, M. (2021). Migration Policy in the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) States: A Critical Analysis. *Contemporary Review of the Middle East*, 8(4), 410–434. doi:10.1177/23477989211028748
- Abdelkhalek, A. A. E. (2022). The Role of Gulf Cooperation Council in Conflict Management, 1981–2019: A Comparative Study. *Contemporary Review of the Middle East*, 9(1), 99–115. doi:10.1177/23477989211057341
- Ahmed, S. A. and Karanis, P. (2020). Cryptosporidium and Cryptosporidiosis: The Perspective from the Gulf Countries. *International Journal of Environmental Research* and Public Health, 17(18), Article 18. doi:10.3390/ijerph17186824
- Alharthi, M. (2023). Exploring Indicators Impacting Gross Domestic Product: A Case of the Gulf Cooperation Council Members. *Proceedings of the International Academic Conference on Management and Economics*, 1(1), Article 1. doi:10.33422/conferenceme.v1i1.194
- Babar, Z. (2011). Free Mobility within the Gulf Cooperation Council. *SSRN Electronic Journal*. doi:10.2139/ssrn.2825921
- Baldwin-Edwards, M. (2011, March). Labour immigration and labour markets in the GCC countries: National patterns and trends (Monograph 15). London School of Economics and Political Science. Available at: https://eprints.lse.ac.uk/55239/ [Accessed: 17 March 2025]
- Beaugrand, C. and Thiollet, H. (2023). Migration Intermediation: Revisiting the Kafala (Sponsorship System) in the Gulf. In A. Pécoud and H. Thiollet (Eds.), *Research Handbook on the Institutions of Global Migration Governance* (pp. 341–356). Edward Elgar Publishing. doi:10.4337/9781789908077.00032
- Bel-Air, F. D. (2024, December 3). As the Gulf Region Seeks a Pivot, Reforms to Its Oft-Criticized Immigration Policies Remain a Work in Progress. Migration Policy Institute. Available at: https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/gulf-region-gcc-migrationkafala-reforms [Accessed: 17 March 2025]
- Diop, A., Johnston, T. and Trung Le, K. (2018). Migration Policies across the GCC: Challenges in Reforming the Kafala. In P. Fargues and N. M. Shah (Eds.), *Migration* to the Gulf: Policies in sending and receiving countries (First published 2018). Gulf Research Center. European University Institute.
- Ennis, C. A. and Blarel, N. (Eds.). (2022). *The South Asia to Gulf Migration Governance Complex* (1st ed.). Bristol University Press. doi:10.2307/j.ctv2mgg2p4
- Fargues, P. and Shah, N. M. (Eds.). (2018). *Migration to the Gulf: Policies in Sending and Receiving Countries* Gulf Research Center, European University Institute.
- Hassen, T. B. and Bilali, H. E. (2019). Food Security in the Gulf Cooperation Council Countries: Challenges and Prospects. *Journal of Food Security*, 7(5), Article 5. doi:10.12691/jfs-7-5-2

- ILO (2023, June 11). Extending Social Protection to Migrant Workers: Exploratory Research and Policy Dialogue in the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) Countries. International Labour Organization. Available at: https://www.ilo.org/projects-andpartnerships/projects/extending-social-protection-migrant-workers-exploratoryresearch-and-policy [Accessed: 17 March 2025]
- ILO (2024, November 5). ILO and GCC join forces to advance decent work and sustainable development in the Gulf States. International Labour Organization. Available at: https://www.ilo.org/resource/news/ilo-and-gcc-join-forces-advance-decent-work-andsustainable-development [Accessed: 17 March 2025]
- Kagan, S. and Cholewinski, R. (2022). Reforming the sponsorship system in the Gulf Cooperation Council Countries: Opportunities and challenges as a result of COVID-19 and the fiscal crisis Gulf Research Center, Explanatory Note No. 2/2022. Available at: https://gulfmigration.grc.net/media/pubs/exno/Kagan%20&%20Cholewinski%20-%20EN%20No.1%20-%202022.pdf [Accessed: 17 March 2025]
- Kalush, R. and Saraswathi, V. (2024). Reforms without Rights: The GCC states' blinkered view of labour reforms (Explanatory Note 2; Gulf Labour Markets, Migration and Population (GLMM) Programme, p. 23). Available at: https://gulfmigration.grc.net/wp-content/uploads/2024/09/Kalush-Saraswathi-Reforms-without-Rights-Published-2024-09-09.pdf [Accessed: 17 March 2025]
- Pontes, D., Santos, V., Samões, O., Wang, S., and Figueiredo, R. (2024). Towards Internationalization: Exploring Economic Diplomacy in the Middle East (GCC). *Economies*, 12(4), Article 4. doi:10.3390/economies12040082
- Shah, N. M. (2009). The management of irregular migration and its consequence for development: Gulf Cooperation Council. *ILO Working Papers*, Article 994318633402676. Available at: https://ideas.repec.org//p/ilo/ilowps/994318633402676.html [Accessed: 17 March 2025]
- Sherman, B. (2022, June 6). Changing the Tide for the Gulf's Migrant Workers. Wilson Center. Available at: https://www.wilsoncenter.org/article/changing-tide-gulfsmigrant-workers [Accessed: 17 March 2025]
- Strabac, Z., Valenta, M. and Awad, M. A. (2018). Temporary labour migration to United Arab Emirates: A complex story. *Migration and Development*, 7(3), 352–365. doi:10.1080/21632324.2017.1421603
- United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (2024). *International Migrant Stock 2024*. Available at: https://www.un.org/development/desa/pd/content/international-migrant-stock [Accessed: 17 March 2025]
- Wagle, U. R. (2024). Labour migration, remittances, and the economy in the Gulf Cooperation Council region. *Comparative Migration Studies*, 12(1), 30. doi:10.1186/s40878-024-00390-3

Zahra, M. (2018). *Saudi Arabia's Legal Framework of Migration*. Gulf Research Center, Explanatory Note No. 3/2018. Available at: https://gulfmigration.grc.net/media/pubs/exno/GLMM_EN_2018_03.pdf [Accessed: 17 March 2025]

Contributors

Ulugbek Abdurakhmanov is a doctoral candidate at Nagoya University, where he researches the socio-legal dimensions of student mobility from Uzbekistan to Japan. Having worked for over a decade in Uzbekistan's prosecutor's office, he currently works at the U.S. Embassy in Tashkent. Ulugbek has previously conducted research for the International Labour Organization and the International Organization for Migration on various labour and migration-focused topics.

Owusuaa Eishia is currently a post-doctoral fellow on the IDRC project Strengthening Knowledge, Evidence Use and Leadership in the Global South on Forced Displacement: Focus on Anglophone West Africa at the Centre for Migration Studies, University of Ghana. She was, until recently, an Executive Manager and a faculty member at the Accra Institute of Technology (AIT). Owusuaa holds a PhD in Migration Studies, an MPhil in Childhood Studies from the Norwegian University of Science and Technology in Trondheim, Norway, a BA from the University of Ghana (majoring in Psychology and minoring in Sociology), and a Postgraduate Diploma in Marketing from the Chartered Institute of Marketing (UK). Her research interests include migration and development, forced displacement, climate-induced migration and displacement, migrant livelihoods, and migration governance. She is a member of the Chartered Institute of Marketing, Ghana (CIMG), the Chartered Institute of Marketing (UK), the Ghana Psychological Association (GPA), and the Association of Mobility Scholars in Africa (AMSA).

Sherzod Eraliev is a Senior Researcher at the Sociology of Law Department, Lund University, and a senior researcher at the Aleksanteri Institute, University of Helsinki. He is also an adjunct professor at Tashkent State University of Economics. Sherzod is a co-principal investigator of Horizon MSCA Staff Exchanges Project *Non-Western Migration Regimes in a Global Perspective* (MARS, coordinated by Lund University) and a principal investigator of a research project 'Post-Soviet Immigration in the Wake of the Russian Invasion of Ukraine and Its Repercussions for the Finnish Immigration Policies' (coordinated by the University of Helsinki). He is the co-author of *The Political Economy of Non-Western Migration Regimes: Central Asian Migrant Workers in Russia and Turkey* (Palgrave, 2022), *Global*

Migration and Illiberalism in Russia, Eurasia and Eastern Europe (Helsinki University Press, 2024) and has published on migration, informality, and state-society relations.

H. Deniz Genç is an Associate Professor at Istanbul Medipol University, where she teaches courses on international migration, transnationalism, and European integration. She received her PhD from Marmara University, Istanbul, with a comparative thesis on the bordering processes of Spain and Turkey. Deniz holds master's degrees in EU Politics and International Relations from Lund University and Marmara University. Her research focuses on international migration, particularly irregular migration, transnationalism, and minority studies. In 2015, she was a postdoctoral researcher at the Centre on Migration, Policy, and Society (COMPAS) at the University of Oxford. She has published in peer-reviewed journals such as *International Migration, Turkish Studies, New Perspectives on Turkey*, and *Migration Letters*.

Yize Huang is a PhD candidate in the Eurasian studies program at the School of Science and Humanities at Nazarbayev University in Kazakhstan. He received a Master's degree in political science from the Higher School of Economics. Yize's research interests sit at the nexus of interdisciplinary migration studies and political science. His primary study area is migration governance in contemporary China and neighboring Eurasian countries. Also, immigration processes and patterns dynamics in the context of Belt and Road Initiative projects.

Yolbars Kepbanov is the Deputy Director of the NGO 'Tebigy Kuwwat' (Turkmenistan) and a former high-ranking government official in science and diplomacy. A Doctor of Law, he specialises in state, administrative, environmental, and international law, with a recent focus on migration in Central Asia. He has authored over 150 scientific publications, contributed to over 30 international projects, and played a key role in drafting environmental laws in Turkmenistan.

Dilaver Khamzaev has defended his Ph.D. in Law at the Law Enforcement Academy of the Republic of Uzbekistan. Currently, he is an independent researcher at the Law Enforcement Academy of the Republic of Uzbekistan and a visiting researcher in the Sociology of Law Department at Lund University. He has participated in several projects aimed at enhancing the capacity of governmental agencies. Additionally, he has served as a national expert in the evaluation of Uzbekistan's legislation on combating money laundering and terrorist financing. His research interests include corruption, migration, money laundering, and terrorist financing.

Chekhros Kilichova has a bachelor's degree in international economic relations and master's degree in economic development. Currently, she works as a project assistant

at the Sociology of Law department. Prior to her current role, she has gained experience in communications and programme management in the areas of governance and rule of law. Her research interests include economic institutions, migration, and agricultural development.

John Narh is a Researcher at the Centre for Migration Studies, University of Ghana. John is a Human Geographer by training and his research interests lie in climate change and migration, natural resource governance and management, and resource policy. Specifically, John has extensive experience in how governance contexts influence migration decisions at climate-vulnerable locations; natural resource conflict and the resource curse; forest management; mineral development fund policy; and the role of translocal practices and political ecology of agroforestry as a nature-based solution for climate change. John has also gained extensive experience in migration and translocality in West Africa. John has been working on large-scale migration projects funded by DANIDA, UKRI, the EC.

Ortiqxo'ja Norov is s a PhD candidate at the University of Journalism and Mass Communications of Uzbekistan and former Press Secretary of the Agency for External Labour Migration of Uzbekistan (2019–2024). He holds a Bachelor's (2006) and Master's degree (2008) in International Journalism from the Uzbek State University of World Languages and pursued further studies at the Centre for East European Studies, University of Warsaw (2009). Since 2019, he has also been a lecturer at the University of Journalism and Mass Communications of Uzbekistan.

Şükufe Pak graduated from the Department of Psychology at Boğaziçi University (BA) in Istanbul and completed MA in Clinical Psychology at Istanbul Şehir University. Currently, she is pursuing a PhD in Psychological Sciences at Boğaziçi University and working as a research assistant in the Department of Psychology at Istanbul Medipol University.

Muattara Rakhimova is a Professor at the Department of International Law and Human Rights at Tashkent State University of Law. Rakhimova previously served as Head of the Department of International Law at the Academy of Public Administration under the President of the Republic of Uzbekistan, Chief Specialist at the Department for Foreign Economic Relations of the Cabinet of Ministers, and Head of the International Legal Department at the Ministry of Justice of Uzbekistan. She is the author of over 170 publications, including monographs, textbooks, teaching manuals, and scholarly articles. She served as a conciliator at the OSCE Court of Arbitration (1997–2007) and is a Goodwill Ambassador of the National Human Resources Institute (NHI) of the Republic of Korea. Lola Ruzikulova is a research intern specialising in migration and ethnic relations, focusing on the socio-legal adaptation of migrants in different contexts. She has previously worked for international organisations, contributing to research on migration trends and the integration of migrants.

Pujo Semedi is Professor at the Department of Anthropology at the Faculty of Humanities at Universitas Gadjah Mada. He has participated in various collaborative research projects focused on fishing communities along the North Coast of Java, agriculture in the mountainous regions of Java, and palm oil production in Kalimantan. Since 2017, he has been researching small-scale farming and forestry in rural Southern Germany.

Mary Boatema Setrana is an Associate Professor of Migration and Social Change and the Director of the Centre for Migration Studies, University of Ghana. She was also a 2019 fellow at the Merian Institute for Advanced Studies in Africa (MIASA). She consults for various international organisations, such as the IOM and Carnegie Corporation for New York (CCNY), among others, on research projects, policy development and capacity building. She participates as a migration expert trainer on the African Union's migration governance training modules for its member states from ten African countries. Mary is an Advisory Board member of the African Research Universities Alliance (ARUA) Centre of Excellence on Migration and Mobility, and an IDRC Chair on Forced Displacement in West Africa.

Taylan Yurtbakan graduated from Department of Psychology at Dokuz Eylul University, Türkiye. He earned his master's degree in Social Psychology at Dokuz Eylul University. He is a PhD candidate at the same university and currently working as a research assistant at Istanbul Medipol University.

Publikationer från Rättssociologiska institutionen Lunds universitet

Beställning och aktuella priser på: http://lupak.srv.lu.se/mediatryck/ Böckerna levereras mot faktura.

Lund Studies in Sociology of Law (ISSN 1403-7246)

- 1 Hydén, Håkan (red) *Rättssociologi då och nu: En jubileumsskrift med anledning av* rättssociologins 25 år som självständigt ämne i Sverige 148 sidor ISBN 91-89078-23-3 (1997)
- 2 Hydén, Håkan & Alf Thoor (red) *Rätt i förändring: Om kristendenser i svensk rätt* 146 sidor ISBN 91-89078-24-1 (1997)
- 3 Hydén, Håkan Rättssociologi som rättsvetenskap 130 sidor ISBN 91-89078-47-0 (1998)
- 4 Carlsson, Bo Social Steerage and Communicative Action: Essays in Sociology of Law 326 sidor ISBN 91-89078-65-9 (1998)
- 5 Wickenberg, Per Normstödjande strukturer: Miljötematiken börjar slå rot i skolan 546 sidor ISBN 91-89078-78-0 (ak. avh. 1999)
- 6 Gillberg, Minna From Green Image to Green Practice: Normative action and selfregulation 218 sidor ISBN 91-89078-80-2 (ak. avh. 1999)
- 7 Carlsson, Bo Social Norms & Moral Feelings: Essays in Sociology of Law 86 sidor ISBN 91-89078-83-7 (1999)
- 8 Hydén, Håkan *Rättssociologi som emancipatorisk vetenskap* 221 sidor ISBN 91-89078-89-6 (1999)
- 9 Bartolomei, María Luisa & Håkan Hydén (eds.) The Implementation of Human Rights in a Global World: Recreating a cross-cultural and interdisciplinary approach 186 sidor ISBN 91-89078-92-6 (1999)
- 10 Carlsson, Bo Excitement, Fair Play, and Instrumental Attitudes: Images of Legality in Football, Hockey, and PC Games 89 sidor ISBN 91-7267-010-X (2000)
- 11 Ryberg-Welander, Lotti Arbetstidsregleringens utveckling: En studie av arbetstidsreglering i fyra länder 412 sidor ISBN 91-7267-011-8 (ak. avh. 2000)
- 12 Carlsson, Bo Rättssociologi och populärkultur 102 sidor ISBN 91-7267-118-1 (2001)
- 13 Pfannenstill, Annika Rättssociologiska studier inom området autism: Rättsanvändning i en kunskapskonkurrerande miljö 214 sidor ISBN 91-7267-120-3 (ak. avh. 2002)

- 14 Gustavsson, Håkan *Rättens polyvalens: En rättsvetenskaplig studie av sociala rättigheter och rättssäkerhet* 478 sidor ISBN 91-7267-135-1 (ak avh 2002)
- 15 Avellan, Heidi Brännpunkter i nyhetsflödet: Rättssociologiska nedslag 2003 60 sidor ISBN 91-7267-152-1 (2003)
- 16 Rejmer, Annika Vårdnadstvister: En rättssociologisk studie av tingsrätts funktion vid handläggning av vårdnadskonflikter med utgångspunkt från barnets bästa 248 sidor ISBN 91-7267-142-4 (ak. avh. 2003)
- 17 Baier, Matthias Norm och rättsregel: En undersökning av tunnelbygget genom Hallandsåsen 197 sidor ISBN 91-7267-144-0 (ak. avh. 2003)
- 18 Friis, Eva Sociala utredningar om barn: En rättssociologisk studie av lagstiftningens krav, utredningarnas argumentationer och konsekvenser för den enskilde 290 sidor ISBN 91-7267-150-5 (ak. avh. 2003)
- 19 Olsson, Patrik Legal Ideals and Normative Realities: A Case Study of Children's Rights and Child Labor Activity in Paraguay 178 sidor ISBN 91-7256-155-6 (ak. avh. 2003)
- 20 Hoff, David Varför etiska kommittéer? 306 sidor ISBN 91-7256-156-4 (ak. avh. 2004)
- 21 Zanderin, Lars Internkontroll och systemtillsyn av arbetsmiljön i äldreomsorgen i fyra svenska kommuner: En rättssociologisk studie 319 sidor ISBN 91-7267-177-7 22 (ak. avh. 2004)
- 22 Staaf, Annika *Rättssäkerhet och tvångsvård: En rättssociologisk studie* 356 sidor ISBN 91-7267-196-3 (ak. avh. 2005)
- 23 Hallerström, Helena *Rektorers normer i ledarskapet för skolutveckling* 183 sidor ISBN 91-7267-217-X (ak. avh. 2006)
- 24 Friberg, Staffan *Normbildningsprocess genom brukarsamverkan* 235 sidor ISBN 91-7267-221-8 (ak. avh 2006)
- 25 Börrefors, Johanna *En essä om estetisk efterrättelse* 231 sidor ISBN 91-7267-235-8 (ak. avh 2007)
- 26 Appelstrand, Marie *Miljömålet i skogsindustrin styrning och frivillighet* 323 sidor ISBN 91-7267-240-4 (ak. avh 2007)
- 27 Sonander, Anna Att arbeta med barn som brottsoffer En rättssociologisk studie 233 sidor ISBN 91-7267-252-8 (ak. avh 2008)
- 28 Svensson, Måns Sociala normer och regelefterlevnad Trafiksäkerhetsfrågor ur ett rättssociologiskt perspektiv 244 sidor ISBN 91-7267-271-4 (ak. avh 2008)
- 29 Hydén, Håkan & Wickenberg, Per (eds.) Contributions in Sociology of Law Remarks from a Swedish Horizonn 245 sidor ISBN 91-7267-276-5

- 30 Bergman, Anna-Karin *Law in Progress? A Contextual Study of Norm-Generating Processes* – *The Example of GMES* (ak. anh 2009)
- 31 Baier, Matthias (ed.) Participative aspects of law a socio-legal perspective.
- 32 Wedin, Lina *Going Green A Study of Public Procurement Regulation* 193 sidor ISBN 91-7267-295-1 (ak. avh 2009)
- 33 Persson, Lars Pedagogerna och demokratin En rättssociologisk studie av pedagogers arbete med demokratiutveckling i förskola och skola 188 sidor ISBN 91-7267-309-5 (ak. avh 2010)
- 34 Leo, Ulf Rektorer bör och rektorer gör En rättssociologisk studie om att identifiera, analysera och förstå professionella normer 190 sidor ISBN 91-7267-314-1 (ak. avh. 2010)
- 35 Johansson, Susanna Rätt, makt och institutionell förändring En kritisk analys av myndigheters samverkan i barnahus 254 sidor ISBN 978-917473-101-9 (ak. avh. 2011)
- 36 Stefan Larsson *Metaphors and Norms Understanding copywright law in a digital society* 167 sidor ISBN 91-7267-335-4 (ak. avh. 2011)
- 37 Håkan Hydén (ed.) Norms between law and society A collection of Essays from Doctorates from Different Academic Subjects and Different Parts of the World 168 sidor ISBN 91-7267-330-3
- 38 Agevall, Charlotte Våldet och kärleken Våldsutsatta kvinnors begripliggörande av sina erfarenheter 304 sidor ISBN 91-7267-341-9 (ak. avh. 2012)
- 39 Dahlstrand, Karl Kränkning och upprättelse En rättssociologisk studie av kränkningsersättning till brottsoffer 344 sidor ISBN 91-7267-342-7 (ak. avh. 2012)
- 40 Urinboyev, Rustamjon *Living Law and Political Stability in Post-Soviet Central Asia A Case Study of the Ferhana Valley* 220 sidor ISBN 91-7267-530-8 (ak. avh. 2013)
- 41 Pizzolatto Konzen, Lucas Norms and Space Understanding Public Space Regulation in Tourist City 334 sidor ISBN 91-7267-351-6 (ak. avh. 2013)
- 42 Monciardini, David *Quello che conta A Socio-Legal Analysis of Accounting for Sustainable Companies* 237 sidor ISBN 91-7267-358-3 (ak. avh. 2013)
- 43 Gustafsson, Håkan, Vinthagen, Stellan & Oskarsson, Patrik *Law, Resistance and Transforation – Social Movements and Legal Strategies in the Indian Narmada Struggle* 162 sidor ISBN 91-7267-352-4
- 44 Erlandsson, Lennart *Rätt, norm och tillämpning En studie av normativa mönster vid beslut enligt LSS på tre arenor* 188 sidor ISBN 978-91-7473-931-2 (ak. avh. 2014)
- 45 Vargas, Ana Maria *Outside the Law. An Ethnographic Study of Street Vendors in* Bogotá 267 sidor ISBN 978-91-7623-804-2 (ak. avh. 2016)

- 46 Svenaeus, Lena Konsten att upprätthålla löneskillnader mellan kvinnor och män. En rättssociologisk studie av regler i lag och avtal om lika lön 392 sidor ISBN 978-91-7753-150-0 (ak. avh. 2017)
- 47 Hartzén, Ann-Christine The European Social Dialogue in Perspective. Its future potential as an autopoietic system and lessons from the global maritime system of industrial relations 388 sidor ISBN 978-91-7753-275-0 (ak. avh. 2017)
- 48 Michelson, Staffan Empowerment and Private Law. Civil Impetus for Sustainable Development 296 sidor ISBN 978-91-7223-748-3 (ak. avh. 2018)
- 49 Joormann, Martin Legitimized Refugees A Critical Investigation of Legitimacy Claims within the Precendents of Swedish Asylum Law 267 sidor ISBN 978-91-7267-411-0 (ak. avh. 2019)
- 50 Antonsdóttir, Hildur Fjóla Decentring Criminal Law: Understandings of Justice by Victim-Survivors of Sexual Violence and their Implications for Different Justice Strategies, 196 sidor, ISBN 978-91-7895-434-6 (ak. avh. 2020)
- 51 Bergwall, Peter *Exploring Paths of Justice in the Digital Healthcare. A Socio-Legal Study of Swedish Online Doctors.* 242 sidor. ISBN 978-91-7895-843-6 (print) (ak. avh. 2021)
- 52 Lundholm, Mikael *The Social Contingency of Law Studies of Social Control durin Foreclosure in Sweden.* 217 sidor. ISBN Tryck 978-91-8039-061-3 ISBN PDF 978-91-8039-062-0 (ak. avh. 2021)
- 53 Bostan, Cansu Games of Justice Ethnographic Inquires on Space, Subjectivity and Law in Northern Kurdistan, 395 sidor, ISBN 978-91-8039-289-1 (ak. avh. 2022)
- 54 Serrano Cardona, Nicolás Interlegality, Municipalities and Social Change: A Sociolegal Study of the Controversy around Bullfighting in Bogotá, Colombia, 261 sidor, ISBN 978-91-8039-298-3 (ak. avh. 2022)
- 55 Vuleta, Davor Law and Social Exclusion: The functions and dysfunctions of the Swedish legal system in light of overindebtedness among immigrants, 237 sidor, ISBN 978-91-8039-336-2 (ak. avh. 2022)
- 56 Leth-Espensen, Marie Animals and the Politics of Suffering: Essays on Law, Care and Interspecies Relations, sidor 172 ISBN 978-91-8039-683-7 (ak. Avh. 2023)
- 57. Woodlock, John: Between Law and Safety: Licensed Aircraft Maintenance Engineers and the Socio-professional Construction of Legality in European Civil Aviation, 151/250 sidor, ISBN 978-91-8039-768-1 (ak. avh. 2023)

Research Reports in Sociology of Law (ISSN 1404-1030)

- 1998:1 Hydén, Håkan (red) *Rättssociologiska perspektiv på hållbar utveckling* 218 sidor ISBN 91-89078-43-8
- 1999:1 Grip, Elsa Kan kommunen kontrollera kretsloppen? En studie i styrmedel för den fysiska samhällsplaneringen i riktning mot kretsloppssamhället 107 sidor ISBN 91-89078-70-5
- 1999:2 Grip et al, Elsa "Den som tar ska ge igen": Balansering ett rättvist system för miljöhänsyn i samhällsbyggandet? 106 sidor ISBN 91-89078-79-9
- 1999:3 Hydén, Håkan (red) Aspekter av och perspektiv på normer: Rättssociologer reflekterar kring normer 177 sidor ISBN 91-7267-001-0
- 2000:1 Wickenberg, Per Greening Education in Europe: Research Report on Environmental Education, Learning for Sustainable Development and local Agenda 21 in Europe 112 sidor ISBN 91-7267-021-5
- 2000:2 Hydén, Håkan, Minna Gillberg & Per Wickenberg *Miljöledning i Citytunnelprojektet: MiC-projektet, delrapport 1: Bakgrund och samråd* 74 sidor ISBN 91-7267-025-8
- 2003:1 Wickenberg, Per Brunnarna i Holma: Samrådens konkreta genomförande 2000-2002 för Citytunnelprojektet i Malmö 274 sidor ISBN 91-7267-149-1
- 2004:1 Åström, Karsten *Prioriteringar i socialtjänsten: En analys av rättsliga förutsättningar* 46 sidor ISBN 91-7267-163-7
- 2004:2 Hydén, Håkan & Wickenberg, Per *Utvärderingsstudie av Venprojektet* 44 sidor ISBN 91-7267-180-7
- 2004:3 Hydén, Håkan (red) *Landskrona 1970–2010 i tid och rum* 111 sidor ISBN 91-7267-181-5
- 2004:4 Platzer, Ellinor *En icke-lag i sökljuset: Exemplet hushållstjänster i Sverige* 122 sidor ISBN 91-7267-184-X
- 2004:5 Rejmer, Annika (red) Normvetenskapliga reflektioner 178 sidor ISBN 91-7267-185-8
- 2005:1 Svensson, Måns Strategier för ökad regelefterlevnad på trafikområdet 45 sidor ISBN 91-7267-197-1
- 2005:2 Friis, Eva, Wickenberg, Per & Aurell, Justus Projekt Nätverk Handel Malmös modell för kompetensutveckling av deltidsarbetslösa inom handeln 105 sidor ISBN 91-7267-198-X
- 2005:3 Hallerström, Helena *Skolledarskap för förändring och utveckling* 182 sidor ISBN 91-7267-199-8

- 2005:4 Johansson, Susanna, Larsson, Stefan & Wickenberg, Per *Elevinflytande i Lomma kommuns skolor (skolår 7-9)* 105 sidor ISBN 91-7267-201-3
- 2006:1 Agevall, Chalotte Att skapa goda arbetsmiljöer med hjälp av design och jämställdhet: En utvärdering av projektet Skåne i god form. Ett samarbetsprojekt mellan LO-distriktet i Skåne "SvenskIndustridesign och Svenska ESF-rådet 70 sidor ISBN 91-7267-215-35
- 2006:2 Hansen, Helena Slutrapport till Kronofogdemyndigheten Otillåten påverkan inom Kronofogdemyndiheten i Malmö 35 sidor ISBN 91-7267-222-6
- 2006:3 Carlsson, Lina & Waara, Fredrik Offentlig upphandling ur upphandlarens perspektiv: Resultat från två studier med fokus på byggupphandling och ekologisk hållbarhet 37 sidor ISBN 91-7267-226-9
- 2007:1 Dahlstrand, Karl Den anomiska rätten Om undantagskonstruktion av de rent ideella kräningsersättningarna 130 sidor ISBN 91-7267-241-2
- 2007:2 Johansson, Susanna "Man är kanske mer kapabel än vad man trodde..." Utvärderingsrapport av projekt Mötesplats Social Ekonomi Malmö – arbetsträning för långtidsarbetslösa och långtidssjukskrivna 103 sidor ISBN 91-7267-247-1
- 2007:3 Hallerström, Hellena Invandrarkvinnor på väg mot arbete genom utbildning och kooperation – Extern utvärdering av projekt Trappan i stadsdelen Rosengård, Malmö 55 sidor ISBN 91-7267-250-1
- 2008:1 Rejmer, Annika, Rasmusson, Bodil, Johansson, Susanna, Friis, Eva & Åström, Karsten Barnahusens organisation, samverkan och verksamhet – Lägesrapport April 2006 – Delrapport 1 i utvärderingen av nationell försöksverksamhet med barnahus 2006-2007 ISBN 91-7267-261-7
- 2008:2 Pavlovskaia, Evgenia & Åström, Karsten *Rättsliga perspektiv på barnet som* brottsoffer – Delrapport 2 i utvärderingen av nationell försöksverksamhet med barnahus 2006-2007 56 sidor ISBN 91-7267-260-9
- 2008:3 Friis, Eva Sociala utredningar om brottsutsatta barn Målgrupp, handläggning och insatser – Delrapport 3 i utvärderingen av nationell försöksverksamhet med barnahus 2006-2007 108 sidor ISBN 91-7267-259-5
- 2008:4 Johansson, Susanna Myndighetssamverkan i barnahus organisering, innehåll och process – Delrapport 4 i utvärderingen av nationell försöksverksamhet med barnahus 2006-2007 98 sidor ISBN 91-7267-262-5
- 2008:5 Rejmer, Annika och Hansen, Helene "... känner du till skillnaden mellan lögn och sanning" En analys av förundersökningar Delrapport 5 i utvärderingen av nationell försöksverksamhet med barnahus 2006-2007
 80 sidor ISBN 91-7267-263-3

- 2008:6 Rasmusson, Bodil "Det är ju inget dagis precis..." Barns och föräldrars upplevelser av kontakter med barnahus – Delrapport 6 i utvärderingen av nationell försöksverksamhet med barnahus 2006-2007 84 sidor ISBN 91-7267-255-2
- 2008:7 Åström, Karsten & Rejmer, Annika "Det blir nog bättre för barnen" Slutrapport i utvärderingen av nationell försöksverksamhet med barnahus 2006-2007 142 sidor ISBN 91-7267-264-1
- 2008:8 Svensson, Måns & Persson, Lars Socialtjänsten som kunskapskälla En modell för psykosocial rapportering inför strategiska beslut på kommunal ledningsnivå avseende bland annat hållbar utveckling och folkhälsa 88 sidor ISBN 91-7267-258-7
- 2008:9 Hallerström, Helena & Tallvid, Martin *Egen dator som redskap för lärande.* Utvärdering av projektet "En-till-En" i två grundskolor i Falkenbergs kommun – Delrapport 1 95 sidor ISBN 91-7267-274-9
- 2009:1 Svensson, Måns & Larsson, Stefan Social Norms and Intellectual Property Online norms and the European legal development 66 sidor ISBN 91-7267-305-2
- 2010:1 Friis, Eva Projekt Trapphuset Rosengård: Utbildningsverkstad och empowermentstation för invandrarkvinnor på väg mot arbete – En rättssociologisk undersökning av måluppfyllelse, genomförande och normstödjande arbete .Slutrapport från den externa utvärderingen 82 sidor ISBN 91-7267-325-7
- 2012:1 Özascilar, Mine Fear of Crime Comparing the 'Shadowing Effect' of Fear of Sexual Assault on Turks and Swedes 70 sidor ISBN 91-7267-345-1
- 2013:1 Wickenberg, Per & Leo, Ulf Ett steg fram och ett tillbaka... Statens styrning av miljö och hållbar utveckling genom skollag, läroplaner och kursplaner 40 sidor ISBN 91-7267-534-0
- 2013:2 Sonander, Anna & Wickenberg Per Folkhögskola 2.0 ett kompetensutvecklingsprojekt 66 sidor ISBN 91-7267-360-5
- 2015:1 Serrano Cardona, Nicolas & Baier, Matthias *Stockholm and Bogotá Citizenship Culture Surveys comparison* 58 sidor ISBN 978-91-7267-383-0
- 2016:1 Wedin Hansson, Lina & Johansson, Susanna Hållbar samverkan? En fallstudie av samverkan i hållbar offentlig byggupphandling 50 sidor ISBN 978-91-7267-388-5
- 2016:2 Wedin Hansson, Lina Report on Best Practice Interviews on sustainable and innovative public procurement 73 sidor ISBN 978-91-7267-390-8
- 2016:3 Wedin Hansson, Lina Going Green in Construction A study of sustainability and innovation practices in public procurement of construction works. 76 sidor ISBN 978-91-7267-391-5
- 2018:1 Vuleta, Davor Ekonomisk otrygghet -en deskriptiv analys av migranters överskuldsättning. 85 sidor ISBN 978-91-7753-587-4

- 2019:1 Wickenberg, Per Norm formation from the Inside of a Swedish Court. 33 sidor ISBN 978-91-7267-408-0
- 2019:2 Måns Svensson & Oscar Björkenfeldt New Enviromental Zones for Passenger Cars Attitudes, norms and legal compliance. 70 sidor ISBN 978-91-7267-408-0
- 2019:3 Wickenberg, Per, Rasmusson, Bodil & Leo, Ulf (eds.) International Studies on Enactment of Children's Rights in Education. 30 researchers from non-western countries. 301 sidor. ISBN Tryck 978-91-7267-419-6 ISBN PDF: 978-91-7267-420-2
- 2020:1 Baier, Matthias & Wickenberg, Per *RQ2020. Report on Research Quality Process, RQ20.* 100 sidor ISBN Tryck 978-91-7267-421-9 ISBN PDF: 978-91-7267-422-6
- 2020:2 Urinboyev, Rustamjon (ed) Central Asian Law: Legal Cultures, Governance and Business Environment in Central Asia. A Collection of Papers from Central Asian Guest Researchers Seconded to Lund University. 151 sidor. ISBN Tryck 978-91-7267-429-5, ISBN PDF 978-91-7267-430-1
- 2020:3 Sonander, Anna & Muhire, Heraclitos *Rinkeby en tunnelbanestation som alla andra En utvärdering av samverkan vid lokalt brottsförebyggande arbete.* 58 s.
- 2021:1 Wickenberg, Per, Rasmusson, Bodil, Leo, Ulf (eds.) Children's Rights in Education. Experiences from 16 countries in the Global South during 18 years as researchers and teachers. 78 sidor. ISBN Tryck 978-91-7267-435-6, ISBN PDF 978-91-7267-437-0
- 2021:2 Ponnert, Lina & Sonander, Anna *Barnens och barnets bästa möjligheter och utmaningar* (Best interests of Children and Best interests of the Child - Possibilities and Challenges). 143 sidor. ISBN Tryck 978-91-7267-442-4, ISBN PDF 978-91-7267-443-1
- 2021:3 Berdymyrat Ovezmyradov & Yolbars Kepbanov Human capital and liberalization in central Asia: comparative perspectives on development (1990-2020). 140 sidor. ISBN Tryck 978-91-7267-448-6, ISBN PDF 978-91-7267-449-3
- 2021:4 Palmstierna, Charlotte & Sonander, Anna *Tid för förändring det är känt sedan* gammalt. En studie av förutsättningarna för att beakta barnkonventionen i Malmö stad. 197 sidor. ISBN Tryck 978-91-8039-155-9, ISBN PDF 978-91-8039-156-6
- 2022:1 Dahlstrand, Karl & Bergwall, Peter Kränkning och upprättelse. En replikation av en rättssociologisk enkätstudie. 131 sidor. ISBN 978-91-7267-457-8, ISBN PDF 978-91-7267-457-5
- 2022:2 Sonander, Anna & Elin Bengtsson *Trygghet inom kollektivtrafiken: en utvärdering av trygghetsvärdar och trygghetsteam.* 85 sidor. ISBN 9789172674592

- 2022:3 Kepbanov, Yolbars; Horák, Slavomír; Ovezmyradov, Berdymyrat *The investment* climate in Turkmenistan: Challenges and possible ways of attracting foreign investment. 121 sidor. ISBN PDF 978-91-7267-462-2
- 2023:1 Urinboyev, Rustam & Mustafoev, Tolibjon Law, Society, and Corruption: Exploring (Anti-) Corruption From Interdisciplinary and Multilevel Perspectives. 172 sidor. ISBN PDF 978-91-7267-466-0
- 2023:2 Dahlstrand, Karl & Thysell, Maria *Otillgänglig tillgänglighet. En rättssociologisk* kartläggning av normer inom strategisk fysisk planering i Skåne. 79 sidor. ISBN PDF 978-91-7267-471-4
- 2023:3 Sonander, Anna & Thysell, Maria Inte i min last! Utvärdering av en e-utbildning emot narkotikasmuggling inom transportsektorn. 67 sidor. ISBN 978-91-8039-797-1. ISBN PDF 978-91-8039-798-8
- 2023:4 Kepbanov, Yolbars, *Legal protection of climate in Turkmenistan: Assessment of the current situation and development prospects.* 197 sidor. ISBN 978-91-7267-482-0 Print ISBN 978-91-7267-483-7 PDF
- 2023:5 Anna Sonander & Per Wickenberg (eds.) *Empowering Children and Youth through Law and Participation.* 359 sidor. ISBN 978-91-7267-480-6 ISBN PDF 978-91-7267-481-3
- 2024:1 Dilaver Khamzaev Compass for investors Legal guidance on foreign direct investment in Central Asian Countries. 179 sidor. ISBN Tryck 978-91-7267-486-8 ISBN Pdf 978-91-7267-487-5
- 2025:1 Sherzod Eraliev Migration Governance Beyond the West: Historical Legacies, Contemporary Trends, and Future Trajectories. 192 sidor. ISBN Tryck: 978-91-7267-494-3 PDF: 978-91-7267-495-0

Sociology of Law Dissertations 1978-

- 1. Widerberg, Karin: Kvinnans rättsliga och sociala ställning i Sverige 1750-1976 (1978)
- 2. Hydén, Håkan: Rättens samhälleliga funktioner (1978)
- 3. Magnusson, Dan: Konkurser och ekonomisk brottslighet (1979)
- 4. Kalderstam, Johnny: *De laglösa. Om rättens betydelse för levnadsförhållandena i en kriminell subkultur* (1979)
- 5. Akalu, Aster: *The Process of Land Nationalization in Ethiopia. Land Nationalization and the Peasants* (1982)
- 6. Esping, Hans: Förvaltningsrätt och reformpolitik (1983)

- 7. Ericsson, Lars: *Ett surt regn kommer att falla. Naturen, myndigheterna och allmänheten* (1985)
- 8. Carlsson, Bo & Isacsson, Åke: *Hälsa, kommunikativt handlande och konfliktlösning.* En studie av patientens ställning och av Hälso- och sjukvårdslagens ansvarsnämnd (1989)
- 9. Eriksson, Kjell E.: Jag slutar! Individuell konfliktlösning i arbetslivet (1991)
- 10. Ödman, Ella: *Planlagstiftningen och välfärden: tendenser i utvecklingen av svensk planlagstiftning* (1992)
- 11. Olsson, Sven-Erik: *Kvinnor i arbete och reproduktion. Havandeskaps-penningens tillämpning* (1993)
- 12. Gutto, Shadrack: Human and Peoples Rights for the Oppressed. Critical Essays on Theory and Practice from Sociology of Law Perspective (1993)
- 13. Schlytter, Astrid: Om rättvisa I barnomsorgen. Den kommunala barnomsorgens fördelningsregler ur ett vardagsperspektiv (1993)
- 14. Rolfsson, Margaretha: Unga på drift. Om sociala normer och social kontroll i Rosengård (1994)
- 15. Banakar, Reza: *Rättens dilemma. Om konflikthantering i ett mångkulturellt samhälle* (1994)
- 16. Kåhl, Ingela: Socialarbetarkåren den lindansande professionen (1995)
- 17. Svenning, Margaretha: *Miljökriget. Miljöarenan och politikens möjligheter att styra vår miljö* (1996)
- 18. Hammarsköld, Claes-Göran: *FINSAM: Förändring av en välfärdsorganisation genom försöksverksamhet* (1997)
- 19. Mascaro, Joakim: Aurea Norma (1998)
- 20. Gillberg, Minna: From Green Image to Green Practice. Normative action and selfregulation (1999)
- 21. Wickenberg, Per: Normstödjande strukturer. Miljötematiken börjar slå rot i skolan (1999)
- 22. Ryberg, Lottie: Arbetstidsregleringens utveckling (2000)
- 23. Pfannenstill, Annika: *Rättssociologiska studier inom området autism. Rättsanvändning i* en kunskapskonkurrerande miljö (2002)
- 24. Rejmer, Annika: Vårdnadstvister. En rättssociologisk studie av tingsrätts funktion vid handläggning av vårdnadskonflikter med utgångspunkt från barnets bästa (2003)
- 25. Baier, Matthis: Norm och rättsregel. En undersökning av tunnelbygget genom Hallandsåsen (2003)

- 26. Friis, Eva: Sociala utredningar om barn. En rättssociologisk studie av lag-stiftningens krav, utredningarnas argumentationer och konsekvenser för den enskilde (2003)
- 27. Olsson, Patrik: Legal Ideas and Normative Realities. A case study of children's rights and child labor activity in Paraguay (2003)
- 28. Hoff, David: Varför etiska kommittéer? (2004)
- 29. Zanderin, Lars: Internkontroll och systemtillsyn av arbetsmiljön i äldreom-sorgen i fyra svenska kommuner. En rättssociologisk studie (2004)
- 30. Staaf, Annika: Rättssäkerhet och tvångsvård. En rättssociologisk studie (2005)
- 31. Hallerström, Helena: Rektorers normer i ledarskapet för skolutveckling (2006)
- 32. Friberg, Staffan: Normbildningsprocess genom brukarsamverkan (2006)
- 33. Börrefors, Johanna: En essä om estetisk efterrättelse (2007)
- 34. Appelstrand, Marie: Miljömålet i skogsbruket styrning och frivillighet (2007)
- 35. Sonander, Anna: Att arbeta med barn som brottsoffer. En rättssociologisk studie (2008)
- 36. Svensson, Måns: Sociala normer och regelefterlevnad. Trafiksäkerhetsfrågor ur ett rättssociologiskt perspektiv (2008)
- Piasecka, Anna: European Integration vs. European Legal Cultures. A Comparative Case Study concerning Harmonization and Implementation of EU Migration Law (PhD, within the Renato Treves International Doctorate in "Law and Society", Milan)(2008)
- 38. Bergman, Anna-Karin: Law in Progress? A Contextual Study of Norm-Generating Processes – The Example of GMES (2009)
- 39. Wedin, Lina: Going Green A Study of Public Procurement Regulation (2009)
- 40. Persson, Lars: Pedagogerna och demokratin En rättssociologisk studie av pedagogers arbete med demokratiutveckling i förskola och skola (2010)
- 41. Leo, Ulf: Rektorer bör och rektorer gör En rättssociologisk studie om att identifiera, analysera och förstå professionella normer (2010)
- 42. Johansson, Susanna: *Rätt, makt och institutionell förändring En kritisk analys av myndigheters samverkan i barnahus* (2011)
- 43. Larsson, Stefan: *Metaphors and Norms Understanding Copyright Law in a Digital* Society (2011)
- 44. Agevall, Charlotte: Våldet och kärleken Våldsutsatta kvinnors begripliggörande av sina erfarenheter (2012)
- 45. Dahlstrand, Karl: Kränkning och upprättelse En rättssociologisk studie av kränkningsersättning till brottsoffer (2012)

- 46. Urinboyev, Rustamjon: *Living Law and Political Stability in Post-Soviet Central Asia A Case Study of the Ferhana Valley* (2013)
- Pizzolatto Konzen, Lucas: Norms and Space Understanding Public Space Regulation in Tourist City (2013)
- Monciardini, David: Quello che conta A Socio-Legal Analysis of Accounting for Sustainable Companies (2013)
- 49. Erlandsson, Lennart: *Rätt, norm och tillämpning. En studie av normativa mönster vid beslut enligt LSS på tre arenor* (2014)
- 50. Vargas, Ana Maria: Outside the Law. An Ethnographic Study of Street Vendors in Bogotá (2016)
- 51. Svenaeus, Lena: Konsten att upprätthålla löneskillnader mellan kvinnor och män. En rättssociologisk studie av regler i lag och avtal om lika lön (2017)
- 52. Hartzén, Ann-Christine: *The European Social Dialogue in Perspective. Its future* potential as an autopoietic system and lessons from the global maritime system of industrial relations (2017)
- 53. Michelson, Staffan: *Empowerment and Private Law. Civil Impetus for Sustainable* Development (2018)
- 54. Joormann, Martin: Legitimized Refugees A Critical Investigation of Legitimacy Claims within the Precedents of Swedish Asylum Law (2019)
- 55. Antonsdóttir, Hildur Fjóla: Decentring Criminal Law: Understandings of Justice by Victim-Survivors of Sexual Violence and its Implications for Different Justice Strategies (2020)
- 56. Bergwall, Peter: *Exploring Paths of Justice in the Digital Healthcare. A Socio-Legal Study of Swedish Online Doctors* (2021)
- 57. Lundholm, Mikael: *The Social Contingency of Law Studies of Social Control during Foreclosure in Sweden* (2021)
- 58. Cansu Bostan: Games of Justice: *Ethnographic Inquires on Space, Subjectivity and Law in Northern Kurdistan* (2022)
- 59. Nicolás Serrano Cardona: Interlegality, Municipalities and Social Change: A Sociolegal Study of the Controversy around Bullfighting in Bogotá, Colombia, (2022)
- 60. Vuleta, Davor: *Law and Social Exclusion : The functions and dysfunctions of the Swedish legal system in light of overindebtedness among immigrants,* (2022)
- 61. Leth-Espensen, Marie: Animals and the Politics of Suffering: Essays on Law, Care and Interspecies Relations (2023)

- 62. Woodlock, John: Between Law and Safety: Licensed Aircraft Maintenance Engineers and the Socio-professional Construction of Legality in European Civil Aviation (2023)
- 63 Björkenfeldt, Oscar: Online Harassment Against Journalists. A Socio-Legal and Working-Life Study of the Challenges and Impacts in Swedish Journalism. (2024)

Sociology of Law Licentiate Dissertations

- Platzer, Ellinor: En icke-lag i sökljuset. Exemplet hushållstjänster i Sverige. Licentiatavhandling (2004).
- Larsson, Stefan: Between daring and deliberating 3g as a sustainability issue in Swedish spatial planning. Licentiatavhandling (2008).

Migration Governance Beyond the West

As global narratives of migration continue to focus disproportionately on movements toward the Global North, *Migration Governance Beyond the West: Historical Legacies, Contemporary Trends, and Future Trajectories* shifts the lens to underexplored South-South migration flows. This timely and data-driven volume offers a comprehensive analysis of migration trends, governance frameworks, and policy responses across diverse non-Western contexts—from the Caucasus and Central Asia to the Gulf, East Asia, and West Africa.

Featuring contributions from scholars and practitioners within the EU-funded MARS project (*Non-Western Migration Regimes in a Global Perspective*, grant number 101130177), this research report presents essays that delve into a range of regional migration systems, exploring key drivers such as labour markets, conflict, environmental pressures, and demographic change. By centring voices from and about the Global South, the volume highlights the regional dimensions of migration often overlooked in mainstream debates.

Essential reading for researchers, policymakers, and practitioners, this collection provides fresh, data-driven insights into the complex and evolving realities of global mobility.



Research Report in Sociology of Law 2025:1 SOCIOLOGY OF LAW • LUND UNIVERSITY P.O. BOX 42 • SE-221 00 LUND • SWEDEN

ISSN 1404-1030 ISBN 978-91-7267-494-3